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Agenda

1.	 To approve the minutes of the past ordinary general meeting of the Bank dated 24 March 2024.	

2.	 To consider and acknowledge the Report of the Auditors concerning the Consolidated Financial 

Statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2024.	

3.	 To discuss and approve the Report of the Board of Directors about the activities of the Bank for the 

financial year ended 31 December 2024.	

4.	 To discuss and approve the Consolidated Financial Statements for the financial year ended 

31 December 2024.	

5.	 To approve the recommendation of the Board of Directors for appropriation of profits for the financial 

year ended 31 December 2024 as follows:	

5.1	 The transfer of US$28.5 million to the legal reserve.

5.2	 Cash payment of 2.75% dividend or US 2.75 cents for each outstanding share for approximately 

a total of US$85.1 million (net of treasury shares). The Cum-Dividend Date is 17 March 2025, Ex-

Dividend Date is 18 March 2025, Record Date is 19 March 2025, Payment Date is 30 March 2025; and

5.3	 Transfer of the remaining balance of US$171.4 million to the retained earnings.

6.	 To discuss and approve the Corporate Governance Report for the year 2024 as per the requirements of 

the Central Bank of Bahrain.	

7.	 To approve the renewal of the Directors’ remuneration policy for a period of three years.	

8.	 To ratify a remuneration of US$1,452,500 to the Members of the Board of Directors for the year 2024, 

subject to approval of the Ministry of Industry and Commerce.	
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9.	 To absolve the Directors from liability for the financial year ended 31 December 2024.	

10.	 Subject to approval of the Central Bank of Bahrain, to re-appoint Messrs Ernst & Young as auditors of 

the Bank for the financial year ending 31 December 2025, and to authorise the Board of Directors to fix 

their remuneration.	

11.	 Subject to the approval of the Central Bank of Bahrain, to appoint and elect the nine members of the 

Board of Directors for its fifteenth term for a new three-year term (2025-2028), with five members 

appointed and four nominated members elected. 	

12.	 Update on related party transactions pursuant to Article 189 (c) of the Commercial Companies Law and 

as set out in note 29 of the Consolidated Financial Statements for the financial year ended 

31 December 2024.	

13.	 Any other business under article 207 of the Commercial Companies Law.
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Minutes of the previous meeting

 

 ةيداعلا ةماعلا ةيعمجلا عامتجا رضحم
 )ب.م.ش( ةيفرصملا ةيبرعلا ةسسؤملل

 م2024 سرام 24 نيرحبلا
 

 يونـسلا اهعامتجا )ب.م.ش( ةيفرصملا ةيبرعلا ةسسؤملا يمهاسمل ةماعلا ةيعمجلا تدقع 
 سراــم 24 قــفاوملا دــحلأا موــي يــف ،موز ةيــضارتفلاا تاــعامتجلاا ةــصنم رــبع اــينورتكلا يداــعلا

 ةـكلممب ةـسسؤملل يـسيئرلا رـقملا يف ارهظ قئاقد رشعو ةرشع ةيناثلا ةعاسلا مامت دنع م2024
 - :يلاتلا اهلامعأ لودج يف رظنلل كلذو ،نيرحبلا
 
 سرام 19 خيراتب دقع يذلا ةيداعلا ةماعلا ةيعمجلل قباسلا عامتجلاا رضحم ىلع قيدصتلا  )1(

 .م2023
 ةيلاملا ةنسلل ةدحوملا ةيلاملا مئاوقلا نع تاباسحلا يبقارم ةداسلا ريرقت ىلإ عامتسلاا  )2(

 .م31/12/2023 يف ةيهتنملا
 م31/12/2023 يف ةيهتنملا ةيلاملا ةنسلا للاخ كنبلا طاشن نع ةرادلإا سلجم ريرقت ةشقانم  )3(

 .هيلع قيدصتلاو
 .اهيلع ةقداصملاو م31/12/2023 يف ةيهتنملا ةـنسلل ةيلاملا تانايبلا ةـشقانم  )4(
 يف ةيهتنملا ةيلاملا ةنسلا حابرأ يفاص صيصختب ةرادلإا سلجم ةيصوت ىلع ةقداصملا  )5(

 - :يلاتلا وحنلا ىلع م31/12/2023
  .ينوناقلا يطايتحلال يكيرمأ رلاود نويلم 23.5 غلبم ليوحت 5-1

 مهسأ نود نم( لوادتم مهس لك نع %2,25 عقاوب نيمهاسملا ىلع ةيدقن حابرأ عيزوت 5-2
 نويلم 70 يلاوح اًيلامجإ ةغلابلاو ،دحاولا مهسلل يكيرمأ تنس 2.25 اهردق )ةنازخلا

 مهسلا لوادت خيرات ،م2024 سرام 25 حابرلأا قاقحتسلا لوادت موي رخآ .يكيرمأ رلاود
 10 عفدلا مويو ،م2024 سرام 27 قاقحتسلاا موي ،م2024 سرام 26 قاقحتسا نودب

 .م2024 ليربأ
 حابرلأا باسح ىلإ يكيرمأ رلاود نويلم 142.3 يلاوح وهو يقبتملا ديصرلا ليوحت 5-3

 .ةاقبملا
 يزكرملا نيرحبلا فرصم تابلطتمب كنبلا مازتلاو م2023 ةنسل تاكرشلا ةمكوح ريرقت ةشقانم  )6(

 .هيلع ةقداصملاو

 1,206,667 ةغلابلا م2023 ةنسل ةرادلإا سلجم ءاضعأ ةأفاكم ىلع ةقداصملا  )7(
 .ةراجتلاو ةعانصلا ةرازو ةداسلا ةقفاوم ذخأ دعب كلذو ،يكيرمأ رلاود

)8(  
 

 .م31/12/2023 يف ةيهتنملا ةيلاملا ةنسلا للاخ مهتافرصت نع ةرادلإا سلجم ءاضعأ ةمذ ءاربإ 
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 يف ةيهتنملا ةنسلل كنبلا تاباسحل نيققدمك )غنويو تسنرأ( ةداسلا نييعت ةداعإ يف رظنلا  )9(
 ةرادلإا سلجم ليوختو يزكرملا نيرحبلا فرصم ةداسلا ةقفاوم ذخأ دعب م2024 ربمسيد 31
  .مهباعتأ ديدحتب

  .كنبلا ةرادإ سلجم يف ةرادإ سلجم وضعك ناوعك دلاخ روتكدلا نييعت ىلع ةقداصملا  )10(
 نم )ج (189 ةداملا بسح ةقلاعلا تاذ فارطلأا عم تلاماعملا ىلع ةماعلا ةيعمجلا علاطإ  )11(

 ةنسلل ةدحوملا ةيلاملا مئاوقلا نم 28 مقر حاضيلإا يف دراو وه امكو ةيراجتلا تاكرشلا نوناق
 .م31/12/3202 يف ةيهتنملا ةيلاملا

 .ةيراجتلا تاكرشلا نوناق نم 207 ةداملا صنل اًقبط لامعأ نم دجتسي ام  )12(
 
 /ديـسلا عاـمتجلاا ةـسائر ىلوـت ،ةـسسؤملل يـساسلأا ماـظنلا نم أ/42 ةداملا ماكحأب لامع 
 ماهمب بياش قلاخلا دبع /ديسلا فيلكت مت امك ،ةرادلإا سلجمل اسيئر هتفصب ريبكلا رمع قيدصلا
 يـف كـلذو ةـيعمجلا ةـقفاومو ةـيعمجلا سيـئر ديـسلا نـم حارتقا ىلع ءانب ةماعلا ةيعمجلا رس نيمأ
  - :نم لك روضح
 

  ةرادلإا سلجم سيئر بئان   ميلس اضرلادبع دمحم /ديسلا

 ةرادلإا سلجم وضع                     فيرقملا فسوي قراط .د

 "  "  "                   ناوعك دلاخ .د

 "  "  "       روفندلا ميهاربإ .د

 "  "  "                    يضيمحلا هللا دبع /ديسلا

 "  "  "         نيدلارون ليلخ /ديسلا

 "  "  "         راتخم فرشأ /ديسلا

 ةعومجملل يذيفنتلا سيئرلا                                 يرعولا لئاص /ديسلا

 

  يزكرملا نيرحبلا فرصم نع           يلع ناير /ةسنلآا

 " " " "    ظوفحم ءارهز /ةسنلآا

  ةراجتلاو ةعانصلا ةرازو نع   يداوذلا رصان ىدن /ةديسلا

  نيرحبلا ةصروب نع    يقورشلا نانس /ديسلا

 " " " "    يرجاهلا رون /ةديسلا
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 )تاباسحلا يققدم( غنويو تسنرأ ةداسلا    تناشريم مظاك /ديسلا

 "    " " "     يقيدص داوج /ديسلا

  م.م.ذ )نيرحبلا(زيجولونكيت نيفك مهسلأا يلجسم نع       خيشلا يناه /ديسلا

 "    " " "       بودملا نسح قراط /ديسلا
 

 ةـسسؤملاو ةرادلإا سـلجم نـع ةباينو هسفن نع ةلاصلأاب ةيعمجلا سيئر ديسلا بحر نأ دعب
 نـسح مــهل ارـــكاش ،روـضحلا ةداـسلاو تاديـسلا ةـيقبو ةيمسرلا تاهجلا يبودنمو نيمهاسملا ةداسلاب
 وــيلوي يــف ةرادلإا ســلجم رداــغ يذــلا ةدــقعلا قوراــف روتكدــلل ركــشلا هــيجوت مـــت ... ةوعدــلا ةــيبلت

 ناوــعك دــلاخ روتكدــلاب بــيحرتلاو ،هتيوــضع ةرــتف للاــــخ صــلخم دــهج نــم هــلذب اــمل اريدــقت م2023
 رفاوــت نــم دــكأتلا كــلذ دــعب متــيل ...ةدــقعلا قوراــف روتكدــلل اــفلخ ةرادلإا ســلجم يــف ادــيدج اًوــضع
 ةبسنب ةباين وأ ةـلاصأ نيلثمملا نيمهاسملا ةداسلا نـم ددـع روـضحب عامتجلاا ةحصل ينوناقلا باصنلا
 .عوفدملا لاملا سأر نم %93.42 تغلب
 
 ىـلإ هـنم تـهتنا ثـيح ،اـهلامعأ لودـج دوـنب ةلوادم يف كلذ رثإ ىلع ةماعلا ةيعمجلا تعرش 
 - :ةيلاتلا تاءارجلإاو تارارقلا ةلمج ذاختا

 
 دـقع يذـلا ةـيداعلا ةـماعلا ةـيعمجلل قباـسلا عاـمتجلاا رضحم ىلع قيدصتلا -: لولأا دنبلا

 .م3202 سرام 19 خيراتب
  

 19 خيراـتب دقع يذلاو قباسلا اهعامتجا رضحم ىلع اهعلاطاب ةيداعلا ةماعلا ةيعمجلا تدافأ
 اـملع تذـخأ ثـيح ،نيمهاـسملا ةداـسلا ىـلع عزوملا ةيعمجلا بيتك يف دراولا بسحب م2023 سرام
 .هميدقت مت امك هيلع تقداصو هتايوتحمب

 

 ةدـحوملا ةـيلاملا مئاوقلا نع تاباسحلا يبقارم ةداسلا ريرقت ىلإ عامتسلاا -: يناثلا دنبلا
 .م31/12/3202 يف ةيهتنملا ةيلاملا ةنسلل

 
 نــع )غــنويو تــسنرا ةداــسلا( تاباــسحلا يــبقارم ةداــسلا رــيرقتل ةــماعلا ةــيعمجلا تعمتــسا

 اـــملع تذــخأ ثــيح ،م31/12/2023 يــف ةــيهتنملا ةــيلاملا ةنــسلا للاــخ ةــسسؤملا ةــعومجم طاــشن
 .هتايوتحمب

 

 ةـيهتنملا ةـيلاملا ةنسلا للاخ كنبلا طاشن نع ةرادلإا سلجم ريرقت ةشقانم -: ثلاثلا دنبلا
 .هيلع قيدصتلاو م31/12/3202 يف

 
 ةـسسؤملا ةـعومجم طاـشن نـع ةرادلإا سـلجم رـيرقت ىـلع اـهعلاطاب ةـماعلا ةيعمجلا تدافأ

 ىــلع عزوــملا ةــيعمجلا بــيتك يــف دراوــلا بــسحب م31/12/2023 يــف ةــيهتنملا ةــيلاملا ةنــسلا للاــخ
 .هيلع تقداصو هتايوتحمب املع تذخأ ثيح ،نيمهاسملا ةداسلا
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 ةقداـصملاو م31/12/3202 يـف ةـيهتنملا ةــنسلل ةيلاملا تانايبلا ةـشقانم -: عبارلا دنبلا
 .اهيلع

 
 ةنـسلل ةـيلاملا تاـنايبلا ضرـع ةـعومجملل يذـيفنتلا سيئرـلا نـم ةيعمجلا سيئر ديسلا بلط

 .)ب( نيمهاسملا ةداسلا مامأ شاقنلا باب اهدعب حتفيل )أ( م2023 ربمسيد 31 يف ةيهتنملا

 - :يذيفنتلا سيئرلا ضرع -أ

 31 يف ةيهتنملا ةيلاملا ةنسلل ةيلاملا تانايبلا ضرع ةعومجملل يذيفنتلا سيئرلا لوانت -1
 ماعلا اذه للاخ دحوّملا يلاملا هئادأو كنبلا تازاجنإ ىلع ءوضلا طلس امك ،م2023 ربمسيد
 ةداسلا ةعومجملل يذيفنتلا سيئرلا رَّكذَ ثيح ،م2024 ماعل يجيتارتسلاا هجوتلا مسرو
 يوقلا ةعومجملا ءادأ لمكتل اهضعب عم ترفاضت يتلا ةيسيئرلا لماوعلاب نيمهاسملا
 تابلقت نم مغرلا ىلع ءاج 2023 ماع للاخ زيمملا كنبلا  ءادأ نأ  حضويل ...اهقاوسأ ربع
 ةبرطضملا ةيسايسويجلا عاضولأاو ةدئافلا راعسأ ىلع طوغضلاو يملاعلا مخضتلاو قوسلا
 رمتسملا راكتبلااو بوؤدلا لمعلا ىلإ حاجنلا اذه قيقحت يف لضفلا دوعيو ،ةقطنملا يف
 ةبسنلاب ةقوبسم ريغ تايوتسم ةسسؤملا تققح امك ،ةسسؤملا يفظوم لبق نم
 حابرلأا يف يونس ساسأ ىلع اظًوحلم اعًافترا تدهشو ،تادوجوملاو ةيونسلا تاداريلإل
 ،اهتايلمع يف يوقلاو درطملا ومنلا ىلع ةظًفاحم ،ةيكلملا قوقح ىلع دئاعلاو ةيفاصلا
 ذيفنت يف ارًيبك اطًوش تعطقو ،ةيساسلأا اهلامعأ يف ارًيبك اوًمن ةسسؤملا تدهش امك
 مولب كنب جمد ةيلمعو يمقرلا لوحتلا جمانرب كلذ يف امب ،ةيسيئرلا ةيجيتارتسلاا تاردابملا
 ريغ ةيئانثتسا ةميق قيقحت امًومع دهش 2023 ماع نأ ىلإ اتفلا .. .رصم  ABC كنب عم
 نوكتل اهتيؤر وحن اهقيرط يف ةعومجملا يضمت امنيب ةسسؤملا يمهاسمل ةقوبسم
  .ايقيرفأ لامشو طسولأا قرشلا ةقطنمل يلودلا لبقتسملا كنب

 ربع هباج يداصتقلاا طاشنلا نأ نيمهاسملا ةداسلل ةعومجملل يذيفنتلا سيئرلا حضوأ -2
 كلذو ،ةيملاعلا تابارطضلاا نم ةلسلس اهلامعأ ةكبشو ةيساسلأا ةسسؤملا قاوسأ
 اقًفو هنأ ىلإ اتفلا ،ةيداصتقلاا تاسايسلا ىلع ريبك لكشب قانخلا قييضت بناج ىلإ
 %3.1 ىلإ 2022 ماع يف %3.5 نم اعًجارت يملاعلا ومنلا لجس ،يلودلا دقنلا قودنصل
 مخضتلل ةجيتن %3.8 غلابلا يخيراتلا طسوتملا نم لقأ ةبسن لاًثمم ،2023 ماع يف
 لٍكشب يملاعلا ومنلا ضفخني نأ عقوتملا نم هنإ ثيح ،ةدئافلا راعسأ عافتراو رمتسملا
 اذه يملاعلا داصتقلاا دهش امك .)2023 يف %3.1 نم( %2.8 دنع 2024 يف فٍيفط
 وحنب ردقي ام ىلإ ايقيرفأ لامشو طسولأا قرشلا ةقطنم يف اظًوحلم اؤًطابت ماعلا

 قرشلا ةقطنم يف ومنلا نسحتي نأب عقوت عم 2022 ماع يف %5 عم ةنراقم ،2.0%
 ىلإ ؤطابتلا اذه عجريو .)م2023 يف %2.0 وحنب نم( %3.4 ىلإ ايقيرفأ لامشو طسولأا
 تاسايسلاو كبوأ لود يف طفنلا جاتنإ ضافخنا اهنم ةفلتخملا لماوعلا نم ةعومجم
 أدب يذلا تقولا يفو .ةلود لكب ةصاخلا ةيلحملا لكاشملا ىلإ ةفاضلإاب ،ةمراصلا ةيدقنلا
 ةقطنملا تاداصتقا نيب ةريبكلا تانيابتلا ةلاح ترمتسا ،ايًملاع راسحنلااب مخضتلا هيف
 تايدحت ىرخأ تاداصتقا تهجاو امنيب ،هرارقتساو هتوق ىلع اهضعب ظفاح ثيح ،ةعونتملا
 ةقطنملا يف تداس يتلا نيقيلا مدع ةلاحل ارًظن ربكأ
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 نأ ةعومجملل يذيفنتلا سيئرلا حضوأ ،م2023 ماعلل ةعومجملل يلاملا ءادلأا نأشب امأ . -3
 تلادعم ةئيبب امًوعدم ةيساسلأا ةسسؤملا لامعأ لوصأ يف ازًراب اوًمن دهش م2023 ماعلا
 ىدأ دقو ،رصم مولب كنب عم لماك لكشب ةيلاملا ةنسلل انجئاتنل جمد لوأو ةديازتم ةدئاف
 ىوتسم ىلإ لصيل يونس ساسأ ىلع %16 ةبسنب ةيليغشتلا تاداريلإا ةدايز ىلإ كلذ
 زواجتي يذلا يلاوتلا ىلع يناثلا ماعلا وه ماعلا اذهو ،يكيرمأ رلاود رايلم 1.3 غلب يسايق
 نم ديزم عقوت عم يكيرمأ رلاود رايلملا زجاح ةعومجملل يليغشتلا لخدلا يلامجإ هيف
 ةديفتسم ةسسؤملا تادحو لك هيف تمهاس بيط ءادأ عم هنأ ىلإ اتفلا...ظوحلملا ومنلا
 رامثتسلاا ةفلكت ةرادإو )ةيساسلأا تاذلاب( ةيملاعلا هقاوسأ يف كنبلا ةطشنأ شاعتنا نم
 لك ،رطاخملا ةفلكت يف مكحتلاو فيلاكتلا ديشرت ىلع صرحلا ىلع لاضف ،ةيلعافو ةءافكب
 ىلإ لصتل %53 ةبسنب ماعلا اذه ةيحبر يفاص يف ةيوق  ةزفق قيقحت نم نكم كلذ

 امن امك ،)2022 ماع يف يكيرمأ رلاود نويلم 154 لباقم( يكيرمأ رلاود نويلم 235
 امنيب ،%5.8 ىلإ لصيل يونس ساسأ ىلع %2 نم رثكأب ةيكلملا قوقح ىلع دئاعلا
 2023 ماعل دحاولا مهسلا ةيحبر تداز امك ،ةديج تايوتسم دنع لاملا سأرو ةلويسلا تيقب
 دقف ،ىرخأ ةهج نمو .يكيرمأ رلاود 0.07 ىلإ لصتل يونس ساسأ ىلع %50 نم رثكأب
 ماع يف %62.7 ـب ةنراقم( %59.7 ىلإ %3 رادقمب لخدلا ىلإ ةفلكتلا ةبسن تضفخنا

 رارمتسلاا عم فيلاكتلا طبض ةسايس قيبطت يف ةعومجملا رارمتسا لضفب كلذو ،)م2022
 هنأ اظحلام ...ىرخلأا ةيجيتارتسلاا تاردابملاو ةيمقرلا اهتادحو يف تارامثتسلاا خض يف
 ةبسن يهو ،%54.2 لخدلا ىلإ ةفلكتلا ةبسن تغلب ،ةيمقرلا تارامثتسلاا ءانثتسا دعب
 .ىرخلأا ةيلودلا ةلمجلا كونبب ةنراقم ةديج

 ىلع كنبلل ةيمومعلا ةينازيملا ةظفاحم ىلع ةعومجملل يذيفنتلا سيئرلا دكأ لباقملاب -4
 م2023 ةياهن يف يكيرمأ رلاود رايلم 40 ـلا زجاح تادوجوملا يلامجا زواجت ثيح ،اهتوق
 يف يكيرمأ رلاود رايلم 36.6 عم ةنراقم %20 ةبسنب عافتراب ،يكيرمأ رلاود رايلم 44 غلبتل
 ةيلاملا قارولأاو ضورقلا ومن نيب ديجلا نزاوتلا ىلإ اسًاسأ كلذ عجريو ،2022 ماع ةياهن
 عيمجل ةبسنلاب ةيوق تايوتسم ىلع ةسسؤملا ةظفاحم ىلع ةولاع ،ةلئاسلا لوصلأاو
 .ومنلا راسم ىلع ظافحلا نم اننكم امم ،ةلويسلاو لاملا سأر تايوتسم سيياقم

 عتمتي كنبلا لازي لا ثيح ،اهتوق ىلع تظفاح دقف لاملا سأر ةيافك تايوتسم امأ -5
 تابلطتملا نم ريثكب ىلعأ ةلويس بسنو لاملا سأر بسن عم ةيوق ةماع ةينازيمب
 تايوتسم تظفاح امك ،%13.5 لاملا سأر نم ىلولأا ةئفلا ةبسن تغلب ذإ :ةيميظنتلا
 ةرقتسملا ةلويسلا ةبسنو %278 ةلويسلا ةيطغت تغلب ثيح اهتوق ىلع ةلويسلا
 .%128 ةيفاصلا

 يذيفنتلا سيئرلا حضوأ ،يجراخ ومن قيقحتل يعسلا يف ABC كنب ةيجيتارتسا ءوض يفو -6
 كنب نيب نيب اًدج ةماهلا جمدلا ةيلمع نم ةريخلأا ةلحرملا تلمكأ ةسسؤملا نأ ةعومجملل
 لوصحلا دعب هنأ احضوم ...2023 ماع للاخ رصم يف عباتلا ةسسؤملا كنبو رصم مولب
 جمد ىلع 2023 ماع يف ةثيثحلا دوهجلا تزكرت ،ينوناقلا جمدلل ةيباقرلا تاقفاوملا ىلع
 نم ةسسؤملا تنكمت ثيح ...نيكنبلا نم لك جمد لامكتسلا ةيليغشتلا تايلمعلاو ةمظنلأا
 ةصنم ىلإ ةئزجتلا ءلامع عيمج لقن يهو ،جمدلا ةيلمع يف ةريخلأا ةوطخلا نم ءاهتنلاا
 لامتكا عمو ،ماعلا اذه نم رياربف رهش يف ةسلاسو حاجنب ةدحوم ةيليغشتو ةيجولونكت
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 ةيقوسلا انتصح ةدايزو ةيرصملا قوسلا يف اندوجو زيزعت ىلإ علطتن ،جمدلا ةيلمع
 ءانبل ومنلا يف انتاحومط قيقحتل قوسلا هذه اهمدقت يتلا ةدعاولا صرفلا نم ةدافتسلال
 طسولأا قرشلا ةقطنم يف ةيرهوجلا ةيمهلأا وذ قوسلا اذه يف يفرصم ذوفن زكرم
 .ايقيرفإ لامشو

 تاونسلل ةثدحتسملا ةيجيتارتسلإا ةطخلا حملام ةعومجملل يذيفنتلا سيئرلا ضرعتسا -7
 ىلع زكترت اهنأ احضوم ،م2023 ويلوي يف ةرادلإا سلجم اهيلع قفاو يتلاو 2024-2026

 عيرست ىلع زكري لولأا روحملا :ةيسيئر رواحم ةثلاث نمض ةددحم ةيساسأ فادهأ قيقحت
 ،ليزاربلا يف اندجاوت ىلإ ةفاضإ ،ةئزجتلاو ،ةنازخلاو ،ةلمجلا ةفريص يف يساسلأا ءادلأا
 ةميق زيزعت" ىلع زكري يناثلا روحملا .بيرقلا ىدملا ىلع ةسوملم ةميق قلخل كلذو
 ،"ىلإ" كنبو AFS ةيبرعلا ةيلاملا تامدخلا ةكرش ةصنم كلذ يف امب ،ةيمقرلا تادحولا
 زيزعت" ىلع زكري ثلاثلا روحملا .ليوطلا ىدملا ىلع نيمهاسملل ةيزجم دئاوع قيقحتل
 ةرادإ ماظن ريوطتل تاردابملا نم ةعومجم زيزعت ىلع روحملا اذه زكري ."يليغشتلا جذومنلا
 .ةسسؤملا ةفاقث زيزعتو ءادلأا ةرادإ نيسحتو ،ايجولونكتلا ةسدنهو تانايبلاو تامولعملا
 لوأ قيقحت نم نكّميس رصانعلا هذه ىلع داجلا زيكرتلا نأب نمؤت ةسسؤملا نأ ىلإ اتفلا
 ربتعتُ نأ ةيجيتارتسا ةطخ يلأ نكمي لا هنأ ىلع اددشم ...حاجنب ةيجيتارتسلإا نم نيروحم
 ،انتايولوأ سأر ىلع ةلصّفملا عيرسلا ذيفنتلا ةطخ يتأت ثيح ،عبطلاب لاعّف ذيفنت نود ةحجان
  .ةعومجملل يجيتارتسلإا لوحتلا ةعباتمل اصتخم اًبتكم ءاشنإب انمق دقف

 يف ةعومجملل ةلمجلا ةفريص عاطق هنمقر جمانرب نإف ،يمقرلا لوّحتلا ديعص ىلع امأ -8
 تاكرشلا نم ددجلا ءلامعلا ةئيهتل كلذو ،انئلامعل ةديدج ةهجاو مدقي ةديدجلا هتللاطإ
 تامدخ لاجم يف نيتديدج نيتيمقر نيتصنم قلاطإ للاخ نم ةيلاملا تاسسؤملاو
 لوح ءلامعلا تاجايتحا يبلت ةلهسو ةنرم ةيفرصم ةبرجت ريفوتل كلذو ،ةيلودلا تلاماعملا
 فتاهلا ربع حاتملاو هانقلطأ يذلا يمقرلا كنبلا رمتسا دقف كلذ ىلإ ةفاضلإابو .ملاعلا
 يئانثتسلاا ومنلا نم رخآ امًاع "ىلإ" كنب اققحم ،زيمتلا يف - ''ىلإ" كنب - طقف لومحملا
 ةبسنب ءلامعلا ددع عفترا امك ،٪56 ةبسنب اوًمن تلاماعملا ةكرح تدهش ثيح ،نيرحبلا يف

 ،نيرحبلا يف "قاربُلا" ةمدخ اضًيأ "ىلإ" كنب قلطأ امك ،٪40 ةبسنب عئادولا تعفتراو ،38٪
 اضًيأ قلطأو ،ةيملاسلإا ةعيرشلا ماكحأ عم ةقفاوتم دارفلأل ةيمقر ةيفرصم ةمدخ يهو
 ةيلام ةنورم مهحنمتو ءلامعلا نكمت يتلاو ،ينيرحبلا رانيدلا ةلمعب قبسملا عفدلا تاقاطب
 ةعومجملل ةعباتلا ةيبرعلا ةيلاملا تامدخلا ةكرش تققح دقف ،ىرخأ ةيحان نمو .ربكأ
 يف ادرطم امدقت ةددعتم تاحاجن ةيلاملا ايجولونكتلا تاعوفدم يف ةصصختملاو
 لامعأ يف ةيقوسلا اهتصح ةدايزو ،ةيفارغجلا اهتمصب عيسوت ىلع زكرت يتلا اهتيجيتارتسا
 يف اهحرط يف مدقتلا ةلصاومو ،نامع ةنطلسو نيرحبلا يف ةدئارلا ةيراجتلا ذاوحتسلاا
 .ةدحتملا ةيبرعلا تاراملإاو ايبيل يف ذاوحتسلاا نم ىلولأا لحارملا ىلع زيكرتلا عم رصم
 ةريغصلا تاكرشلا تاكلام جمانرب ةيبرعلا ةيلاملا تامدخلا ةكرش تقلطأ ،كلذ ىلإ ةفاضلإاب
 .نامعو نيرحبلا يف تاكرشلل عفدلا ةقبسم تاقاطب قلاطلإ ازيف عم نواعتلاب ةطسوتملاو
 لوبق ةظفحم تدهش ثيح ،ةيجيتارتسلاا اهتايولوأ سأر ىلع رصم يف عسوتلا لازي لا امنيب
 ميدقت للاخ نم 2023 ماع يف اعًسوت ةيبرعلا ةيلاملا تامدخلا ةكرشب ةصاخلا تاعوفدملا
  AFS One. و AFS Pay 2.0 لثم ةيسيئر تاراكتبا
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 ةقلاعلاو كنبلل نيمهاسملا رابك معد ىلع ةعومجملل يذيفنتلا سيئرلا ىنثأ نأ دعبو -9
 ةظفاحم كلذكو ةسسؤملا لمع قاوسأ يف ةيباقرلا تاطلسلا عم ةبيطلا ةينهملا
 دوهجلا هذه نأ حضوأ ،ةيلودلا فينصتلا تلااكو نم ةينامتئلاا اهترادج ىلع ةسسؤملا
 ساسأ ،ةيلودلا ةراجتلا ليومتو راكتبلاا لاجم يف ةصاخ نيبقارملا نم فارتعلاا اضيأ تقلا
 ديدعلا ىلع لاجملا اذه يف ةسسؤملا تاردابم تلصح ثيح ،ةيجيتارتسلاا ةسسؤملا جمارب
 ركناب اذ ةلجم نم "2023 ماعلل نيرحبلا يف كنب لضفأ" ةزئاج كلذ يف امب زئاوجلا نم
 ةزئاج اندصح امك .ةزئاجلا هذهب ABC كنب اهيف زوفي يتلا ةثلاثلا ةرملا يهو ،ةقومرملا
 لابولج ةلجم نم "طسولأا قرشلا ةقطنم يف ةيلودلا ةراجتلا ليومتل كنب لضفأ"
 امك .ينوموروي ةلجم نم ةمدقملا "نيرحبلا يف تاكرشلل كنب لضفأ" ةزئاجو ،سنانياف
 ةيفرصملا تامدخلا لاجم يف قوسلا يف دئارلا كنبلا" ةزئاج ىلع كنبلا لصح
 يف كنبلا دوهجب فارتعلاا متو ،"ةيمقرلا قولحلا يف دئارلا كنبلا" ةزئاجو ،"تاكرشلل
 تلصح امك .قوسلا يف داورلل ينوموروي زئاوج نم – ةمكوحلاو يعامتجلااو يئيبلا لاجملا
 ةلجم نم ملاعلا يف يلاملا راكتبلاا تاربتخم لضفأ" ةزئاج ىلع ةركتبملا "ABC تاربتخم"
 ىلع لصح دقف ،ABC كنبل يملاسلإا عارذلا ،يملاسلإا ABC كنب امأ .سنانياف لابولج
 زئاوج نمض سنانياف لابولج ةلجم نم "نيرحبلا يف ةيملاسإ ةيلام ةسسؤم لضفأ" ةزئاج
 ليومتلا لاجم يف انتاناكملإ ارًيدقتو .ملاعلا يف ةيملاسلإا ةيلاملا تاسسؤملا لضفأ
 يف كوكصلاو ضورقلاو تادنسلا زئاوج نم ددعب انزف ،لكيهملا يديلقتلا يملاسلإا
 ةلجم نم "سنوت يف دقنلا ةرادلإ مدقم لضفأ" ةزئاج ىلع انلصح امك .طسولأا قرشلا
 لابولج زئاوج يفو ،كلذ بناج ىلإ .ةلويسلا ةرادإ يف انتاردقل ارًيدقت ،سنانياف لابولج
 يف امب ،تسلا زئاوجلا عيمج "ىلإ" كنب دصح ،ةيملاعلا ةيمقرلا كونبلا لضفلأ سنانياف
 ىلع ثلاثلا ماعلل "2023 ماعلل نيرحبلا يف دارفلأل يمقر فرصم لضفأ" ةزئاج كلذ
 .يلاوتلا

 لمعلا يف اهئاكرش دنع فقوتت مل ةسسؤملا دوهج نأ ةعومجملل يذيفنتلا سيئرلا دكأ -10
 تلااجم يف اهتاردابمب عفدلاب ةسسؤملا تمزتلا ثيح ،روهمجلا ىلإ تدتما امنا
 ىلإ دنتست ةحضاوو ةلماش ةمادتسا ةيجيتارتسا ةسسؤملا تعضو ثيح ،ةمادتسلاا
 ،مادتسملا ليومتلاو ،رطاخملا ةرادإو ،تايلمعلاو ،ةمكوحلا :ةيهيجوت ئدابم ةسمخ
 ةديدج ةرادإ ءاشنإ مت ،ةمادتسلاا دوهج عفدل هنأ ىلإ اتفلا ،تاعمتجملاو ،دارفلأاو
 تاونس ثلاثل دتمت لمع ةطخ ةرادلإا هذه تعضو دقو .ةصصختم دراومب ةمادتسلال
  .ةعومجملا لامعأ ميمص يف ةمادتسملا تاسرامملا خيسرتل

 احضوم ... تلااجملا هذه يف لمعلا روطت نع ةحمل ةعومجملل يذيفنتلا سيئرلا مدق
 سلجم نم ايًوق افًارشإ لمشي لاعف لمع راطإ ريوطت مت هنأ ،ةمكوحلا لاجم صخي اميف
 امأ .يعامتجلاا انريثأت زيزعتو يئيبلا ريثأتلا ضفخل ةعومجملل ةحضاو فادهأ عضو عم ،ةرادلإا
 رومأ ةلمج نيب نم – ةسسؤملا تماق دقف ،رطاخملا ةرادإو تايلمعلا لاجمب قلعتي اميف
 Scope 1,2, & 3 Greenhouse) 3و 2 و 1 ةئفلا نمض نم ةنيفدلا تازاغ تاثاعبنا سايقب –

gas emission)  يلامجا نم %75 تغلب يتلاو نيدرومُلا نم تاثاعبنلاا كلذ يف امب 
 ةيسيئرلا ةيفرصملا لامعلأا للاخ نم اًضيأ زكرت ةسسؤملا نأ احضوم ...ةعومجملا تاثاعبنا
 ةسسؤملا تققح ثيح ،يقابتسا لكشب مادتسملاو رضخلأا ليومتلا صرف فادهتسا ىلع
 نم رثكأ يأ ،رلاود رايلم 4.2 ةميقب sustainable finance ةمادتسم تلايومت 2023 ماع يف
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 نادلبلا يف مادتسملا ليومتلا نم ٪90 نم رثكأ ليجست مت دقو ،لوصلأا يلامجإ نم 9٪
  .ةيمانلا

 نأ ةعومجملل يذيفنتلا سيئرلا حضوأ ،لومشلاو فاصنلإاو عونتلا ةدنجأ ديعص ىلعو
 ةبسن غلبت ذا .ةيولوأك DE&I لومشلاو فاصنلإاو عونتلا يف اهجهن نم تززع ةسسؤملا
 .2022 ماع نع ةنسحتم ةبسن يهو ،2023 ماع يف ٪34 كنبلا يف نيسنجلا نيب بسانتلا
 يف ٪50 ةبسنب ةدايز نع ارخؤم انلعأ دقف ،عونتلا ةدنجا هاجت ABC كنب مازتلا ىلع ليلدكو
 دقف ،ةيعمتجملا ةيلوؤسملا ديعص ىلعو ،اموي 90 ىلإ لصتل نيرحبلا يف ةموملأا ةزاجإ
 كنبلا ةيلوؤسمل ةفداه ةردابم 50 نم رثكأ 2023 ماع للاخ ةسسؤملا تزجنأ
 ةيمنتلل ةدحتملا مملأا فادهأ عم ىشامتت يتلاو ،ةعومجملا ىوتسم ىلع ةيعمتجملا
 ام يأ ،2023 ماع يف رلاود نويلم 5.1 يعمتجملا رامثتسلاا يلامجإ غلب ثيح ،ةمادتسملا
 ىلع ةمادتسلااب اهمازتلا رصتقي مل ةسسؤملا نأ ىلإ اتفلا ...حبرلا يفاص نم ٪2.2 لداعي
 ةيعيبطلا ثراوكلل ةباجتسلااب ةعومجملا ترداب امنإو ،بسحف ةيباقرلاو ةيئيبلا بناوجلا
 ةثاغلإا لامعأ يف ةدعاسملل ةيخسلا تاعربتلاو معدلا تمدق ثيح ،ةقطنملا تبرض يتلا
 .ايروسو ايكرت تبرض يتلا ةرمدملا لزلازلاو )ةنرد( ايبيل تحاتجا يتلا ةرمدملا تاناضيفلا ءارج
 لماش ةمادتسا ريرقت دادعإ متيس هنأ اضًيأ ةعومجملل يذيفنتلا سيئرلا دافأ ،ةرم لولأو
 نم هنإ ثيح ،لصفم لكشب ةيسيئرلا تارشؤملاو ططخلاو تازاجنلإا لوانتي ،ةعومجملل
 .ماعلا اذه نم يناثلا عبرلا للاخ ريرقتلا اذه رشن ررقملا

 ةيسايسويجلا تارتوتلا يدؤت نأ عقوتملا نم هنأ ةعومجملل يذيفنتلا سيئرلا دافأ -11
 .ةقطنملا يف ةشاشه رثكلأا تاداصتقلاا ىلع ةيداصتقلاا طوغضلا ةدايز ىلإ ةدعاصتملا
 ،قاوسلأا نم ديدعلا يف ةدئافلا تلادعم راسم ريغتي نأ لمتحملا نم ،مخضتلا عجارت عم
 تاميلعت قيبطت متيس امنيب .ليومتلا ةداعلإ اصًرفو ريعستلا ةداعإ يف تلاكشم رهظي امم
 ةئيب ىلع لماوعلا هذه عيمج رثؤتس ثيح ،خانملا ريغتو لاملا سأر لوح ةديدج ةيفرصم
 ىلع هتردقب ABC كنب قثي ،تايدحتلا هذه نم مغرلا ىلع هنأ ىلإ اتفلا ...ةسفانملا
 ثيح ،هفادهأ وحن امًدق يضملل ةعراستم ومن تلادعم قيقحتو هتوق طاقن نم ةدافتسلاا
 ةميق قيقحت ىلإ ارًخؤم اهيلع ةقفاوملا تمت يتلا ةديدجلا ةعومجملا ةيجيتارتسا فدهت
 سأر ةءافك ىلع زيكرتلا لصاونس امك .انيمهاسمل ليوطلاو ريصقلا ىدملا ىلع ةمادتسم
 لامعلأا ةظفحمل يباجيلإا مدقتلا نم نيديفتسم ةماعلا ةينازيملا تاردق زيزعتو لاملا
 ةيمقرلا انتاردق يف رامثتسلاا يف رمتسنس امك .2023 ماع يف اهانققح يتلا ةيوقلا
 يعانطصلاا ءاكذلا تاينقتل نيرفوملا ةمدقم يف ABC كنب عضي ام ،ةيجولونكتلا انتاصنمو
 ةءافك قيقحتل ،ةيلاملا تامدخلاو تاجتنملاو تانايبلا لاجم يف ىرخلأا تايجولونكتلاو
 .ةعومجملا ىوتسم ىلع لضفأ ءادأو ةنورمو

  - :نيمهاسملا شاقن -ب

 ةلئسلأا نم ةعومجم تحرط ثيح ،نيمهاسملا ةداسلا مامأ شاقنلا باب حتف
 نيسحتل ىرخأ قاوسأ يف ةسسؤملا مهسأ جاردا صرف اهمهأ يف تلوانت تاحرتقملاو
 يف ةمكارتملا تاريغتلا اريخأو ،ربكأ ةيدقن حابرأ ةبسن عيزوت ةيناكمإو ،مهسلا رعس
 - :يلي امك كلذو ،ىرخلأا تايطايتحلاا دنب يف ةلداعلا ةميقلا
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 ةـيلام قاوسأ يف ةسسؤملا مهسأ جاردا صرف نع نيمهاسملا ةداسلا دحأ لءاست -1
 تنـــس 0،32 دـــنع فـــقوتم مهـــسلا رعـــس نأو اميـــس لا ،مهـــسلا رعـــس نيـــسحتل ىرـــخأ
 حــشل كــلذ ىزــعي اــمبرو زــيمملا كــنبلا ءادأ ســكعي لا اــم وــهو دــحاولا مهــسلل يــكيرمأ
 ةـسسؤملا نأ ةـعومجملل يذيفنتلا سيئرلا باجأ ثيح ،ةينيرحبلا قوسلا يف ةلويسلا
 ةلويـــسلا نـــم دـــيزي نأ نـــكمي ةددـــعتم ةـــيلام قاوـــسأ يـــف مهـــسلأا جاردإ نأـــب ةـــكردم
 نمو ،نيعئابلاو نيرتشملا نم ربكأ ددع كانه نوكيس هنأ ينعي امم ،مهسلأاب ةصاخلا
 يـف ةمهاـسملا يلاـتلابو ،مهـسلأا عـيب وأ ءارـش نيمهاسملا ىلع لهسي نأ كلذ نأش
 ةبوعــصلا نــم لــعجت ةــسسؤملا يمهاــسم ةــبيكرت نأ احــضوم ...مهــسلا رعــس نيــسحت
 نيمهاـسملا راـبك ةبـصنأ باـستحا دـعب مهـسلأا نم يقبتملا يف ةلويسلا ةدايز ناكمب
 جاردا تاراــــيخ سردــــت تــــلاز اــــم ةــــسسؤملا نأ ىــــلإ اــــتفلا ...)%90 يلاوــــح ةــــغلابلا(
 نيرــحبلا ةــصروب بــناجب ةيفاــضإ ةــيلام قاوــسأ وأ ةــصروب يــف لوادــتلل اهمهــسأ
 0،22 نــم عــفترا مهــسلا رعــس نإــف كــلذ عــم هــنأ ىــلإ اــتفلا ...مهــسلا رعــس نيــسحتل
 وـهو دحاولا مهسلل يكيرمأ تنس 32 يلاحلا رعسلا ىلإ دحاولا مهسلل يكيرمأ تنس
  .م2023 ماع للاخ كنبلل يوقلا ءادلأا سكعي ام

 صخلأاـبو رـبكأ ةـيدقن حاـبرأ ةبـسن عـيزوت ةـيناكمإ لوـح رـخلآ مهاـسمل لؤاـست يفو -2
 نيـح يـف نيمهاـسملا ىـلع يـكيرمأ رلاود نوـيلم 70 يلاوح ةميقب حابرأ عيزوت بابسأ
 ةاـقبملا حاـبرلأا باـسح ىـلإ يكيرمأ رلاود نويلم 142،3 ةردقو غلبم ليوحت متيس هنأ
 نيــب ةــنزاوملا ىــلا ىعــست اــمئاد ةــسسؤملا نأ ةــعومجملل يذــيفنتلا سيئرــلا باــجأ ،
 عــيزوتل ةرادلإا ســلجم ةيــصوت نأ ىــلإ اــتفلا ...اهيمهاــسم حلاــصمو ةــسسؤملا حلاــصم
 )ةـنازخلا مهـسأ نود نـم( لوادـتم مهـس لـك نـع %2,25 عـقاوب ىـلعأ ماعلا اذه حابرأ
 ماـــعلل مهـــس لـــكل تنـــس 1.5 ــــب ةـــنراقم دـــحاولا مهـــسلل يـــكيرمأ تنـــس 2.25 اهردـــق
 ماـــعلا رلاود نوـــيلم 40 نـــم %50 ةبـــسنب عـــفترا غـــلبملا يلاـــمجا نإ ثـــيح ،يـــضاملا
 ىـلع م2023 حاـبرأ يفاـص نـم %30 لكـشي اـمم رلاود نوـيلم 70 يلاوح ىلإ يضاملا
 يــــف ةاــــقبم حاــــبرأك رلاود نوــــيلم 142.3 هردــــقو غــــلبملا يقاــــبب ظاــــفتحلاا متــــي نأ
 حمـسي %30 براـقت ةبـسنب حابرلأا عيزوت لدعم ىلع ظافحلا نأ امتتخم ...تايطايتحلاا
 .ةماعلا ةينازيملا ةوق ىلع ةظفاحملا عم مادتسم ومن قيقحتب ةسسؤملل

 يـف ةـلداعلا ةـميقلا يـف ةـمكارتملا تاريغتلا لوح مهاسملا تاذ لؤاست نأشب امأ -3
 ىـلع ةـيلاحلاو ةيـضاملا ةنـسلا نيـب قرفلا قباطت مدع ببسو ىرخلأا تايطايتحلاا دنب
 تارــــيغتلا عــــم يــــكيرمأ رلاود نوــــيلم 23 ىرــــخلأا تاــــيطايتحلاا يــــف رــــيغتلا( ديعــــص
 يذـــيفنتلا سيئرـــلا حـــضوأ ،يـــكيرمأ رلاود نوـــيلم 13 ةـــلداعلا ةـــميقلا يـــف ةـــمكارتملا
 35 رادـقمب تـعفترا ثـيح ةـلداعلا ةميقلا يف تارييغت دهش 2024 ماع نأ ةعومجملل
 لـيوحتل ةـجيتن يـكيرمأ رلاود 12 رادـقمب ةـلداعلا ةـميقلا تـضفخنا امنيب يكيرمأ رلاود
   .يكيرمأ رلاود 23 اهردق ةدايز يفاص هنع جتن امم ،يبنجلأا فرصلا
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 لومـشو ضرـعلا زـيمت ىـلع ةـسسؤملل ةـيذيفنتلا ةرادلإا نومهاـسملا ةداـسلا ركـش ،ةياهنلا يفو
 .قيفوتلا ماود مهل نينمتم ،تاباجلإا

 نــع ةــيلاملا تاــنايبلا ىــلع ةــماعلا ةــيعمجلا تقداــص تلاوادــملاو تاــشاقنلا هذــه دــعبو 
 .اهميدقت مت امك م2023 ربمسيد 31 يف ةيهتنملا ةيلاملا ةنسلا

 سماخلا دنبلا

 

 ةنسلا حابرأ يفاص صيصختب ةرادلإا سلجم ةيصوت ىلع ةقداصملا -:
 :يلاتلا وحنلا ىلع م31/12/2023 يف ةيهتنملا ةيلاملا

  .ينوناقلا يطايتحلال يكيرمأ رلاود نويلم 23.5 غلبم ليوحت 5-1

 مهس لك نع %2,25 عقاوب نيمهاسملا ىلع ةيدقن حابرأ عيزوت 5-2
 يكيرمأ تنس 2.25 اهردق )ةنازخلا مهسأ نود نم( لوادتم
 .يكيرمأ رلاود نويلم 70 يلاوح اًيلامجإ ةغلابلاو ،دحاولا مهسلل
 لوادت خيرات ،م2024 سرام 25 حابرلأا قاقحتسلا لوادت موي رخآ
 27 قاقحتسلاا موي ،م2024 سرام 26 قاقحتسا نودب مهسلا
 .م2024 ليربأ 10 عفدلا مويو ،م2024 سرام

 يكيرمأ رلاود نويلم 142.3 يلاوح وهو يقبتملا ديصرلا ليوحت 5-3
 .ةاقبملا حابرلأا باسح ىلإ

 

 م31/12/2023 يف ةيهتنملا ةيلاملا ةنسلل ةيفاصلا حابرلأا ىلع ةماعلا ةيعمجلا تعلطا 
 عيزوتب ةرادلإا سلجم نم اهيلإ ةعوفرملا ةيصوتلا كلذكو ،يكيرمأ رلاود نويلم 235 ةغلابلاو
   %2,25  عقاوـب 31/12/2023 يف ةيهتنملا ةيلاملا ةنسلا نع نيمهاسملا ىلع ةيدقن حابرأ
 رلاود نويلم 70 يلاوح اًيلامجإ ةغلابلاو ،)ةنازخلا مهسأ نود نم( لوادتم  مـهس لـك نـع
 .يكيرمأ

 
 - :ةلوادملا رثإو

 
 - :ةماعلا ةيعمجلا تررق"
  

  .ينوناقلا يطايتحلال يكيرمأ رلاود نويلم 23.5 غلبم ليوحت -1
 مهسأ نود نم( لوادتم مهس لك نع %2,25 عقاوب نيمهاسملا ىلع ةيدقن حابرأ عيزوت -2

 رلاود نويلم 70 يلاوح اًيلامجإ ةغلابلاو ،دحاولا مهسلل يكيرمأ تنس 2.25 اهردق )ةنازخلا
 نودب مهسلا لوادت خيرات ،م2024 سرام 25 حابرلأا قاقحتسلا لوادت موي رخآ .يكيرمأ
 ليربأ 10 عفدلا مويو ،م2024 سرام 27 قاقحتسلاا موي ،م2024 سرام 26 قاقحتسا

 .م2024
 حابرلأا باسح ىلإ يكيرمأ رلاود نويلم 142.3 يلاوح وهو يقبتملا ديصرلا ليوحت -3

  .ةاقبملا
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 دــــــــــــــــــــــــــــنبلا
 سداسلا

 تاــبلطتمب كــنبلا مازــتلاو م3202 ةنــسل تاكرــشلا ةــمكوح رــيرقت ةــشقانم -:
  .هيلع ةقداصملاو يزكرملا نيرحبلا فرصم

 
 ىــلع ةــماعلا ةــيعمجلا علاــطإ ةــيعمجلا رــس نيــمأ نــم ةرادلإا ســلجم سيــئر ديــسلا بــلط -1

 ةــسسؤملا مازــتلا ىدــمو ةيفرــصملا ةــيبرعلا ةــسسؤملاب يــسسؤملا مــكحلا ماــظنب صــخلم
 دوهجلاــب ةــماعلا ةــيعمجلا ءاــضعأ ةداــسلا علاطاــب ةــيعمجلا رــس نيــمأ ماــق ثــيح ،هــماكحأب
 اـمب ،اـيملاع ةدـمتعملا يـسسؤملا مـكحلا ئداـبم لـضفلأ لاـثتملال ةـسسؤملا نـم ةلوذبملا
 ةـيبرعلا ةـسسؤملا نأ ادـكؤم ،صوـصخلا اذـه يـف نيرحبلا ةكلممب ةذفانلا دعاوقلا كلذ يف
 اــيملاع ةدــمتعملا تاــسرامملا ئداــبمو يــسسؤملا مــكحلا تاداــشرإ لــضفأ عــبتت ةيفرــصملا
 ةـباقرلا ةـسرامم يـف ةيفافـشلاو ةيلاعفلاب مستي اراطإ رفوي يسسؤملا مكحلل ماظن اهيدلو
 .فصنم وحن ىلع ةيلخادلا

 
 ةـقدب ةـماهلا تاـمولعملا نـع حاـصفلاا ىـلع صرـحت ةسسؤملا نأب ةيعمجلا رس نيمأ فاضأ -2

 عـقوملا لمـشت تاوـنق ةدع قيرط نع نيينعملا حلاصملا باحصأو نيمهاسملا ىلإ حوضوو
 ةيونــس فــصنو ةيونــس ريراــقتل اهرادــصإ عــم ةــمظتنم ةروــصب هــثيدحت متــي يذــلا يــنورتكللاا
  .يلاملا ءادلأاو حابرلأا نأشب ةيلصفو

 
 داـفأ نأـشلا اذـه يـف م2023 ماـعلا للاخ تمت يتلا ةريخلأا تارييغتلا مهأ ديعص ىلع امأ -3

 - :يلي امب ةيعمجلا رس نيمأ
 

 عـمو .يـسسؤملا مكحلا قاثيم ىلع ةيرهوج تارييغت كانه نكت مل ،م2023 ماع يف --
 ،لاـثتملاا ةـنجل قاـثيمو ،قيقدـتلا ةـنجل قاـثيم ىـلع تارييغتلا ضعب كانه تناك ،كلذ
 تلايدـعتلا عـم قـيثاوملا هذـه ةـمءاومل يـساسأ لكـشب كلذو ،رطاخملا ةنجل قاثيمو
 لــيربأ يــف اــيلعلا ةــباقرلا تايوتــسمب صاــخلا يداــشرلإا ليلدــلا ىــلع اــهؤارجإ مــت يــتلا

  .م2023 ربوتكأ 1 نم ارًابتعا ذيفنتلا زيح تلخد يتلاو ،م2023
 

 مـكحلل ةـسسؤملا ريرقت ىلا ماركلا نيمهاسملا ةداسلا ةيعمجلا رس نيمأ لاحأ ماتخلا يفو -4
 يـف هـيلا عوـجرلا نكميو هعيزوت مت يذلاو ةماعلا ةيعمجلا قئاثو نمض دوجوملا يسسؤملا
  .بيتكلا نم 132 ةحفصلا
 

 ةــــغلابلا م3202 ةنــــسل ةرادلإا ســــلجم ءاــــضعأ ةأــــفاكم ىــــلع ةقداــــصملا -: عباسلا دنبلا
 ةرازو ةداـسلا ةقفاوم ذخأ دعب ،م3202 ماع نع يكيرمأ رلاود .667.2061

 .ةراجتلاو ةعانصلا
 

 يف ضورعم ةرادلاا سلجم ءاضعأ ةأفاكم غلبم نأ ةماعلا ةيعمجلل سيئرلا ديسلا حضوأ 
 وـهو ،نأـشلا اذـهب ةراـجتلاو ةعانصلا ةرازو ةداسلل ةباتكلا مت نأ دعب طقف ةقداصملل دنبلا اذه
 28 تاحفــصلا يــف نيدراوــلاو( يــسسؤملا مــكحلا رــيرقت يــفو ةرادلإا ســلجم رــيرقت يــف هــنع حــصفم
 1.206.667 م2023 للاــخ ةرادلإا ســلجم ءاــضعأ تآــفاكم تــغلب ثــيح ،)ةــيعمجلا بــيتك نــم 138و
ـقفو اهفرـص مـت ةرادلإا سـلجم ءاـضعأ تآفاكم نأ اركذـم ...يكيرمأ رلاود  ةـسسؤملا ةـسايسل اً
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 لــبق نــم اــهدامتعا مــت يــتلاو ،)"تآــفاكملا ةــسايس"( ةرادلإا ســلجم ءاــضعأ تآــفاكمب ةــصاخلا
ــــقفو م2021 سراــــم 23 يــــف ةــــماعلا ةــــيعمجلا  يــــساسلأا ماــــظنلا نــــم )ب( 28 ةداــــملا ماــــكحلأ اً
 ةـيداعلا ةـماعلا ةـيعمجلا عاـمتجا داـقعنا نيـح ىـلإ تاونـس عـبرأ ةدـمل ةيراس لظت نأ ىلع ةسسؤملل
 اذــه رارمتــسا يــف ةقبــسملا ةرازوــلا ةــقفاوم تذــخأ ةــسسؤملا نأ اــمتتخم ... م2025 يــف كــنبلل
 :ةلوادملا دعبو ...هركذ مت ام بسحب ةدمتعملا تاءارجلإا عم هقافتاو عيزوتلا
 
 ةـــغلابلا م2023 ةنـــسل ةرادلإا ســـلجم ءاـــضعأ ةأـــفاكم ىـــلع ةقداـــصملا ةـــماعلا ةـــيعمجلا تررـــق"

 ."ةراجتلاو ةعانصلا ةرازو ةداسلا ةقفاوم ذخأ مت نأ دعب كلذو ،يكيرمأ رلاود 1.206.667
 
 ةـــيلاملا ةنـــسلا للاـــخ مهتافرـــصت نـــع ةرادلإا ســـلجم ءاـــضعأ ةـــمذ ءارـــبا -: نماثلا دنبلا

 .م31/12/3202 يف ةيهتنملا
 
 ةـيلاملا ةنـسلا للاـخ مهتافرـصت نـع ةرادلإا سـلجم ءاـضعأ ةمذ ءاربإ ةماعلا ةيعمجلا تررق 
 .م31/12/2023 يف ةيهتنملا

 
 كـنبلا تاباـسحل نيققدـمك غـنويو تـسنرا ةداـسلا نييعت ةداعإ يـف رـظنلا -: عساتلا دنبلا

 ةــــقفاوم ذــــخا دــــعب ،م4220 ربمـــسيد 31 يــــف ةــــيهتنملا ةــــيلاملا ةنـــسلل
 .مهباعتأ ديدحتب ةرادلإا سلجم ليوختو يزكرملا نيرحبلا فرصم ةداسلا

 
 ةـسسؤملا تاباسحل نيققدمك )غنويو تسنرا( ةداسلا نييعت ةداعإ ةماعلا ةيعمجلا تررق

 ،مهباــعتأ دــيدحت يــف قــحلا ةرادلإا ســلجم لــيوخت عــم م31/12/2024 يــف ةــيهتنملا ةــيلاملا ةنــسلل
 .نييعتلا اذه يف يزكرملا نيرحبلا فرصم ةعنامم مدع اهتظحلام دعب كلذو

 
 يف ةرادإ سلجم وضعك ناوعك دلاخ /روتكدلا نييعت ىلع ةقداصملا -: رشاعلا دنبلا

  .كنبلا ةرادإ سلجم
 
 /روتكدلا نييعت ىلع ةقداصملا ةماعلا ةيعمجلا نم ةرادلإا سلجم سيئر ديسلا بلط

 يف ةيتاذلا هتريس نم هذبن ةدراولاو( كنبلا ةرادإ سلجم يف ةرادإ سلجم وضعك ناوعك دلاخ
 لمكيل م2023 ويلوي يف كنبلا ةرادإ سلجم ىلا مضنا يذلاو ،)ةيعمجلا بيتك نم 152 ةحفصلا
 اقفو كلذو ،)م2023 ويلوي يف ةرادلإا سلجم رداغ يذلا( ةدقعلا قوراف روتكدلا هفلس ةدم
 ةيعمجلا تدافأ ثيح ،ةسسؤملل يساسلأا ماظنلا نم يلاوتلا ىلع 20و 19 نيتداملا ماكحلأ
 .كنبلا ةرادإ سلجم يف ةرادإ سلجم وضعك ناوعك دلاخ /روتكدلا نييعت ىلع اهتقداصمب ةماعلا

 
 ةـقلاعلا تاذ فارـطلأا عـم تلاماعملا ىلع ةماعلا ةيعمجلا علاطإ -: رشع يداحلا دنبلا

 دراو وـه اـمكو ةـيراجتلا تاكرـشلا نوناـق نم )ج (189 ةداملا بسح
 ةــيلاملا ةنــسلل ةدــحوملا ةــيلاملا مئاوــقلا نــم 82 مــقر حاــضيلإا يــف
 .م31/12/3202 يف ةيهتنملا

 

 

 لــبق نــم اــهدامتعا مــت يــتلاو ،)"تآــفاكملا ةــسايس"( ةرادلإا ســلجم ءاــضعأ تآــفاكمب ةــصاخلا
ــــقفو م2021 سراــــم 23 يــــف ةــــماعلا ةــــيعمجلا  يــــساسلأا ماــــظنلا نــــم )ب( 28 ةداــــملا ماــــكحلأ اً
 ةـيداعلا ةـماعلا ةـيعمجلا عاـمتجا داـقعنا نيـح ىـلإ تاونـس عـبرأ ةدـمل ةيراس لظت نأ ىلع ةسسؤملل
 اذــه رارمتــسا يــف ةقبــسملا ةرازوــلا ةــقفاوم تذــخأ ةــسسؤملا نأ اــمتتخم ... م2025 يــف كــنبلل
 :ةلوادملا دعبو ...هركذ مت ام بسحب ةدمتعملا تاءارجلإا عم هقافتاو عيزوتلا
 
 ةـــغلابلا م2023 ةنـــسل ةرادلإا ســـلجم ءاـــضعأ ةأـــفاكم ىـــلع ةقداـــصملا ةـــماعلا ةـــيعمجلا تررـــق"

 ."ةراجتلاو ةعانصلا ةرازو ةداسلا ةقفاوم ذخأ مت نأ دعب كلذو ،يكيرمأ رلاود 1.206.667
 
 ةـــيلاملا ةنـــسلا للاـــخ مهتافرـــصت نـــع ةرادلإا ســـلجم ءاـــضعأ ةـــمذ ءارـــبا -: نماثلا دنبلا

 .م31/12/3202 يف ةيهتنملا
 
 ةـيلاملا ةنـسلا للاـخ مهتافرـصت نـع ةرادلإا سـلجم ءاـضعأ ةمذ ءاربإ ةماعلا ةيعمجلا تررق 
 .م31/12/2023 يف ةيهتنملا

 
 كـنبلا تاباـسحل نيققدـمك غـنويو تـسنرا ةداـسلا نييعت ةداعإ يـف رـظنلا -: عساتلا دنبلا

 ةــــقفاوم ذــــخا دــــعب ،م4220 ربمـــسيد 31 يــــف ةــــيهتنملا ةــــيلاملا ةنـــسلل
 .مهباعتأ ديدحتب ةرادلإا سلجم ليوختو يزكرملا نيرحبلا فرصم ةداسلا

 
 ةـسسؤملا تاباسحل نيققدمك )غنويو تسنرا( ةداسلا نييعت ةداعإ ةماعلا ةيعمجلا تررق

 ،مهباــعتأ دــيدحت يــف قــحلا ةرادلإا ســلجم لــيوخت عــم م31/12/2024 يــف ةــيهتنملا ةــيلاملا ةنــسلل
 .نييعتلا اذه يف يزكرملا نيرحبلا فرصم ةعنامم مدع اهتظحلام دعب كلذو

 
 يف ةرادإ سلجم وضعك ناوعك دلاخ /روتكدلا نييعت ىلع ةقداصملا -: رشاعلا دنبلا

  .كنبلا ةرادإ سلجم
 
 /روتكدلا نييعت ىلع ةقداصملا ةماعلا ةيعمجلا نم ةرادلإا سلجم سيئر ديسلا بلط

 يف ةيتاذلا هتريس نم هذبن ةدراولاو( كنبلا ةرادإ سلجم يف ةرادإ سلجم وضعك ناوعك دلاخ
 لمكيل م2023 ويلوي يف كنبلا ةرادإ سلجم ىلا مضنا يذلاو ،)ةيعمجلا بيتك نم 152 ةحفصلا
 اقفو كلذو ،)م2023 ويلوي يف ةرادلإا سلجم رداغ يذلا( ةدقعلا قوراف روتكدلا هفلس ةدم
 ةيعمجلا تدافأ ثيح ،ةسسؤملل يساسلأا ماظنلا نم يلاوتلا ىلع 20و 19 نيتداملا ماكحلأ
 .كنبلا ةرادإ سلجم يف ةرادإ سلجم وضعك ناوعك دلاخ /روتكدلا نييعت ىلع اهتقداصمب ةماعلا

 
 ةـقلاعلا تاذ فارـطلأا عـم تلاماعملا ىلع ةماعلا ةيعمجلا علاطإ -: رشع يداحلا دنبلا

 دراو وـه اـمكو ةـيراجتلا تاكرـشلا نوناـق نم )ج (189 ةداملا بسح
 ةــيلاملا ةنــسلل ةدــحوملا ةــيلاملا مئاوــقلا نــم 82 مــقر حاــضيلإا يــف
 .م31/12/3202 يف ةيهتنملا

 

 

 لــبق نــم اــهدامتعا مــت يــتلاو ،)"تآــفاكملا ةــسايس"( ةرادلإا ســلجم ءاــضعأ تآــفاكمب ةــصاخلا
ــــقفو م2021 سراــــم 23 يــــف ةــــماعلا ةــــيعمجلا  يــــساسلأا ماــــظنلا نــــم )ب( 28 ةداــــملا ماــــكحلأ اً
 ةـيداعلا ةـماعلا ةـيعمجلا عاـمتجا داـقعنا نيـح ىـلإ تاونـس عـبرأ ةدـمل ةيراس لظت نأ ىلع ةسسؤملل
 اذــه رارمتــسا يــف ةقبــسملا ةرازوــلا ةــقفاوم تذــخأ ةــسسؤملا نأ اــمتتخم ... م2025 يــف كــنبلل
 :ةلوادملا دعبو ...هركذ مت ام بسحب ةدمتعملا تاءارجلإا عم هقافتاو عيزوتلا
 
 ةـــغلابلا م2023 ةنـــسل ةرادلإا ســـلجم ءاـــضعأ ةأـــفاكم ىـــلع ةقداـــصملا ةـــماعلا ةـــيعمجلا تررـــق"

 ."ةراجتلاو ةعانصلا ةرازو ةداسلا ةقفاوم ذخأ مت نأ دعب كلذو ،يكيرمأ رلاود 1.206.667
 
 ةـــيلاملا ةنـــسلا للاـــخ مهتافرـــصت نـــع ةرادلإا ســـلجم ءاـــضعأ ةـــمذ ءارـــبا -: نماثلا دنبلا

 .م31/12/3202 يف ةيهتنملا
 
 ةـيلاملا ةنـسلا للاـخ مهتافرـصت نـع ةرادلإا سـلجم ءاـضعأ ةمذ ءاربإ ةماعلا ةيعمجلا تررق 
 .م31/12/2023 يف ةيهتنملا

 
 كـنبلا تاباـسحل نيققدـمك غـنويو تـسنرا ةداـسلا نييعت ةداعإ يـف رـظنلا -: عساتلا دنبلا

 ةــــقفاوم ذــــخا دــــعب ،م4220 ربمـــسيد 31 يــــف ةــــيهتنملا ةــــيلاملا ةنـــسلل
 .مهباعتأ ديدحتب ةرادلإا سلجم ليوختو يزكرملا نيرحبلا فرصم ةداسلا

 
 ةـسسؤملا تاباسحل نيققدمك )غنويو تسنرا( ةداسلا نييعت ةداعإ ةماعلا ةيعمجلا تررق

 ،مهباــعتأ دــيدحت يــف قــحلا ةرادلإا ســلجم لــيوخت عــم م31/12/2024 يــف ةــيهتنملا ةــيلاملا ةنــسلل
 .نييعتلا اذه يف يزكرملا نيرحبلا فرصم ةعنامم مدع اهتظحلام دعب كلذو

 
 يف ةرادإ سلجم وضعك ناوعك دلاخ /روتكدلا نييعت ىلع ةقداصملا -: رشاعلا دنبلا

  .كنبلا ةرادإ سلجم
 
 /روتكدلا نييعت ىلع ةقداصملا ةماعلا ةيعمجلا نم ةرادلإا سلجم سيئر ديسلا بلط

 يف ةيتاذلا هتريس نم هذبن ةدراولاو( كنبلا ةرادإ سلجم يف ةرادإ سلجم وضعك ناوعك دلاخ
 لمكيل م2023 ويلوي يف كنبلا ةرادإ سلجم ىلا مضنا يذلاو ،)ةيعمجلا بيتك نم 152 ةحفصلا
 اقفو كلذو ،)م2023 ويلوي يف ةرادلإا سلجم رداغ يذلا( ةدقعلا قوراف روتكدلا هفلس ةدم
 ةيعمجلا تدافأ ثيح ،ةسسؤملل يساسلأا ماظنلا نم يلاوتلا ىلع 20و 19 نيتداملا ماكحلأ
 .كنبلا ةرادإ سلجم يف ةرادإ سلجم وضعك ناوعك دلاخ /روتكدلا نييعت ىلع اهتقداصمب ةماعلا

 
 ةـقلاعلا تاذ فارـطلأا عـم تلاماعملا ىلع ةماعلا ةيعمجلا علاطإ -: رشع يداحلا دنبلا

 دراو وـه اـمكو ةـيراجتلا تاكرـشلا نوناـق نم )ج (189 ةداملا بسح
 ةــيلاملا ةنــسلل ةدــحوملا ةــيلاملا مئاوــقلا نــم 82 مــقر حاــضيلإا يــف
 .م31/12/3202 يف ةيهتنملا
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 حاضيلاا ىلع اهعلاطاب ةدافلإا ةماعلا ةيعمجلا نم ةرادلإا سلجم سيئر ديسلا بلط
 نم 118 ص( م31/12/2023 يف ةيهتنملا ةيلاملا ةنسلل ةدحوملا ةيلاملا مئاوقلا نم 28 مقر
 .ةماعلا ةيعمجلا عامتجا لبق نيمهاسملا ةداسلا ىلع اهعيزوت مت امك )ةماعلا ةيعمجلا بيتك
 

 ةدحوملا ةيلاملا مئاوقلا نم 28 مقر حاضيلاا ىلع اهعلاطاب ةماعلا ةيعمجلا تدافأ ثيح
 .م31/12/2023 يف ةيهتنملا ةيلاملا ةنسلل

 
 تاكرشلا نوناق نم 207 ةداملا صنل اًقبط لامعأ نم دجتسي ام -: رشع يناثلا دنبلا

 .ةيراجتلا

 نوناق نم م207 ةداملا صنل اقبط ةدجتسم دونب يأ دوجو مدع ةماعلا ةيعمجلا تلجس 
  .ةيراجتلا تاكرشلا

 

 

 مهركــش نــع نومهاــسملا ةداــسلا برــعأ ،ةــيداعلا ةــماعلا ةــيعمجلا لاــمعأ ماــتخ يــفو
 سيـئر ديـسلا لجـس اـمك ،ةـسسؤملا ةريـسم يـف مهتـقث نيددـجم ،نيمهاسملا رابكو ةرادلإا سلجمل
 نيرــحبلا ةــكلمم كــلم ةــفيلخ لاّ ىــسيع نــب دــمح كــلملا ةــللاجلا بحاــصل لــيزجلا هركــش ةــيعمجلا
 ءارزوــلا سيــئر دــهعلا يــلو  ةــفيلخ لاّ ىــسيع نــب دــمح نــب ناملــس رــيملأا يــكلملا ومــسلا بحاــصو
 ناملـس خيـشلا ةداعـس اـضيأ هركـشب صـخ امك...ةـسسؤملل مئادـلا مـهمعد ىلع ىلعلأا دئاقلا بئان
 ةراـجتلاو ةعانـصلا رـيزو ورـخف لداـع نـب هـللا دـبع /ديـسلا ةداعـسو ةيلاملا ريزو ةفيلخ لآ ةفيلخ نب
 هــمعد ىــلع يزــكرملا نيرــحبلا فرــصم ظفاــحم نادــيمح دــلاخ ديــسلا ةداعــسو نيرــحبلا ةــكلمم يــف
 نيرـحبلا ةـصروبل يذـيفنتلا سيئرـلا ةـفيلخ لآ ميهاربا نب ةفيلخ خيشلا ةداعسو ةـسسؤملل مئادلا
 تاــينمتلا بــيطأ نــع روــضحلا ةداــسلل برــعأ اــمك ،ةــسسؤملل مئادــلا اــضيأ مــهمعد ىــلع كــلذو
 ريخلاــب ةــميركلا ةبــسانملا هذــه دــيعي نأ لــجو زــع ىلوــملا لاًئاــس ،كراــبملا ناــضمر رهــش ةبــسانمب
   .ةيملاسلإاو ةيبرعلا نيتملأاو نيرحبلا ةكلمم ىلع تاكربلاو

 
 .ارهظ ةدحاولا ىلإ ريشت ةعاسلاو ةسلجلا تعفر ،لامعلأا لودج دونب يف رظنلا ءاهتنابو
 
     

_______________      _____________  

  ريبكلا رمع قيدصلا                   بياش قلاخلا دبع   

 ةماعلا ةيعمجلا سيئر                ةماعلا ةيعمجلا رس نيمأ
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2024 - A YEAR OF PERFORMANCE WITH 

PURPOSE. 

On behalf of the Board of Directors of Bank ABC 

Group, I am honored to present the 2024 Directors’ 

Report to our esteemed shareholders.

The past year has been marked by remarkable 

achievements, characterised by outstanding 

performance, resilience and innovation. Bank ABC 

has not only met but exceeded expectations, 

focusing on our strategic intent to remain MENA’s 

International Bank of the Future. 

Our resolve is evident in the Group’s exceptional 

financial performance and in our commitment to 

building an innovative, sustainable and inclusive 

institution. In 2024, we attained record-breaking 

results, with revenues, net profit and ROE reaching 

unprecedented levels in the Bank’s history. These 

milestones highlight the effectiveness of the Bank’s 

strategy and the dedication of its talented team.

2024 Economic Review

The global economic environment has been 

characterised by volatility, with elevated interest 

rates affecting credit demand at the start of the 

year, followed by softening of inflation concerns 

prompting major central banks to initiate 

monetary easing actions. Subsequently, post 

the US election, fears of inflationary pressures 

re-emerged, shifting sentiment back towards 

a slower pace of interest rate cuts. Global GDP 

growth was also dampened, decelerating to 

an estimated 3.2%, down from 3.3% in 2023. 

MENA region’s growth was an estimated 2% in 

2024, up from 1.9% in 2023, with OPEC related 

oil production curbs in major oil producing 

economies weighing on headline activity. Real 

GDP growth in in the GCC – a major oil producing 

region - was an estimated 1.3%, up from 0.4% in 

2023, veiling strong non-oil growth estimated at 

3.7%, up from 3.6% in 2023.  

The geopolitical landscape was also complex, 

marked by challenges and uncertainties. 

Nevertheless, despite tensions such as the 

Russia-Ukraine and Middle Eastern conflicts, 

Bank ABC’s deep market insight, clear strategic 

direction and operational excellence enabled us to 

successfully navigate the turbulent conditions.

Record Financial Performance

In the face of these challenges, Bank ABC 

demonstrated record financial performance 

in 2024, reaching the highest-ever levels in 

the Group’s history from continuing business 
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operations. Net profit reached US$285 million, 

reflecting a 21% year-on-year increase, driven by 

higher average asset volumes, rigorous operating 

expense management and controlled cost of risk.

Total Operating Income increased to US$1,339 

million, representing a 5% rise year-on-year, with 

strong diversification across business lines. The 

total asset base expanded to US$46.3 billion 

supported by underlying growth in loans and 

securities. With income growth exceeding cost 

growth (positive “jaws” of 3%), the cost-to-income 

ratio improved by 2% to 57.7% continuing to absorb 

significant investments in digital transformation.

Return on Equity reached an annualised rate of 

7% up from 5.8% in 2023, and earnings per share 

increased to US$0.086 up from US$0.070, also 

record-high levels, reinforcing our commitment to 

delivering sustainable shareholder value.

Excellent Progress on Strategic Plan

Bank ABC continues to make rapid progress on 

its 2023-2026 strategic plan, with this success 

being underpinned by focused execution across 

the three key pillars of our strategic roadmap:

•	 Pillar 1: Accelerating Our Core Businesses:

	 Bank ABC achieved outstanding growth 

across its core businesses in 2024. Wholesale 

Bank delivered a near double-digit income 

growth, driven by capital-light products, 

increased cross-sell, and leveraging new digital 

platforms. Group Treasury and Financial 

Markets also excelled in its capital markets 

business, Notably, achieving a record-breaking 

level of syndications, and working with Bank 

ABC Islamic on landmark transactions such as 

AerCap’s USD 500 million Sukuk.

	 Retail Banking significantly expanded its 

customer base and product offering across 

MENA markets despite regional geopolitical 

pressures, while Banco ABC Brasil achieved 

strong underlying revenue growth, focusing 

on building its middle market corporate 

customer base, product diversification and 

new strategic initiatives. 

•	 Pillar 2: Maximising the Value of Our 

Digital Units

	 Bank ABC’s digital businesses, ila Bank and 

Arab Financial Services (AFS), continued to 

innovate to realise fast-paced revenue growth 

and expand market share. 

	 ila Bank celebrated its fifth anniversary and 

reinforced its leadership in digital mobile-only 

retail banking. It accelerated growth in its 
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customer base and revenues and enhanced 

its customer value proposition by launching 

innovative new investment products and 

other service improvements.  Notably, ila also 

secured a new partnership with Bahrain’s 

national carrier, Gulf Air, to launch a co-branded 

Mastercard in early 2025, once again uplifting 

digital banking standards across the region. 

	 AFS continued its regional expansion with 

another year of excellent revenue growth, 

enlarging its banking processing and 

merchant acquiring businesses and boosting 

transaction volumes. Another key milestone 

was securing a license in UAE to launch 

operations in January 2025, allowing access 

to another strategic market to leverage 

its infrastructure and further accelerate 

performance.  

	 All of these achievements underscore the 

strategic importance to Bank ABC on digital 

innovation and transformation to create long-

term shareholder value and to future-proof 

our business and operating model. 

•	 Pillar 3: Strengthening Our Operating Model

	 The Group bolstered its operating model 

through investments in technology, 

process optimisation, and innovation. Key 

achievements included enhancements to the 

Wholesale banking digital platforms for trade 

finance, supply chain and cash management 

capabilities across the network.

	 Bank ABC’s AI programme continued to 

be a cornerstone of the Group’s innovation 

strategy, with pilot projects improving 

productivity and enhancing customer 

experiences. Additionally, the successful 

completion of Blockchain-based cross-border 

payments using tokenised deposits earned 

regional recognition for innovation.

	 A new Information Technology and Digital 

Organisational Model was launched to further 

support agility and use of AI and Robotic 

Automation to drive operational efficiency 

and improve customer experience. Moreover, 

investment is taking place to transform the 

Group’s Core Banking platform to be cloud-

native, strengthening infrastructure and 

allowing for greater pace of innovation in 

products and services across the franchise.  

2024 Sustainability Update 

Sustainability is also a key element to strengthen 

our operating model, demonstrating the Bank’s 

dedication to responsible stewardship. In 2024, 

we made great strides in delivering a three-year 

program to integrate sustainability across the 

Bank, as well as publishing our inaugural Group 

Sustainability Disclosures Report for 2023.  

Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) 

indicators were tracked to measure and manage 

our sustainability journey effectively, creating a 

‘baseline’ data set that will inform the three-year 

action plan. These efforts extended to capturing 

vital environmental metrics from our operations 

and suppliers and initiating analysis of the 

Group’s scope 3 financing emissions. 

The Bank is also integrating sustainability into 

client-facing teams, as it accelerates provision 

of sustainable finance to the customer base. 

New processes were developed to deepen the 

understanding of clients’ ESG risks and enhance 

client engagement. These were accompanied 

by the launch of innovative sustainable finance 

products, to build leadership in this critical area of 

future-orientated financial services. 
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Bank ABC’s commitment to social responsibility 

was further evidenced by measurement of social 

ESG KPIs, including the strengthening of our 

Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion (DEI) approach. 

In addition, the Bank conducted an employee 

engagement survey, ensuring that the Group’s 

strategic transformation journey is both inclusive 

and collaborative.

Recognition of Excellence

Bank ABC’s achievements continue to be 

recognised, with 27 prestigious awards in 2024, 

affirming its leadership in innovation, digital 

transformation and client-centric solutions, with a 

selection outlined as follows:

The Bank was honoured as the ‘Best Bank in 

the Middle East’ for Transaction Banking and 

Innovation in Digital Banking by The Banker- FT. 

Additionally, Bank ABC was recognised as the 

‘Best Trade Finance Bank in the Middle East’ by 

Global Finance and Global Trade Review, further 

underscoring leadership in trade finance. 

The Bank was also celebrated as ‘Bahrain’s Best 

Digital Bank’ by the Euromoney Awards for 

Excellence, alongside ila Bank winning the ‘Best 

Digital Bank in Bahrain’ at the MENA Banking 

Excellence Awards by MEED. ABC Labs retains 

its position as one of the World’s Best Financial 

Innovation Labs. 

Furthermore, Bank ABC’s financial markets 

capabilities were recognised with the ‘Global 

Sovereign Sukuk Deal of the Year’ for its pivotal 

role as Joint Lead Manager and Bookrunner in 

a US$1 billion Sukuk for Bahrain’s Ministry of 

Finance and National Economy, as awarded by 

BLS Middle East. 

Looking Ahead to 2025 

As 2025 begins, Bank ABC remains vigilant 

to the continuing geopolitical and economic 

uncertainties. In this evolving landscape, the 

Group is pursuing its clear strategic direction, 

prioritising operational resilience and continuing 

to maintain its strong balance sheet and capital 

ratios. Moreover, innovation remains a core value 

driver for the Bank, enabling it to harness its 

investments in digital capabilities and drive better 

client experience, operational efficiency and 

financial performance.
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Board of Directors’ Remuneration Details 

The aggregate remuneration paid to Board 

members in 2024 amounted to US$2,148,303 

(2023: US$1,897,023), which was divided between 

the three elements as follows:
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Fixed remunerations Variable remunerations

Name

First: Independent Directors:

Dr. Khaled Kawan 156,962 18,000 - 28,772 203,734 - - - - - - - -

Dr. Ibrahim El Danfour 156,962 19,500 - 104,577 281,039 - - - - - - - -

Mr. Abdullah Al Humaidhi 156,962 18,000 - 73,610 248,572 - - - - - - - -

Mr. Khalil Nooruddin 174,402 19,500 - 32,491 226,394 - - - - - - - -

Second: Non-Executive Directors:

Mr. Saddek Omar 
El Kaber

204,283 9,000 - 57,667 270,950 - - - - - - - -

Mr. Mohammad Saleem 172,736 10,500 - 40,185 223,421 - - - - - - - -

Mr. Ashraf Mukhtar 127,895 9,000 - 51,905 188,800 - - - - - - - -

Dr. Tarik Yousef 156,962 21,000 - 126,056 304,018 - - - - - - - -

Ms. Huda Al Mousa 145,335 16,500 - 39,540 201,375 - - - - - - - -

Third: Executive Directors: 

- - - - - - - - - - - - - -

Total 1,452,500 141,000 - 554,803 2,148,303 - - - - - - - -

*Travel and accommodation costs.

Note: The aggregate remuneration paid to the members of the Remuneration Committee with respect 
to their membership of such committee for the year 2024 was US$20,000, which sum is included in the 
Retainer fee (2023: US$20,000). 

No Director owned or traded Bank ABC shares in 2024.
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Executive Management Remuneration Details:

Executive management

Total paid 
salaries and 
allowances 

Total paid 
remuneration 
(Bonus) 

Any other 
cash/ in kind 
remuneration 
for 2024

Aggregate 
Amount

Remunerations of top 6 
executives, including CEO and 
Head of Finance & Administration

5,539,944 5,095,196 253,963 10,889,103

Note: All amounts stated are in US Dollars.

Saddek Omar El Kaber

Chairman

9 February 2025

Mohammad Abdulredha Saleem 

Deputy Chairman 
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A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited 

 

Ernst & Young - Middle East 
P O Box 140 
10th Floor, East Tower 
Bahrain World Trade Centre 
Manama 
Kingdom of Bahrain 

Tel: +973 1753 5455 
Fax: +973 1753 5405 
manama@bh.ey.com 
C.R. No. 29977-1 

 
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF  
ARAB BANKING CORPORATION (B.S.C.) 
 
 
Report on the audit of the consolidated financial statements  
 
Opinion 
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Arab Banking Corporation (B.S.C.) 
(“the Bank”) and its subsidiaries (together “the Group”), which comprise the consolidated 
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024 and the consolidated statement of profit 
or loss, consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of cash flows 
and consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended, and notes to the 
consolidated financial statements, including material accounting policy information. 
 
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material 
respects, the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2024, and its 
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards issued by the International Accounting Standards 
Board (IASB). 
 
Basis for opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 'Auditor’s responsibilities for 
the audit of the consolidated financial statements' section of our report. We are independent of 
the Group in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ 
International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International Independence 
Standards) (“IESBA Code”) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit 
of the financial statements in the Kingdom of Bahrain, and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA Code. We believe that the 
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
 
Key audit matters 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance 
in our audit of the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024. These 
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a 
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these 
matters. For each matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided 
in that context. 
 
We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the 'Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the 
consolidated financial statements' section of our report, including in relation to these matters.  
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to our 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The 
results of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address the matter below, 
provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial statements. 
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Ernst & Young - Middle East 
P O Box 140 
10th Floor, East Tower 
Bahrain World Trade Centre 
Manama 
Kingdom of Bahrain 

Tel: +973 1753 5455 
Fax: +973 1753 5405 
manama@bh.ey.com 
C.R. No. 29977-1 

 
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF  
ARAB BANKING CORPORATION (B.S.C.) 
 
 
Report on the audit of the consolidated financial statements  
 
Opinion 
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Arab Banking Corporation (B.S.C.) 
(“the Bank”) and its subsidiaries (together “the Group”), which comprise the consolidated 
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024 and the consolidated statement of profit 
or loss, consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of cash flows 
and consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended, and notes to the 
consolidated financial statements, including material accounting policy information. 
 
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material 
respects, the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2024, and its 
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards issued by the International Accounting Standards 
Board (IASB). 
 
Basis for opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 'Auditor’s responsibilities for 
the audit of the consolidated financial statements' section of our report. We are independent of 
the Group in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ 
International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International Independence 
Standards) (“IESBA Code”) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit 
of the financial statements in the Kingdom of Bahrain, and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA Code. We believe that the 
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
 
Key audit matters 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance 
in our audit of the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024. These 
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a 
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these 
matters. For each matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided 
in that context. 
 
We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the 'Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the 
consolidated financial statements' section of our report, including in relation to these matters.  
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to our 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The 
results of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address the matter below, 
provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial statements. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF  
ARAB BANKING CORPORATION (B.S.C.) (continued) 
 
 
Report on the audit of the consolidated financial statements (continued) 
 
Key audit matters (continued) 
 
Impairment provision for loans and advances 
 

Description of key audit matter How the key audit matter was addressed in 
the audit 
 

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (IFRS 9) 
requires use of expected credit loss ("ECL") 
models for the purposes of calculating 
impairment loss against loans and advances 
carried at amortised cost and FVOCI. The 
process for estimating the impairment 
provision on loans and advances in 
accordance with IFRS 9 is a significant and 
complex area, due to the subjective nature of 
ECL calculation and the level of estimation 
involved. 
 
 

Our approach included testing the controls 
associated with the relevant processes for 
estimating ECL and performing substantive 
procedures on such estimates. Our 
procedures, among others, focused on 
following: 
 
● We assessed: 

- the compliance of Group’s IFRS 9 based 
impairment provisioning policy including 
the determination of significant increase in 
credit risk criteria with the requirements of 
IFRS 9 and regulatory guidelines; 
- the Group’s ECL modelling techniques, 
methodology and underlying assumptions 
against the requirements of IFRS 9; 
- the basis of determination of any 
management overlays applied by the 
Group’s management to incorporate the 
effects of the current and future economic 
outlook; 
- the theoretical soundness and tested the 
mathematical integrity of the models on a 
sample basis. 

 
 
  

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF  
ARAB BANKING CORPORATION (B.S.C.) (continued) 
 
 
Report on the audit of the consolidated financial statements (continued) 
 
Key audit matters (continued) 
 
Impairment provision for loans and advances 
 

Description of key audit matter How the key audit matter was addressed in 
the audit 
 

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (IFRS 9) 
requires use of expected credit loss ("ECL") 
models for the purposes of calculating 
impairment loss against loans and advances 
carried at amortised cost and FVOCI. The 
process for estimating the impairment 
provision on loans and advances in 
accordance with IFRS 9 is a significant and 
complex area, due to the subjective nature of 
ECL calculation and the level of estimation 
involved. 
 
 

Our approach included testing the controls 
associated with the relevant processes for 
estimating ECL and performing substantive 
procedures on such estimates. Our 
procedures, among others, focused on 
following: 
 
● We assessed: 

- the compliance of Group’s IFRS 9 based 
impairment provisioning policy including 
the determination of significant increase in 
credit risk criteria with the requirements of 
IFRS 9 and regulatory guidelines; 
- the Group’s ECL modelling techniques, 
methodology and underlying assumptions 
against the requirements of IFRS 9; 
- the basis of determination of any 
management overlays applied by the 
Group’s management to incorporate the 
effects of the current and future economic 
outlook; 
- the theoretical soundness and tested the 
mathematical integrity of the models on a 
sample basis. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF  
ARAB BANKING CORPORATION (B.S.C.) (continued) 
 
 
Report on the audit of the consolidated financial statements (continued) 
 
Key audit matters (continued) 
 
Impairment provision for loans and advances (continued) 
 

Description of key audit matter How the key audit matter was addressed in 
the audit 
 

Additional subjectivity and judgement has 
been introduced into measurement of ECL 
due to the uncertainty associated with the 
impact of current economic outlook and 
uncertain geopolitical situation in countries 
where the Group and its customers operate. 
Due to the complexity of ECL related IFRS 9 
requirements, effect of the matters stated 
above, significance of the judgements applied 
in determination of ECL and the Group’s 
exposure to loans and advances forming a 
major portion of the Group’s assets, the audit 
of ECL is a key area of focus. 
 

● We obtained an understanding of the 
design and tested the operating 
effectiveness of relevant controls over the 
ECL models, including approvals for any 
changes to the models, ongoing monitoring 
/ validation, model governance and 
mathematical accuracy. We have also 
tested the completeness and accuracy of 
the data used and evaluated the 
reasonableness of the management 
assumptions. 

 
● We understood and assessed the 

significant modelling assumptions adopted 
by the Group for calculating ECL against 
exposures as well as process and basis for 
arriving at ECL related management 
overlays.  

 
 
  

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF  
ARAB BANKING CORPORATION (B.S.C.) (continued) 
 
 
Report on the audit of the consolidated financial statements (continued) 
 
Key audit matters (continued) 
 
Impairment provision for loans and advances (continued) 
 

Description of key audit matter How the key audit matter was addressed in 
the audit 
 

Additional subjectivity and judgement has 
been introduced into measurement of ECL 
due to the uncertainty associated with the 
impact of current economic outlook and 
uncertain geopolitical situation in countries 
where the Group and its customers operate. 
Due to the complexity of ECL related IFRS 9 
requirements, effect of the matters stated 
above, significance of the judgements applied 
in determination of ECL and the Group’s 
exposure to loans and advances forming a 
major portion of the Group’s assets, the audit 
of ECL is a key area of focus. 
 

● We obtained an understanding of the 
design and tested the operating 
effectiveness of relevant controls over the 
ECL models, including approvals for any 
changes to the models, ongoing monitoring 
/ validation, model governance and 
mathematical accuracy. We have also 
tested the completeness and accuracy of 
the data used and evaluated the 
reasonableness of the management 
assumptions. 

 
● We understood and assessed the 

significant modelling assumptions adopted 
by the Group for calculating ECL against 
exposures as well as process and basis for 
arriving at ECL related management 
overlays.  
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF  
ARAB BANKING CORPORATION (B.S.C.) (continued) 
 
 
Report on the audit of the consolidated financial statements (continued) 
 
Key audit matters (continued) 
 
Impairment provision for loans and advances (continued) 
 

Description of key audit matter How the key audit matter was addressed in 
the audit 
 

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s gross 
loans and advances amounted to US$ 19,266 
million and the related ECL amounted to US$ 
617 million, comprising US$ 204 million of 
ECL against Stage 1 and 2 exposures and 
US$ 413 million of ECL against exposures 
classified under Stage 3.  
 
The basis of calculation of ECL is presented 
in note 4 “summary of material accounting 
policies” and note 26 “risk management” to 
the consolidated financial statements. 
Material accounting judgements, estimates 
and assumptions and disclosures of loans 
and advances and credit risk are included in 
notes 4, 9 and 26 respectively to the 
consolidated financial statements. 
 

● For a sample of exposures, we performed 
procedures to evaluate: 

 
- Appropriateness of exposure at default, 
probability of default and loss given default 
(including collateral values used) in the 
calculation of ECL; 
- Timely identification of exposures with a 
significant increase in credit risk and 
appropriateness of the Group’s staging; 
and 
- Appropriateness of the ECL calculation. 

 
● For forward looking information used by the 

Group’s management in its ECL 
calculations, we held discussions with 
management and checked internal 
approvals by management for the 
economic outlook used for purposes of 
calculating ECL;  

 
● We considered the adequacy of the 

disclosures included in the consolidated 
financial statements in relation to 
impairment of loans and advances as 
required under IFRS Accounting 
Standards. 

 
We also involved our specialists in performing 
the above procedures. 
 

 
 
  

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF  
ARAB BANKING CORPORATION (B.S.C.) (continued) 
 
 
Report on the audit of the consolidated financial statements (continued) 
 
Key audit matters (continued) 
 
Impairment provision for loans and advances (continued) 
 

Description of key audit matter How the key audit matter was addressed in 
the audit 
 

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s gross 
loans and advances amounted to US$ 19,266 
million and the related ECL amounted to US$ 
617 million, comprising US$ 204 million of 
ECL against Stage 1 and 2 exposures and 
US$ 413 million of ECL against exposures 
classified under Stage 3.  
 
The basis of calculation of ECL is presented 
in note 4 “summary of material accounting 
policies” and note 26 “risk management” to 
the consolidated financial statements. 
Material accounting judgements, estimates 
and assumptions and disclosures of loans 
and advances and credit risk are included in 
notes 4, 9 and 26 respectively to the 
consolidated financial statements. 
 

● For a sample of exposures, we performed 
procedures to evaluate: 

 
- Appropriateness of exposure at default, 
probability of default and loss given default 
(including collateral values used) in the 
calculation of ECL; 
- Timely identification of exposures with a 
significant increase in credit risk and 
appropriateness of the Group’s staging; 
and 
- Appropriateness of the ECL calculation. 

 
● For forward looking information used by the 

Group’s management in its ECL 
calculations, we held discussions with 
management and checked internal 
approvals by management for the 
economic outlook used for purposes of 
calculating ECL;  

 
● We considered the adequacy of the 

disclosures included in the consolidated 
financial statements in relation to 
impairment of loans and advances as 
required under IFRS Accounting 
Standards. 

 
We also involved our specialists in performing 
the above procedures. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF  
ARAB BANKING CORPORATION (B.S.C.) (continued) 
 
 
Report on the audit of the consolidated financial statements (continued) 
 
Other information included in the Group’s 2024 annual report 
Other information consists of the information included in the Group’s 2024 annual report, other 
than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. The Board of 
Directors is responsible for the other information. Prior to the date of this auditor's report, we 
obtained the Directors report which forms part of the annual report, and the remaining sections 
of the annual report are expected to be made available to us after that date. 
 
Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and 
we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.  
 
In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read 
the other information identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider 
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements 
or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 
 
If, based on the work we have performed on the other information obtained prior to the date of 
the auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, 
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 
 
Responsibilities of the Board of Directors for the consolidated financial statements 
The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated 
financial statements in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards and for such internal control 
as the Board of Directors determines is necessary to enable the preparation of the consolidated 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. In 
preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Board of Directors is responsible for 
assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters 
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Board of 
Directors either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic 
alternative but to do so. 
 
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to 
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of 
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always 
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and 
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial 
statements. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF  
ARAB BANKING CORPORATION (B.S.C.) (continued) 
 
 
Report on the audit of the consolidated financial statements (continued) 
 
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements (continued) 
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain 
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 
 
- Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial 

statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures 
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting 
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

 
- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control. 

 
- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 

accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Board of Directors. 
 
- Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board of Directors’ use of the going concern basis 

of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability 
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are 
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to 
continue as a going concern. 

 
- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial 

statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements 
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation. 

 
- Plan and perform the Group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding 

the financial information of the entities or business units within the Group as a basis for 
forming an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the 
direction, supervision and review of the audit work performed for the performance of the 
Group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.  
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF  
ARAB BANKING CORPORATION (B.S.C.) (continued) 
 
 
Report on the audit of the consolidated financial statements (continued) 
 
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements (continued) 
We communicate with the audit committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that we identify during our audit. 
 
We also provide the audit committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, 
related safeguards. 
 
From the matters communicated with the audit committee, we determine those matters that were 
of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and 
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law 
or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare 
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because 
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public 
interest benefits of such communication. 
 
Report on other legal and regulatory requirements 
 
As required by the Bahrain Commercial Companies Law and Volume 1 of the Central Bank of 
Bahrain (CBB) Rule Book, we report that: 
 
a)  the Bank has maintained proper accounting records and the consolidated financial 

statements are in agreement therewith; 
 
b)  the financial information contained in the Directors report is consistent with the 

consolidated financial statements; 
 
c)  we are not aware of any violations of the Bahrain Commercial Companies Law, the 

Central Bank of Bahrain and Financial Institutions Law, the CBB Rule Book (Volume 1 
and applicable provisions of Volume 6) and CBB directives, regulations and associated 
resolutions, rules and procedures of the Bahrain Bourse or the terms of the Bank’s 
memorandum and articles of association during the year ended 31 December 2024 that 
might have had a material adverse effect on the business of the Bank or on its 
consolidated financial position; and 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF  
ARAB BANKING CORPORATION (B.S.C.) (continued) 
 
 
Report on other legal and regulatory requirements (continued) 
 
d)  satisfactory explanations and information have been provided to us by management in 

response to all our requests. 
 
The partner in charge of the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Kazim Merchant. 
 

 
 
Partner's registration no: 244 
9 February 2025 
Manama, Kingdom of Bahrain 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF  
ARAB BANKING CORPORATION (B.S.C.) (continued) 
 
 
Report on other legal and regulatory requirements (continued) 
 
d)  satisfactory explanations and information have been provided to us by management in 

response to all our requests. 
 
The partner in charge of the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Kazim Merchant. 
 

 
 
Partner's registration no: 244 
9 February 2025 
Manama, Kingdom of Bahrain 
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The attached notes 1 to 37 from part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Arab Banking Corporation (B.S.C.)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Year ended 31 December 2024

Note 2024 2023

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 351           296          

Other comprehensive (loss) income:
Other comprehensive (loss) income that will be reclassified
    (or recycled) to  profit or loss in subsequent periods:

Foreign currency translation:
Unrealised (loss) gain on exchange translation in foreign subsidiaries (414)          18            

Debt instruments at FVOCI:
Net change in fair value during the year 15 (e) 11             31            

(403)          49            

Other comprehensive income (loss) that will not be reclassified 
     (or recycled) to profit or loss in subsequent periods:

Net change in fair value of FVOCI equity securities
during the year 15 (e)                 4 4              

Net change in pension fund reserve               (1)              -   

                3                4 

Other comprehensive (loss) income for the year (400)          53            

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS) INCOME FOR THE YEAR (49)            349          

Attributable to:

Shareholders of the parent (12)            258          
Non-controlling interests (37)            91            

(49)            349          

All figures in US$ Million

    The attached notes 1 to 37 form part of these consolidated financial statements.____________________________________________________________________________________________
11

The attached notes 1 to 37 from part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Arab Banking Corporation (B.S.C.)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Year ended 31 December 2024

Note 2024 2023

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit for the year 351             296             
Adjustments for:

Credit loss expense 10 143             145             
Depreciation and amortisation 67               65               
Gain on disposal of non-trading debt investments - net 19 (36)              (14)              

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Treasury bills and other eligible bills                  -   38               
Trading securities 1                 (423)            
Placements with banks and other financial institutions (187)            (129)            
Securities bought under repurchase agreements 702             (739)            
Loans and advances (1,692)         (611)            
Other assets (666)            (97)              
Deposits from customers 1,173          2,138          
Deposits from banks 876             231             
Securities sold under repurchase agreements 3,241          4,027          
Other liabilities 400             433             
Exchange rate changes and non-cash movements (418)            20               

Net cash from operating activities 3,955          5,380          

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of non-trading investments (26,835)       (12,953)       
Sale and redemption of non-trading investments 22,032        9,629          
Purchase of premises and equipment (16)              (55)              
Sale of premises and equipment 12               8                 
Investment in subsidiaries - net (1)                3                 

Net cash used in investing activities (4,808)         (3,368)         

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Issue of certificates of deposit 287             442             
Repayment of certificates of deposit (185)            (741)            
Issue of borrowings 161             163             
Repayment of borrowings               (53)             (161)
Interest paid on additional / perpetual tier-1 capital instruments (19)                            (18)
Dividend paid to the Bank's shareholders (70)                            (46)
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests (24)              (28)              

Net cash from (used in) financing activities 97               (389)            

Net change in cash and cash equivalents (756)            1,623          

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (74)              (5)                

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 4,466          2,848          

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF THE YEAR 6 3,636          4,466          

All figures in US$ Million

     The attached notes 1 to 37 form part of these consolidated financial statements.____________________________________________________________________________________________
12

The attached notes 1 to 37 from part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Arab Banking Corporation (B.S.C.)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2024

1

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION

2.1 Statement of compliance

2.2 Accounting convention

2.3 Basis of consolidation

●

●
●

●
●
●

The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities,
income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated
financial statements from the date the Group gains control until the date the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
The Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

INCORPORATION AND ACTIVITIES

Arab Banking Corporation (B.S.C.) ['the Bank'] is incorporated in the Kingdom of Bahrain by an Amiri decree and
operates under a conventional wholesale banking licence issued by the Central Bank of Bahrain [CBB]. The Bank
is a Bahraini Shareholding Company with limited liability and is listed on the Bahrain Bourse. The Central Bank of
Libya is the ultimate parent of the Bank and its subsidiaries (together 'the Group').

The Bank's registered office is at ABC Tower, Diplomatic Area, P.O. Box 5698, Manama, Kingdom of Bahrain.
The Bank is registered under commercial registration number 10299 issued by the Ministry of Industry and
Commerce, Kingdom of Bahrain.

The consolidated financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the
measurement at fair value of derivatives and certain debt and equity financial assets. In addition, as more fully
discussed below, assets and liabilities that are hedged items in fair value hedges, and are otherwise carried at cost,
are adjusted to record changes in fair values attributable to the risk being hedged.

The Group's consolidated financial statements are presented in United States Dollars (US$), which is also the
Bank's functional currency. All values are rounded to the nearest million (US$ million), except when otherwise
indicated.

The Group is a leading provider of Trade Finance, Treasury, Project & Structured Finance, Syndications,
Corporate & Institutional Banking, Islamic Banking services and the digital, mobile-only banking space named "ila
Bank" within retail consumer banking services. Retail banking services are only provided in the MENA region.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group are prepared in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards
issued by International Accounting Standard Board ("IASB") and the relevant provisions of the Bahrain
Commercial Companies Law and the Central Bank of Bahrain and Financial Institutions Law and the CBB
Rulebook (Volume 1 and  applicable provisions of Volume 6) and CBB directives.

Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee, and

The contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee;

Power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that give ability to direct the relevant activities of the
investee);

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Bank and its subsidiaries as at 31
December 2024. Control is achieved when the Group has:

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

The ability to use its power over the investee to influence those returns.

_____________________________________________________________________________________________
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Arab Banking Corporation (B.S.C.)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2024

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

2.3 Basis of consolidation (continued)

2.4 Presentation of consolidated financial statements 

3

3.1 Standards effective for the year

-
-
-
-

What is meant by a right to defer settlement;
That a right to defer must exist at the end of the reporting period;
That classification is unaffected by the likelihood that an entity will exercise its deferral right; and
That only if an embedded derivative in a convertible liability is itself an equity instrument would the
terms of a liability not impact its classification.

The amendments to IAS 1 specify the requirements for classifying liabilities as current or non-current. The
amendments clarify: 

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income (OCI) are attributed to the equity holders of the
parent of the Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a
deficit balance. When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their
accounting policies in line with the Group’s accounting policies. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity,
income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

The accounting policies used in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are consistent with those
used in previous year, except for the adoption of the new and amended standards and interpretations, applicable to
the Group (as listed below), and which are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024. 

The Group has not early adopted any other standard, interpretation or amendment that has been issued but not yet
effective.

NEW AND AMENDED STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS

In addition, an entity is required to disclose when a liability arising from a loan agreement is classified as non-
current and the entity’s right to defer settlement is contingent on compliance with future covenants within twelve
months.

The amendments had no impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to IFRS 16 - Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback
The amendments in IFRS 16 specify the requirements that a seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease liability
arising in a sale and leaseback transaction, to ensure the seller-lessee does not recognise any amount of the gain or
loss that relates to the right of use it retains.

Amendments to IAS 1 - Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current

The amendments had no impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

The Group presents its consolidated statement of financial position in order of liquidity based on the Group's
intention and perceived ability to recover/settle the majority of assets/liabilities of the corresponding consolidated
financial statement line item. An analysis regarding recovery or settlement within 12 months after the reporting
date (current) and more than 12 months after the reporting date (non–current) is presented in Note 26.11. 

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without loss of control, is accounted for as an equity
transaction. If the Bank loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the related assets (including goodwill),
liabilities, non-controlling interests and other components of equity, while any resultant gain or loss is recognised
in profit or loss. Any investment retained is recognised at fair value at the date of loss of control.

_____________________________________________________________________________________________
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Arab Banking Corporation (B.S.C.)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2024

3

3.2 New and amended standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective

4

4.1 Liquid funds

4.2 Cash and cash equivalents

4.3 Trading securities

4.4 Placements with banks and other financial institutions

4.5 Investments in associates

4.6 Premises and equipment

The considerations made in determining significant influence or joint control are similar to those necessary to
determine control over subsidiaries. Investments in associates are accounted for under the equity method of
accounting.

Under the equity method, the investment in an associate or a joint venture is initially recognised at cost. The
carrying amount of the investment is adjusted to recognise changes in the Group’s share of net assets of the
associate or joint venture since the acquisition date.

Premises and equipment are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation and provision for impairment in value, if
any. Freehold land is not depreciated. Depreciation on premises and equipment is provided on a straight-line basis
over their estimated useful lives ranging from 3 to 50 years.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee, but is not control or joint control over
those policies.

Cash and cash equivalents referred to in the consolidated statement of cash flows comprise of cash and non-
restricted balances with central banks, deposits with central banks, treasury bills and other eligible bills with
original maturities of three months or less.

Placements with banks and other financial institutions are initially measured at fair value and subsequently
remeasured at amortised cost, net of any amounts written off and provision for impairment. 

IFRS 19 - Subsidiaries without Public Accountability : Disclosures : effective for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2027.

Liquid funds comprise of cash, nostro balances, balances with central banks and treasury bills and other eligible
bills. Liquid funds are initially measured at their fair value and subsequently remeasured at amortised cost, less
provision for impairment.

Trading securities are initially recorded at fair value. Subsequent to initial measurement, gains and losses arising
from changes in fair values are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss in the period in which they
arise. Interest earned and dividends received are included in 'Interest and similar income' and 'Other operating
income' respectively, in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

NEW AND AMENDED STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS (continued)

IFRS 18 - Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements : replacing IAS 1 - Presentation of Financial
Statements: effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027; and

New and amended standards and interpretations that are issued, but not yet effective, up to the date of issuance of
the Group’s consolidated financial statements are disclosed below. The Group intends to adopt these standards, if
applicable, when they become effective.

Amendments to IAS 21: Lack of exchangeability: effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1
January 2025;

Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 - Classification and Measurement of Financial Instruments: effective for
annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026;

_____________________________________________________________________________________________
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Arab Banking Corporation (B.S.C.)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2024

4

4.7 Intangible assets

4.8 Leases - Group as a lessee
The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. That is, if the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

Lease liabilities
At the commencement date of the lease, the Group recognises lease liabilities measured at the present value of
lease payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments (less any lease
incentives receivable), variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid
under residual value guarantees. The lease payments also include the exercise price of a purchase option
reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease
term reflects exercising the option to terminate. Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate
are recognised as expenses in the period in which the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets
representing the right to use the underlying assets. 

The Group recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e., the date the underlying asset
is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount
of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the lease term. The right-of-use assets are also subject to impairment. The Group discloses right of use assets
under other assets.

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is their fair value at the date of acquisition. Following initial recognition,
intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. 

The Group discloses lease liabilities under other liabilities.

Right-of-use assets

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for
the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a
modification, a change in the lease term, a change in the lease payments (e.g., changes to future payments resulting
from a change in an index or rate used to determine such lease payments) or a change in the assessment of an
option to purchase the underlying asset.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised over the useful economic life (ranging from 3 to 10 years) and
assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The
amortisation period and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at
least at the end of each reporting period. Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortised, but are
tested for impairment annually, either individually or at the cash-generating unit level.

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed as either finite or indefinite.

_____________________________________________________________________________________________
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Arab Banking Corporation (B.S.C.)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2024

4

4.8 Leases - Group as a lessee (continued)

4.9 Collateral repossessed

4.10 Repurchase and reverse repurchase agreements

4.11 Employee pension and other end of service benefits 

4.12 Recognition of income and expenses

4.12.1 The effective interest rate (EIR) method

Any repossessed assets are held for sale at their fair value (if financial assets) and fair value less cost to sell for non-
financial assets at the repossession date in line with the Group’s policy.

If expectations of fixed rate financial assets’ or liabilities’ cash flows are revised for reasons other than credit risk,
then changes to future contractual cash flows are discounted at the original EIR with a consequential adjustment to
the carrying amount. The difference from the previous carrying amount is booked as a positive or negative
adjustment to the carrying amount of the financial asset or liability on the balance sheet with a corresponding
increase or decrease in interest revenue/expense calculated using the effective interest method.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The EIR (and therefore, the amortised cost of the financial asset) is calculated by taking into account transaction
costs and any discount or premium on the acquisition of the financial asset, as well as fees and costs that are an
integral part of the EIR. The Group recognises interest income using a rate of return that represents the best
estimate of a constant rate of return over the expected life of the financial asset. Hence, the EIR calculation also
takes into account the effect of potentially different interest rates that may be charged at various stages of the
financial asset’s expected life, and other characteristics of the product life cycle (including prepayments, penalty
interest and charges).

Under IFRS 9 Financial instruments (IFRS 9), interest income is recorded using the EIR method for all financial
assets measured at amortised cost, interest rate derivatives for which hedge accounting is applied and the related
amortisation/recycling effect of hedge accounting. Interest income on interest bearing financial assets measured at
fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) under IFRS 9 is also recorded using the EIR method.
Interest expense is also calculated using the EIR method for all financial liabilities held at amortised cost. The EIR
is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts or payments through the expected life of the
financial asset or liability or, when appropriate, a shorter period, to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
or liability. 

Assets sold with a simultaneous commitment to repurchase at a specified future date (repos) are not derecognised.
The counterparty liability for amounts received under these agreements are shown as securities sold under
repurchase agreements in the consolidated statement of financial position. The difference between sale and
repurchase price is treated as interest expense and is accrued over the life of the agreement using the effective
interest rate. Assets purchased with a corresponding commitment to resell at a specified future date (reverse repos)
are not recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position, as the Group does not obtain control over the
assets. The difference between purchase and resale price is treated as interest income using the effective yield
method.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Costs relating to employee pension and other end of service benefits are generally accrued in accordance with
actuarial valuations based on prevailing regulations applicable in each location. 

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases of equipment (i.e., those
leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option). It also applies the lease of low-value assets recognition exemption to leases of office equipment that are
considered to be low value. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised as
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

_____________________________________________________________________________________________
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Arab Banking Corporation (B.S.C.)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2024

4

4.12 Recognition of income and expenses (continued)

4.12.1 The effective interest rate (EIR) method (continued)

4.12.2 Interest and similar income/expense

4.12.3 Fee and commission income

Asset management fees

The performance obligations, as well as the timing of their satisfaction, are identified, and determined, at the
inception of the contract. When the Group provides a service to its customers, consideration is invoiced and
generally due immediately upon satisfaction of a service provided at a point in time or at the end of the contract
period for a service provided over time. The Group has generally concluded that it is the principal in its revenue
arrangements because it typically controls the services before transferring them to the customer. 

The Group earns fee and commission income from a diverse range of financial services it provides to its
customers. Fee and commission income is recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the
Group expects to be entitled in exchange for providing the services. 

Net interest income comprises interest income and interest expense calculated using the effective interest method.

For floating-rate financial instruments, periodic re-estimation of cash flows to reflect the movements in the market
rates of interest also alters the effective interest rate, but when instruments were initially recognised at an amount
equal to the principal, re-estimating the future interest payments does not significantly affect the carrying amount
of the asset or the liability. 

The Group calculates interest income on financial assets, other than those considered credit-impaired, by applying
the EIR to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset. 

When a financial asset becomes credit-impaired (therefore regarded as ‘Stage 3’), the Group suspends the
recognition of interest income of the financial asset. If the financial asset cures and is no longer credit-impaired,
the Group reverts to calculating interest income on a gross basis.

The Inter Bank Offered Rate (IBOR) reform Phase 2 amendments allow as a practical expedient for changes to the
basis for determining contractual cash flows to be treated as changes to a floating rate of interest, provided certain
conditions are met. The conditions include that the change is necessary as a direct consequence of IBOR reform
and that the transition takes place on an economically equivalent basis.

These fees are earned for the provision of asset management services, which include portfolio diversification and
rebalancing, typically over defined periods. These services represent a single performance obligation comprised of
a series of distinct services which are substantially the same, being provided continuously over the contract period.
Asset management fees consist of management and performance fees that are considered variable consideration. 

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Performance obligations satisfied over time include asset management and other services, where the customer
simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the Group performs.
The Group’s fee and commission income from services where performance obligations are satisfied over time
include the following:

Management fees are invoiced quarterly and determined based on a fixed percentage of the net asset value of the
funds under management at the end of the quarter. The fees are allocated to each quarter because they relate
specifically to services provided for a quarter, and are distinct from the services provided in other quarters. The
fees generally crystallise at the end of each quarter and are not subject to a clawback. Consequently, revenue from
management fees is generally recognised at the end of each quarter.

_____________________________________________________________________________________________
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Arab Banking Corporation (B.S.C.)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2024

4

4.12 Recognition of income and expenses (continued)

4.12.3 Fee and commission income (continued)

Loan commitment and other fees

4.13 Treasury shares

4.14 Dividends on ordinary shares

4.15 Financial instruments

4.15.1 Date of recognition 

4.15.2 Initial measurement

Own equity instruments that are reacquired (treasury shares) are recognised at cost and deducted from equity. No
gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Group’s own equity
instruments. Any difference between the carrying amount and the consideration, if reissued, is recognised as share
premium.

The classification of financial instruments at initial recognition depends on their contractual terms and the business
model for managing the instruments, as described in notes 4.16 and 4.17.

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset or financial liability at its fair value plus or minus, in
the case of a financial asset or financial liability not at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL), transaction costs
that are incremental and directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of the financial asset or financial liability,
such as fees and commissions. Transaction costs of financial assets and financial liabilities carried at FVTPL are
expensed in profit or loss. Immediately after initial recognition, an expected credit loss (ECL) is recognised for
financial assets measured at amortised cost and investments in debt instruments measured at FVOCI, which results
in an accounting loss being recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss when an asset is newly
originated. When the fair value of financial assets and liabilities at initial recognition differs from the transaction
price, the Group accounts for the Day 1 profit or loss, as described in note 4.15.3.

Dividend on ordinary shares is proposed by the Board of Directors and post approval by the Bank's shareholder is 
deducted from equity.

Financial assets and liabilities, with the exception of loans and advances to customers, deposits to customers and
banks, are initially recognised on the trade date, i.e., the date that the Group becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. This includes regular way trades: purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the time frame generally established by regulation or convention in the market place.
Loans and advances to customers are recognised when funds are transferred to the customers’ accounts. The Group
recognises deposits from customers and banks when funds are received by the Group.

Proposed dividends for the year are disclosed in note 33.2 to these consolidated financial statements.

These are fixed fees paid by customers for loan and other credit facilities with the Group, but where it is unlikely
that a specific lending arrangement will be entered into with the customer and the loan commitment is not
measured at fair value. The Group promises to provide a loan facility for a specified period. As the benefit of the
services is transferred to the customer evenly over the period of entitlement, the fees are recognised as revenue on
a straight-line basis.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

_____________________________________________________________________________________________
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4

4.15 Financial instruments (continued)

4.15.3 Day 1 profit or loss

(a)

(b)

4.16  Financial assets

4.16.1 Debt type instruments - classification and subsequent measurement
The classification requirements for financial assets is as below.

Classification and subsequent measurement of debt instruments depend on:

(i)

(ii)

-

-

-

the cash flow characteristics of the asset i.e. solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI) test.

Based on these factors, the Group classifies its debt instruments into one of the following three measurement
categories:

Fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL): Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or
FVOCI are measured at fair value through profit or loss. The Group may also designate a financial asset
at FVTPL, if so doing eliminates or significantly reduces measurement or recognition inconsistencies. A
gain or loss on a debt investment that is subsequently measured at FVTPL is recognised and presented in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss within 'Other operating income' as 'Gain from trading book' in
the year in which it arises. Interest income from these financial assets is included in ‘Interest and similar
income’ using the EIR method.

Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI): Financial assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows and for selling the assets, where the assets’ cash flows represent SPPI, and that are
not designated at FVTPL, are measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI).
Movements in the carrying amount are taken through other comprehensive income (OCI), except for the
recognition of expected credit losses or writebacks, interest income and foreign exchange gains and
losses. When the financial asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in
OCI is reclassified from equity to profit or loss and recognised in 'Other operating income' as 'Gain or
loss on disposal of non-trading debt investments'. Interest income from these financial assets is included
in ‘Interest and similar income’ using the effective interest rate (EIR) method.

When the fair value is evidenced by a quoted price in an active market for an identical asset or liability
(i.e. a Level 1 input) or based on a valuation technique that uses data only from observable markets, the
difference is recognised as a day 1 gain or loss.

the Group’s business model for managing the asset; and

In all other cases, the difference is deferred and the timing of recognition of deferred day 1 profit or loss
is determined individually. It is either amortised over the life of the instrument, deferred until the
instrument’s fair value can be determined using market observable inputs, or when the instrument is
derecognised.

When the transaction price of the instrument differs from the fair value at origination, the difference is treated as
follows:

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows
represent SPPI, and that are not designated at FVTPL, are measured at amortised cost. The carrying
amount of these assets is adjusted by any ECL allowance recognised and measured. Interest income from
these financial assets is included in ‘Interest and similar income’ using the EIR method.
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4

4.16  Financial assets (continued)

4.16.2 Business model

-

-

-
-

4.16.3 SPPI test

-
-
-
-
-

contingent events that would change the amount and timing of cash flows;
leverage features;

Financial assets that are held for trading and whose performance is evaluated on a fair value basis are measured at
FVTPL because they are neither held to collect contractual cash flows nor held both to collect contractual cash
flows and to sell financial assets.

The business model assessment is based on reasonably expected scenarios without taking 'worst case' or 'stress
case' scenarios into account. 

terms that limit the Group's claim to cash flows from specified assets (e.g. non-recourse asset
arrangements).

prepayment and extension terms; and

Where the contractual terms introduce exposure to risk or volatility that are inconsistent with a basic lending
arrangement, the related financial asset is classified and measured at FVTPL.

Principal for the purpose of this test is defined as the fair value of the financial asset at initial recognition and may
change over the life of the financial asset (for example, if there are repayments of principal or amortisation of the
premium/discount). 

The stated policies and objectives for the portfolio and the operation of those policies in practice. In
particular, whether management's strategy focuses on earning contractual interest revenue, maintaining a
particular interest rate profile, matching the duration of the financial assets to the duration of the
liabilities that are funding those assets or realizing cash flows through the sale of the assets;
How the asset’s and business model performance is evaluated and reported to key management personnel
and Group Asset and Liability Committee (GALCO);

Interest is the consideration for the time value of money, credit risk, other basic lending risks and a profit margin
that is consistent with a basic lending arrangement. 

In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest, the Group considers
the contractual terms of the instrument. This includes assessing whether the financial asset contains a contractual
term that could change the timing or amount of contractual cash flows such that it would not meet this condition. In
making the assessment, the Group considers:

the currency in which the financial asset is denominated, and the period for which the interest rate is set;

How risks are assessed and managed; and
The frequency, volume and timing of sales in prior periods, the reasons for such sales and its expectations
about future sales activity. However, information about sales activity is not considered in isolation, but as
part of an overall assessment of how the Group's stated objective for managing the financial assets is
achieved and how cash flows are realised.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

The Group assesses the contractual terms of financial asset to identify whether they meet the SPPI test.

The Group determines its business model at the level that best reflects how it manages groups of financial assets to
achieve its business objective. The business model reflects how the Group manages the assets in order to generate
cash flows. That is, whether the Group’s objective is solely to collect the contractual cash flows from the assets or
is to collect both the contractual cash flows and cash flows arising from the sale of assets. If neither of these is
applicable (e.g. financial assets are held for trading purposes), then the financial assets are classified as part of
‘held for trading’ business model and measured at FVTPL. The business model assessment is not carried out on an
instrument-by-instrument basis but at the aggregate portfolio level and is based on observable factors such as:
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4.16  Financial assets (continued)

4.16.3 SPPI test (continued)

4.16.4 Reclassification

4.16.5 Equity type instruments - classification and subsequent measurement

4.16.6 Modified or forbearance of loans

-

-

-

-

-

-

Dividends are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss under 'Other operating income' when the
Group’s right to receive payments is established.

Equity instruments are instruments that meet the definition of equity from the issuer’s perspective; that is,
instruments that do not contain a contractual obligation to pay and that evidence a residual interest in the issuer’s
net assets.

Upon initial recognition, the Group elects to irrevocably designate certain equity investments at FVOCI which are
held for purposes other than held for trading. When this election is used, fair value gains and losses are recognised
in other comprehensive income and are not subsequently reclassified to consolidated profit or loss, including on
disposal. Equity investments at FVOCI are not subject to impairment assessment. All other equity investments
which the Group has not irrevocably elected at initial recognition or transition, to classify at FVOCI, are
recognised at FVTPL.

Significant extension of the loan term when the borrower is not in financial difficulty.

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only when its business model for managing those assets
changes. The reclassification takes place from the start of the first reporting period following the change. Such
changes are expected to be very infrequent and none occurred during the year.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety when determining whether their cash
flows are SPPI.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Insertion of collateral, other security or credit enhancements that significantly affect the credit risk
associated with the loan.

The Group sometimes makes concessions or modifications to the original terms of loans as a response to the
borrower’s financial difficulties, rather than taking possession or to otherwise enforce collection of collateral. The
Group considers a loan forborne when such concessions or modifications are provided as a result of the borrower’s
present or expected financial difficulties and the Group would not have agreed to them if the borrower had been
financially healthy. Indicators of financial difficulties include:

If the borrower is in financial difficulty, whether the modification merely reduces the contractual cash
flows to amounts the borrower is expected to be able to pay.

Whether any substantial new terms are introduced, such as a profit share/equity-based return that
substantially affects the risk profile of the loan.

If the terms are substantially different, the Group derecognises the original financial asset and recognises a ‘new’
asset at fair value and recalculates a new EIR for the asset. The date of renegotiation is consequently considered to
be the date of initial recognition for impairment calculation purposes, including for the purpose of determining
whether a significant increase in credit risk has occurred. However, the Group also assesses whether the new
financial asset recognised is deemed to be credit-impaired at initial recognition, especially in circumstances where
the renegotiation was driven by the customer being unable to make the originally agreed payments. Differences in
the carrying amount are also recognised in profit or loss as a gain or loss on derecognition.

Change in the currency the loan is denominated in.

Gains and losses on equity investments at FVTPL are included in the 'Other operating income' as 'Income from
trading book' line in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Significant change in the interest rate.
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4.16  Financial assets (continued)

4.16.6 Modified or forbearance of loans (continued)

-

-

-

4.16.7 Derecognition other than on a modification

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

4.16.8 Derecognition of financial instruments in the context of IBOR reform

The Group enters into transactions where it retains the contractual rights to receive cash flows from assets but
assumes a contractual obligation to pay those cash flows to other entities and transfers substantially all of the risks
and rewards. These transactions are accounted for as ‘pass through’ transfers that result in derecognition if the
Group:

Financial assets, or a portion thereof, are derecognised when the contractual rights to receive the cash flows from
the assets have expired, or when they have been transferred and either (i) the Group transfers substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership, or (ii) the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership and the Group has not retained control.

Is prohibited from selling or pledging the assets; and

In order for the loan to be reclassified out of the forborne category, the customer has to meet all of the following
criteria:

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

The customer does not have any contract that is more than 30 days past due.

Has no obligation to make payments unless it collects equivalent amounts from the assets;

Collateral (shares and bonds) furnished by the Group under standard repurchase agreements and securities lending
and borrowing transactions are not derecognised because the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards
on the basis of the predetermined repurchase price, and the criteria for derecognition are therefore not met.

Regular payments of more than an insignificant amount of principal or interest have been made during
most of the period when asset has been classified as forborne; and

If the terms are not substantially different, the renegotiation or modification does not result in derecognition, and
the Group recalculates the gross carrying amount based on the revised cash flows of the financial asset and
recognises a modification gain or loss in consolidated profit or loss. The new gross carrying amount is recalculated
by discounting the modified cash flows at the original EIR (or credit-adjusted EIR for purchased or originated
credit-impaired financial assets).

Once the terms have been renegotiated, any impairment is measured using the original EIR as calculated before the
modification of terms. It is the Group’s policy to monitor forborne loans to help ensure that future payments
continue to be likely to occur. Derecognition decisions and classification between Stage 2 and Stage 3 are
determined on a case-by-case basis or based on SICR criteria. If these procedures identify a loss in relation to a
loan, it is disclosed and managed as an impaired Stage 3 forborne asset until it is collected or written off or is
transferred back to Stage 2.

As explained in note 4.16.6 and 4.17.2, the Group derecognises financial assets and financial liabilities if there has
been a substantial modification of their terms and conditions. In the context of IBOR reform, all of the financial
instruments have already been amended during 2023 and 2024 as they have transitioned from IBORs to
Accounting Rate of Returns (ARRs) without any derecognition. 

All of its facilities has to be considered performing;

Has an obligation to remit any cash it collects from the assets without material delay.
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4.16  Financial assets (continued)

4.16.8 Derecognition of financial instruments in the context of IBOR reform (continued)

4.17 Financial liabilities

4.17.1 Classification and subsequent measurement

-

-

-

4.17.2 Derecognition

4.18 Financial instruments measured using amortised cost measurement and lease receivables
In the context of IBOR reform, the Group’s assessment of whether a change to an amortised cost financial
instrument is substantial, is made after applying the practical expedient introduced by IBOR reform Phase 2. This
requires the transition from an IBOR to an RFR to be treated as a change to a floating interest rate, as described in
Note 4.12.1.

Financial liabilities are classified as subsequently measured at amortised cost, except for:

Financial liabilities at FVTPL: this classification is applied to derivatives and financial liabilities held for
trading. Gains or losses on financial liabilities designated at FVTPL are presented partially in other
comprehensive income (the amount of change in the fair value of the financial liability that is attributable
to changes in the credit risk of the issuer, which is determined as the amount that is not attributable to
changes in market conditions that give rise to market risk) and partially in profit or loss (the remaining
amount of change in the fair value of the liability). This is unless such a presentation would create, or
enlarge, an accounting mismatch, in which case the gains and losses attributable to changes in the credit
risk of the issuer are also presented in profit or loss;

Financial liabilities arising from the transfer of financial assets which did not qualify for derecognition,
whereby a financial liability is recognised for the consideration received for the transfer. In subsequent
periods, the Group recognises any expense incurred on the financial liability; and

Financial liabilities are derecognised when they are extinguished (i.e. when the obligation specified in the contract
is discharged, cancelled or expires).

Financial guarantee contracts and loan commitments.

For financial instruments measured at amortised cost, the Group applies the practical expedient as described in
note 4.12, to reflect the change in the referenced interest rate from an IBOR to an RFR. For any changes not
covered by the practical expedient, the Group applies judgement to assess whether the changes are substantial and
if they are, the financial instrument is derecognised and a new financial instrument is recognised. If the changes are
not substantial, the Group adjusts the gross carrying amount of the financial instrument by the present value of the
changes not covered by the practical expedient, discounted using the revised EIR.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

The exchange between the Group and its original lenders of debt instruments with substantially different terms, as
well as substantial modifications of the terms of existing financial liabilities, are accounted for as an
extinguishment of the original financial liability and the recognition of a new financial liability. The terms are
substantially different if the discounted present value of the cash flows under the new terms, including any fees
paid net of any fees received and discounted using the original EIR, is at least 10% different from the discounted
present value of the remaining cash flows of the original financial liability. In addition, other qualitative factors,
such as the currency that the instrument is denominated in, changes in the type of interest rate, new conversion
features attached to the instrument and change in covenants are also taken into consideration. If an exchange of
debt instruments or modification of terms is accounted for as an extinguishment, any costs or fees incurred are
recognised as part of the gain or loss on the extinguishment. If the exchange or modification is not accounted for as
an extinguishment, any costs or fees incurred adjust the carrying amount of the liability and are amortised over the
remaining term of the modified liability.
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4.19 Impairment of financial assets

-

-

-

Measurement of ECL

-

-

-

-

●

●

●

●

Stage 2 – Significant increase in credit risk: when a financial asset shows a significant increase in credit
risk, the Group records an allowance for the lifetime ECL.

Reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort at the reporting
date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.

Stage 3 – Impaired: the Group recognises the lifetime ECL for these financial assets.

An unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is determined by evaluating a range of possible
outcomes;

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

ECL are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. They are measured as follows:

The time value of money; and

For the purposes of calculation of ECL, the Group categorises its FVOCI and amortised cost debt securities, loans
and advances and loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts into Stage 1, Stage 2, Stage 3 and POCI,
based on the applied impairment methodology, as described below:

To calculate ECL, the Group estimates the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument during its
expected life. ECLs are estimated based on the present value of all cash shortfalls over the remaining expected life
of the financial asset, i.e., the difference between: the contractual cash flows that are due to the Group under the
contract, and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective interest rate of the loan
or an approximation thereof.

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis, the expected credit loss (ECL) associated with its debt instruments
carried at amortised cost and FVOCI and against the exposure arising from loan commitments and financial
guarantee contracts. The Group recognises an ECL for such losses on origination and reassess the expected losses
at each reporting date. The measurement of ECL reflects:

financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the difference between the gross carrying
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows;

financial assets that are not credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the present value of all cash shortfalls
(i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the entity in accordance with the contract and the cash
flows that the Group expects to receive);

financial guarantee contracts: estimates the ECLs based on the present value of the expected payments to
reimburse the holder for a credit loss that it incurs less any amounts that the guarantor expects to receive
from the holder, the debtor or any other party. If a loan is fully guaranteed, the ECL estimate for the
financial guarantee contract would be the same as the estimated cash shortfall estimate for the loan
subject to the guarantee.

Purchased or originated credit impaired ('POCI'): when financial assets are purchased or are originated at
a deep discount or are credit-impaired on initial recognition. These are subject to lifetime ECLs. It also
includes recognition of previously written off loans of the Group where the expectation of recovery has
improved. 

Stage 1 – Performing: when financial assets are first recognised, the Group recognises an allowance
based up to 12-month ECL.

undrawn loan commitments: estimates the expected portion of the loan commitment that are drawn down
over the expected life of the loan commitment; and calculates the present value of cash shortfalls
between the contractual cash flows that are due to the entity if the holder of the loan commitment draws
down that expected portion of the loan and the cash flows that the entity expects to receive if that
expected portion of the loan is drawn down; and
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4.19 Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Measurement of ECL (continued)

Stage 1

-

-

-

-

-

Stage 2

For revolving facilities such as credit cards and overdrafts and similar other working capital facilities, the Group
measures ECLs by determining the period over which it expects to be exposed to credit risk, taking into account
the credit risk management actions that it expects to take once the credit risk has increased and that serve to
mitigate losses.

All exposures with external rating A- or above.

IFRS 9 requires financial assets to be classified in Stage 2 when their credit risk has increased significantly since
their initial recognition. For these assets, a loss allowance needs to be recognised based on their lifetime ECLs. 

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

debt type assets that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date; and

on which credit risk has not increased significantly since their initial recognition.

The Group applies low credit risk expedient and considers following types of debts as 'low credit risk (LCR)':

All local currency sovereign exposures funded in local currency;

The Group measures loss allowances at an amount up to 12-month ECL for Stage 1 customers. All financial assets
are classified as Stage 1 on initial recognition date, unless the new loan is deemed to be POCI. Subsequently on
each reporting date the Group classifies following as Stage 1:

All local currency exposures to the Government of Bahrain or the CBB; and

For the purposes of categorisation into above stages, the Group has established a policy to perform an assessment
at the end of each reporting period of whether credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition by
considering the change in the risk of default occurring over the remaining life of the financial instrument.

No impairment is recorded on equity instruments.

It is the Group’s policy to evaluate additional available reasonable and supportive forward-looking information as
further additional drivers.

The Group considers whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk of an asset by comparing the rating
migration upon initial recognition of the asset against the risk of a default occurring on the asset as at the end of
each reporting period. In each case, this assessment is based on forward-looking assessment, in order to recognise
the probability of higher losses associated with more negative economic outlooks. In addition, a significant
increase in credit risk is assumed if the borrower falls 30 days or more past due in making its contractual payments,
or if the Group expects to grant the borrower forbearance or facility has been restructured owing to credit related
reasons. Further, any facility having an internal credit risk rating of 8 are also subject to stage 2 ECL calculation.

The Group records impairment for FVOCI debt securities, depending on whether they are classified as Stage 1, 2,
or 3, as explained above. However, ECL does not reduce the carrying amount of these financial assets in the
consolidated statement of financial position, which remains at fair value. Instead, an amount equal to the allowance
that would arise if the asset were measured at amortised cost is recognised in OCI as an accumulated impairment
amount, with a corresponding charge to profit or loss.
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4.19 Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Stage 3

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Purchased or originated credit impaired (‘POCI’)

Forward looking information

The market's assessment of creditworthiness as reflected in the bond yields.

The Group considers forward-looking information such as forecasts of macroeconomic factors (e.g., GDP growth,
oil prices, country's equity indices and unemployment rates). To evaluate a range of possible outcomes, the Group
formulates three scenarios: a base case, an up-side and a down-side scenario. The base case scenario represents the
more likely outcome from Moody’s macro-economic models. For each scenario, the Group derives an ECL and
apply a probability weighted approach to determine the impairment allowance.

The probability of debt being restructured, resulting in holders suffering losses through voluntary or
mandatory debt forgiveness.

The rating agencies' assessments of creditworthiness.

The country's ability to access the capital markets for new debt issuance.

Financial assets are included in Stage 3 when there is objective evidence that the debt type financial asset is credit
impaired. At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost and debt
financial assets carried at FVOCI are credit-impaired. A financial asset is 'credit-impaired' when one or more
events that have detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred.

In making an assessment of whether a debt type investment is credit-impaired, the Group considers the following
factors.

significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer;

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganization; or

the disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable data among others:

the restructuring of a loan or advance by the Group on terms that the Group would not consider
otherwise;

a breach of contract such as a default or past due event;

The international support mechanisms in place to provide the necessary support as 'lender of last resort'
to that country, as well as the intention, reflected in public statements, of governments and agencies to
use those mechanisms. This includes an assessment of the depth of those mechanisms and, irrespective of
the political intent, whether there is the capacity to fulfil the required criteria.

Other than originated credit-impaired loans, loans are transferred out of Stage 3 if they no longer meet the criteria
of credit-impaired after a cooling-off period of 12 months.

The Group also uses published external information from International Monetary Fund (IMF).

The Group incorporates forward-looking information in the measurement of ECLs.

For POCI financial assets, the Group only recognises the lifetime ECL and any cumulative changes since initial
recognition are recorded in the ECL allowance. There are no migration from POCI to other Stages. 
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4.19 Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Presentation of allowance for ECL in the consolidated statement of financial position

-

-

-

Limitation of estimation techniques

Experienced credit adjustment

4.20 Impairment of non-financial assets

4.21 Provisions

For impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows
from continuing use that is largely independent of the cash inflows of others assets or cash generating units (CGU).
Goodwill arising from a business combination is allocated to CGUs or groups of CGUs that are expected to benefit
from the synergies of the combination. 

The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater of its value in use and fair value less costs to sell. Value
in use is based on the estimated future cash flows, discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset or CGU. 

An impairment loss is recogised if the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount.
Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. They are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill allocated to CGU, and then to reduce the carrying amounts of others assets in the CGU on pro-rata basis.
An impairment loss on goodwill is not reversed. For, other assets, an impairment loss is reversed only to the extent
that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of
depreciation or amortization, if no impairment loss had been recognised. 

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past
event, and it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. The expense relating to any
provision is presented in the consolidated statement of profit or loss net of any reimbursement.

financial assets measured at amortised cost: as a deduction from the gross carrying amount of the assets;

loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts: as a provision under other liabilities; and

Loss allowances for ECL are presented in the consolidated statement of financial position as follows:

The Group’s ECL allowance methodology requires the Group to use its experienced credit judgement to
incorporate the estimated impact of factors not captured in the modelled ECL results, in all reporting periods.
Refer note 26.4.1 for additional details.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

The models applied by the Group may not always capture all characteristics of the market at a point in time as they
cannot be recalibrated at the same pace as changes in market conditions. Although the Group uses data that is as
current as possible, models used to calculate ECLs are based on data that is up to date except for certain macro-
economic factors for which the data is updated once it is available.

debt instruments measured at FVOCI: The ECL for debt instruments measured at FVOCI do not reduce
the carrying amount of these financial assets in the consolidated statement of financial position, which
remains at fair value. Instead, an amount equal to the allowance that would arise if the assets were
measured at amortised cost is recognised in OCI as an accumulated impairment amount, with a
corresponding charge to the consolidated statement of profit or loss. The accumulated loss recognised in
OCI is recycled to the consolidated statement of profit and loss upon derecognition of the assets.

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its non-financial assets (other than deferred tax
assets) to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated. Goodwill is tested annually for impairment. 
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4.22  Financial guarantee contracts and loan commitments

4.23 Derivatives and hedging activities

-

-

-

(a)
(b)

(c) 

A derivative is a financial instrument or other contract with all three of the following characteristics:

The Group documents, at the inception of the hedge, the relationship between hedged items and hedging
instruments, as well as its risk management objective and strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions. The
Group also documents its assessment, both at hedge inception and on an ongoing basis, of whether the derivatives
that are used in hedging transactions are highly effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of
hedged items.

Hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation (net investment hedges).

Hedges of highly probable future cash flows attributable to a recognised asset or liability (cash flow
hedges); or

Hedges of the fair value of recognised assets or liabilities or firm commitments (fair value hedges);

The Group enters into derivative transactions with various counterparties. These include interest rate swaps,
futures, credit default swaps, cross-currency swaps, forward foreign exchange contracts and options on interest
rates, foreign currencies and equities. Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which the
derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured at fair value. All derivatives are carried as
assets when fair value is positive and as liabilities when fair value is negative.

The Group issues financial guarantees, letters of credit and loan commitments.

An ECL is calculated and recorded for these in a similar manner as for debt type financial instruments as explained
in note 4.19.

The Group applies IFRS 9 for hedge accounting. 

All derivatives are measured at FVTPL except for when the derivative is designated and qualifies as a hedging
instrument, and if so, the nature of the item being hedged determines the method of recognising the resulting gain
or loss. The Group designates certain derivatives as either:

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial guarantees are initially recognised in the consolidated financial statements at fair value, being the
premium received. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group’s liability under each guarantee is measured at the
higher of the amount initially recognised less cumulative amortisation recognised in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss, and an ECL provision.

The premium received is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss in 'Other operating income' on a
straight line basis over the life of the guarantee.

Undrawn loan commitments and letters of credits are commitments under which, over the duration of the
commitment, the Group is required to provide a loan with pre-specified terms to the customer. 

Its value changes in response to the change in a specified interest rate, financial instrument price,
commodity price, foreign exchange rate, index of prices or rates, credit rating or credit index, or other
variable, provided that, in the case of a non-financial variable, it is not specific to a party to the contract
(i.e., the 'underlying').
It requires no initial net investment or an initial net investment that is smaller than would be required for
other types of contracts expected to have a similar response to changes in market factors.
It is settled at a future date.

The nominal contractual value of financial guarantees, letters of credit and undrawn loan commitments, where the
loan agreed to be provided is on market terms, are not recorded in the consolidated statement of financial position.
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4.23 Derivatives and hedging activities (continued)

(a) Fair value hedge

(b) Cash flow hedge

(c) Net investment hedge

4.24 Fair value measurement

●
●

Hedges of net investments in foreign operations are accounted for similarly to cash flow hedges. Any gain or loss
on the hedging instrument relating to the effective portion of the hedge is recognised directly in other
comprehensive income; the gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss. Gains and losses accumulated in equity are included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss when the foreign operation is disposed of as part of the gain or loss on the disposal.

In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges
is recognised in other comprehensive income. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised
immediately in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Amounts accumulated in equity are recycled to the consolidated statement of profit or loss in the periods when the
hedged item affects profit or loss. They are recorded in the income or expense lines in which the revenue or
expense associated with the related hedged item is reported.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as fair value hedges are recorded in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, together with changes in the fair value of the hedged asset or liability that
are attributable to the hedged risk.

If the hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, the adjustment to the carrying amount of a hedged
item for which the effective interest rate method is used is amortised to profit or loss over the period to maturity
and recorded as net interest income.

In the principal market for the asset or liability, or

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a
liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability,
assuming that market participants act in their economic best interests.

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, or when a hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting,
any cumulative gain or loss existing in equity at that time remains in equity and is recognised in the periods when
the hedged item affects profit or loss. When a forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur (for example, the
recognised hedged asset is disposed of), the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is immediately reclassified to the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that
the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either:

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant's ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that
would use the asset in its highest and best use. 

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data is
available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of
unobservable inputs.

The Group measures financial instruments at fair value at each reporting date. 
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4.24 Fair value measurement (continued)

●
●
●

4.25 Taxation on foreign operations

-

-

-

-

Level 2 valuation: Directly observable proxies for the same instrument accessible at valuation date.

When the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of
the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss.

Current tax

Deferred tax

Current income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the
taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or
substantively enacted at the reporting date in the countries where the Group operates and generates taxable income.

Current income tax relating to items recognised directly in equity is recognised in equity and not in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in the tax returns with
respect to situations in which applicable tax regulations are subject to interpretation and establishes provisions
where appropriate.

Level 3 valuation: Derived proxies (interpolation of proxies) for similar instruments that have not been
observed.

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the consolidated financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group
determines whether transfers have occurred between Levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation (based
on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting
period.

In respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and
interests in joint arrangements, when the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be
controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and
liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes at the reporting date. Deferred tax liabilities
are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except:

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, the carry forward of unused tax credits
and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will
be available against which the deductible temporary differences, and the carry forward of unused tax credits and
unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

When the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss.

In respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and
interests in joint arrangements, deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that
the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the consolidated financial statements are
categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant
to the fair value measurement as a whole:

There is no tax on corporate income of the Bank in the Kingdom of Bahrain up to year 2024 (refer note 12 for
more details). Taxation on foreign operations is provided for in accordance with the fiscal regulations applicable in
each location. No provision is made for any liability that may arise in the event of distribution of the reserves of
subsidiaries. A substantial portion of such reserves is required to be retained to meet local regulatory requirements.

Level 1 valuation: Directly observable quotes for the same instrument.
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4.25 Taxation on foreign operations (continued)

4.26 Foreign currencies

Transactions and balances

Group companies
As at the reporting date, the assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into the Bank's functional
currency at rates of exchange ruling at the reporting date. Income and expense items are translated at average
exchange rates for the year. Exchange differences arising on translation are recorded in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income under unrealised gain or loss on exchange translation in foreign subsidiaries. On
disposal of a foreign operation, the component of other comprehensive income relating to that particular foreign
operation is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are translated into functional currency at the rates of exchange
ruling at the reporting date.  Any gains or losses are taken to the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when the asset
is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted at the reporting date. Deferred tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside
profit or loss. Deferred tax items are recognised in correlation to the underlying transaction either in OCI or
directly in equity.

Tax benefits acquired as part of a business combination, but not satisfying the criteria for separate recognition at
that date, are recognised subsequently if new information about facts and circumstances change. The adjustment is
either treated as a reduction in goodwill (as long as it does not exceed goodwill) if it was incurred during the
measurement period or recognised in profit or loss.

The Group offsets deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities if and only if it has a legally enforceable right to
set off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities
which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are
expected to be settled or recovered.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates as at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined. The gain or loss
arising on translation of non-monetary items measured at fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the
gain or loss on the change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation differences on items whose fair value gain or
loss is recognised in OCI or profit or loss are also recognised in OCI or profit or loss, respectively).

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded at the spot rate of exchange ruling at the date of the
transaction.

Deferred tax (continued)

In assessing the recoverability of deferred tax assets, the Group relies on forecasts used for its budgeting purposes
and in other management reports.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are re-assessed at each reporting date and are recognised to the extent
that it has become probable that future taxable profits will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

_____________________________________________________________________________________________
33

64 



Arab Banking Corporation (B.S.C.)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2024

4

4.27 Trade and settlement date accounting

4.28 Fiduciary assets

4.29 Offsetting

4.30 Borrowings

4.31 Write-off

4.32 Collateral valuation

Issued financial instruments (or their components) are classified as liabilities under 'Borrowings', where the
substance of the contractual arrangement results in the Group having an obligation either to deliver cash or another
financial asset to the holder.  

Financial assets and financial liabilities are only offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated statement of
financial position when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and the Group intends
to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. This is not generally the case
with master netting agreements, and the related assets and liabilities are presented gross in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

All “regular way” purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date, i.e. the date that the
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset, except for loans and advances to customers, deposits to customers and
banks.

To mitigate its credit risks on financial assets, the Group seeks to use collateral, where possible. The collateral
comes in various forms, such as cash, securities, letters of credit/financial guarantees, real estate, receivables,
inventories, other non-financial assets and credit enhancements such as netting agreements. Collateral, unless
repossessed, is not recorded on the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position. However, the fair value of
collateral affects the calculation of ECLs. It is generally assessed, at a minimum, at inception and re-assessed on a
periodic basis. However, some collateral, for example, cash or securities relating to margining requirements, is
valued daily.

To the extent possible, the Group uses active market data for valuing financial assets held as collateral. Other
financial assets which do not have readily determinable market values are valued using internal valuation
techniques as appropriate. Non-financial collateral, such as real estate, is valued based on data provided by third
parties such as mortgage brokers, or based on housing price indices.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Loans and debt securities are written off (either partially or in full) when there is no realistic prospect of recovery.
However, financial assets that are written off could still be subject to enforcement activities in order to comply
with the Group's procedures for recovery of amounts due. If the amount to be written off is greater than the
accumulated loss allowance, the difference is first treated as an addition to the allowance that is then applied
against the gross carrying amount. Any subsequent recoveries are credited to consolidated statement of profit or
loss.

Assets held in trust or in a fiduciary capacity are not treated as assets of the Group and, accordingly, are not
included in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Borrowings are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs. After initial measurement, the borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. Amortised cost is calculated by
taking into account any discount or premium on the issue and costs that are an integral part of the effective interest
rate.
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4.33 Business combination and goodwill

Impairment of non-financial assets

4.34 Material accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is measured as
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, which is measured at acquisition date fair value, and the amount of
any non-controlling interests in the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects whether to measure
the non-controlling interests in the acquiree at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable
net assets. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred and included in relevant line items in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss. 

The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amount of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the
accompanying disclosures, as well as the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions
and estimates could result in outcomes that require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets or
liabilities affected in future periods. In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has
made the following judgements and assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation
uncertainty at the reporting date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year. Existing circumstances and assumptions about
future developments may change due to circumstances beyond the Group’s control and are reflected in the
assumptions if and when they occur. Items with the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements with substantial management judgement and/or estimates are collated below with
respect to judgements/estimates involved.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent
conditions as at the acquisition date. Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is recognised at
fair value at the acquisition date. 

Goodwill is initially measured at cost (being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred and the
amount recognised for non-controlling interests and any previous interest held over the net identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed). If the fair value of the net assets acquired is in excess of the aggregate
consideration transferred, the Group re-assesses whether it has correctly identified all of the assets acquired and all
of the liabilities assumed and reviews the procedures used to measure the amounts to be recognised at the
acquisition date. If the reassessment still results in an excess of the fair value of net assets acquired over the
aggregate consideration transferred, then the gain is recognised in profit or loss. After initial recognition, goodwill
is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. 

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those units. Where goodwill has
been allocated to a cash-generating unit (CGU) and part of the business within that unit is disposed of, the
goodwill associated with the disposed business operation is included in the carrying amount of the business
operation when determining the gain or loss on disposal. Goodwill disposed in these circumstances is measured
based on the relative values of the disposed operation and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

Impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher
of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The fair value less costs of disposal calculation is based
on available data from binding sales transactions, conducted at arm’s length, for similar assets or observable
market prices less incremental costs of disposing of the asset. The value in use calculation is based on a DCF
model. The cash flows are derived from the budget for the next 5-7 years and do not include restructuring activities
that the Group is not yet committed to or significant future investments that will enhance the performance of the
assets of the CGU being tested. The recoverable amount is sensitive to the discount rate used for the DCF model as
well as the expected future cash-inflows and the growth rate used for extrapolation purposes. These estimates are
most relevant to goodwill recognised by the Group. 
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4.34 Material accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions (continued)

Going concern

Measurement of the expected credit loss allowance (ECL)

-
-
-
-

-

-
-

Classification of financial assets

Fair value of financial instruments

4.35 Corresponding figures 
Certain of the prior year's figures have been re-classified to conform to the presentation adopted in the current
year. Such reclassifications do not affect previously reported net profit and total comprehensive income for the
year or shareholder's equity.

Determining relevant period of exposure with respect to the revolving credit facilities and facilities
undergoing restructuring at the time of the reporting date.

Establishing groups of similar financial assets for the purposes of measuring ECL; and

Classification of financial assets in the appropriate category depends upon the business model and SPPI test.
Determining the appropriate business model and assessing whether the cash flows generated by the financial asset
meet the SPPI test is complex and requires significant judgements by management.

The measurement of the ECL for financial assets subject to credit risk measured at amortised cost and FVOCI is an
area that requires the use of complex models and significant assumptions about future economic conditions, credit
behaviour (e.g. the likelihood of customers defaulting and the resulting losses), estimation of the amount and
timing of the future cash flows and collateral values. These estimates are driven by several factors, changes in
which can result in different levels of allowances.

The Group's ECL calculation are outputs of complex models with several underlying assumptions regarding the
choice of variable inputs and their interdependencies. A number of significant judgements are also required in
applying the accounting requirements for measuring ECL, such as:

Internal credit rating model, which assigns probability of defaults (PDs) to the individual ratings;
Determining criteria for significant increase in credit risk (SICR);
Choosing appropriate models and assumptions for the measurement of ECL;
Determination of associations between macroeconomic scenarios and, economic inputs, such as GDP, oil
prices, equity indices, unemployment levels and collateral values, and the effect on PD, exposure at
default (EAD) and loss given default (LGD);
Selection and relative weightings of forward-looking scenarios to derive the economic inputs into the
ECL models;

The Bank's management has made an assessment of the Group's ability to continue as a going concern and is
satisfied that the Group has the resources to continue in business for the foreseeable future. Furthermore, the
management is not aware of any material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt upon the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern. Therefore, the consolidated financial statements continue to be prepared on the going
concern basis.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Where the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the consolidated statement of financial
position cannot be derived from active markets, they are determined using a variety of valuation techniques that
include the use of valuation models. The inputs to these models are derived from observable market data where
possible, but if this is not available, judgement is required to establish fair values. Refer to note 25 for further
disclosures.

The Group applies judgement while carrying out SPPI test and considers relevant factors such as the currency in
which the financial asset is denominated, and the period for which the interest rate is set.
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5 CLASSIFICATION OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Amortised
At 31 December 2024 FVTPL FVOCI cost Total

ASSETS
Liquid funds                 -                    -              3,636            3,636 
Trading securities               838                  -                    -                 838 
Placements with banks and other 

financial institutions                 -                    -              2,071            2,071 
Securities bought under repurchase agreements                 -                    -              1,288            1,288 
Non-trading investments                 -              6,835            9,282          16,117 
Loans and advances                 63               484          18,102          18,649 
Other assets            1,225                  -              1,743            2,968 

           2,126            7,319          36,122          45,567 

Amortised
FVTPL FVOCI cost Total

LIABILITIES
Deposits from customers                 -                    -   22,431                 22,431 
Deposits from banks                 -                    -   4,628                     4,628 
Certificates of deposit                 -                    -   244                           244 
Securities sold under repurchase agreements                 -                    -   10,086                 10,086 
Other liabilities               786                  -   1,909                     2,695 
Borrowings                 -                    -   1,381                     1,381 

              786                  -            40,679          41,465 

Amortised
At 31 December 2023 FVTPL FVOCI cost Total

ASSETS
Liquid funds                 -                    -              4,466 4,466          
Trading securities 1,070                           -                    -   1,070          
Placements with banks and other 

financial institutions                 -                    -   2,231          2,231          
Securities bought under repurchase agreements                 -                    -   2,191          2,191          
Non-trading investments                 -   5,405          5,963          11,368        
Loans and advances                 39 754             18,303        19,096        
Other assets 952                              -   1,681          2,633          

2,061          6,159          34,835        43,055        

Amortised
FVTPL FVOCI cost Total

LIABILITIES
Deposits from customers                 -                    -   23,705        23,705        
Deposits from banks                 -                    -   4,135          4,135          
Certificates of deposit                 -                    -   142             142             
Securities sold under repurchase agreements                 -                    -   6,933          6,933          
Other liabilities               779                  -   1,851          2,630          
Borrowings                 -                    -   1,303          1,303          

779             -              38,069        38,848        

As at 31 December, financial instruments have been classified as follows:

All figures in US$ Million
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6 LIQUID FUNDS
2024 2023

Cash on hand 54            13            
Balances with banks 485          562          
Deposits with central banks 3,058       3,630       
Treasury bills and other eligible bills with 

original maturities of three months or less              40            261 

        3,637 4,466       
ECL allowances              (1)              -   

        3,636 4,466       

7 TRADING SECURITIES
2024 2023

Debt instruments            828 1,060       
Equity instruments              10 10            

           838 1,070       

8 NON-TRADING INVESTMENTS

2024 2023

At amortised cost 9,283       5,977       
At FVOCI 6,888       5,458       

16,171     11,435     
ECL allowances (75)           (88)           

16,096           11,347 

At FVOCI 21            21            

16,117     11,368     

2024 2023

8,960       5,466       
1,968       1,646       
1,864       1,130       
3,089       2,818       

290          375          

16,171     11,435     
(75)           (88)           

16,096     11,347     

Unrated debt securities

The external ratings distribution of non-trading debt investments are given below:

AAA rated debt securities
AA to A rated debt securities

ECL allowances

Other non-investment grade debt securities
Other investment grade debt securities

Equity securities

Debt securities

Debt securities - net

All figures in US$ Million

Cash and cash equivalents

____________________________________________________________________________________________
38

 69



Arab Banking Corporation (B.S.C.)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2024

All figures in US$ Million

8 NON-TRADING INVESTMENTS (continued)

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Debt securities, gross 16,107                    - 64            16,171     
ECL allowances            (11)                - (64)           (75)           

16,096                    -                - 16,096     

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Debt securities, gross 11,361                    - 74            11,435     
ECL allowances            (14)                -            (74) (88)           

11,347                    - -               11,347     

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

As at 1 January 14            -               74            88            

Net remeasurement / additions (1)             -               -               (1)             
Recoveries / write back -               -               (1)             (1)             

Charge for the year - net (1)             -               (1)             (2)             
Amounts written-off -               -               (9)             (9)             
Exchange adjustments and other movements (2)             -               -               (2)             

As at 31 December 11            -               64            75            

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

As at 1 January 13            -               74            87            

Net remeasurement / additions 4              -               -               4              
Recoveries / write back -               -               -               -               

Charge for the year - net 4              -               -               4              
Amounts written-off -               -               -               -               
Exchange adjustments and other movements (3)             -               -               (3)             -           -           -           
As at 31 December 14            -               74            88            

No interest income was received during the year on impaired investments classified under Stage 3 (2023: nil). 

2023

An analysis of movement in the ECL allowances during the years ended 31 December 2024 and 31 December
2023 are as follows:

Following are the stage wise break-up of debt securities as at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023:

2024

2024

2023
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9 LOANS AND ADVANCES 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
At FVTPL

- Wholesale 63            -               -               63            
At FVOCI

- Wholesale 484          -               -               484          
At amortised cost

- Wholesale 16,549     531          640          17,720     
- Retail 888          52            59            999          

17,984     583          699          19,266     
ECL allowances (136)         (68)           (413)         (617)         

      17,848            515            286       18,649 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
At FVTPL

- Wholesale 39            -               -               39            
At FVOCI

- Wholesale 754          -               -               754          
At amortised cost

- Wholesale 16,574     755          655          17,984     
- Retail 852          60            55            967          

18,219     815          710          19,744     
ECL allowances (139)         (74)           (435)         (648)         

18,080     741          275          19,096     

2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023

Financial services 3,902       4,057       11            21            3,891       4,036       
Government 1,208       917          6              8              1,202       909          
Other services 2,968       2,091       256          258          2,712       1,833       
Manufacturing 2,549       2,876       99            123          2,450       2,753       
Agriculture, fishing and forestry 1,334       1,681       39            25            1,295       1,656       
Construction 716          802          61            51            655          751          
Utilities 848          772          6              6              842          766          
Energy 1,008       802          2              3              1,006       799          
Distribution 819          1,074       5              5              814          1,069       
Personal /consumer finance 1,237       1,500       56            51            1,181       1,449       
Transport 542          542          20            22            522          520          
Commercial real estate financing 1,002       1,175       22            28            980          1,147       
Technology, media and 

telecommunications 330          440          2              3              328          437          
Trade 227          287          18            23            209          264          
Retailers 232          330                       -                  1 232          329          
Mining and quarrying 144          128          13            18            131          110          
Residential mortgage 3              3                           -                -   3              3              
Infrastructure 37            140                       -                  1 37            139          
Contracting 160          127          1                             1 159          126          

      19,266 19,744                617 648                18,649 19,096     

Below is the classification of loans and advances by measurement and stage:

Gross loans ECL allowances Net loans

Below is the classification of loans and advances by industrial sector:

2024

2023
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9 LOANS AND ADVANCES (continued)

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

As at 1 January 139 74            435          648          

Transfers to stage 1 3              (3)             -               -               
Transfers to stage 2 (1)             1              -               -               
Transfers to stage 3 (1)             (10)           11            -               

Net transfers between stages 1              (12)           11            -               

Net remeasurements / additions 9              3              231          243          

Recoveries / write back -               -               (103)         (103)         

Charge for the year - net 9              3              128          140          
Amounts written-off -               -               (116)         (116)         
Exchange adjustments and other movements (13)           3              (45)           (55)           

As at 31 December 136          68            413          617          

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

As at 1 January 139          71            463          673          

Transfers to stage 1 3              (3)             -               -               
Transfers to stage 2 (2)             2              -               -               
Transfers to stage 3 (1)             (15)           16            -               

Net transfers between stages -               (16)           16            -               

Net remeasurements / additions (14)           15            193          194          

Recoveries / write back -               -               (54)           (54)           

Charge (reversal) for the year - net (14)           15            139          140          
Amounts written-off -               -               (205)         (205)         
Exchange adjustments and other movements 14            4              22            40            

As at 31 December 139          74            435          648          

At 31 December 2024, interest in suspense on impaired loans under Stage 3 amounts to US$ 128 million (2023:
US$ 97 million).

2024

2023 

An analysis of movement in the ECL allowances during the years ended 31 December 2024 and 31 December
2023 are as follows:

The fair value of collateral that the Group holds relating to loans and advances individually determined to be
impaired and classified under Stage 3 at 31 December 2024 amounts to US$ 89 million (2023: US$ 111 million).  
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10 CREDIT LOSS EXPENSE

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Liquid funds 1                -                 -                 1                
Non-trading debt investments (note 8) (1)               -                 (1)               (2)               
Loans and advances (note 9) 9                3                128            140            
Credit commitments and contingent items (note 23) 1                (1)               3                3                
Other financial assets subject to credit risk 1                -                 -                 1                

               11                  2              130              143 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Liquid funds -                 -                 -                 -                 
Non-trading debt investments (note 8) 4                -                 -                 4                
Loans and advances (note 9) (14)             15              139            140            
Credit commitments and contingent items (note 23) 2                3                (2)               3                
Other financial assets subject to credit risk (1)               (5)               4                (2)               

               (9)                13              141              145 

11 OTHER ASSETS
2024 2023

Interest receivable 535          581          
Goodwill (note 36) 25            41            
Right-of-use assets 56            57            
Trade receivables 338          341          
Positive fair value of derivatives (note 22) 1,225       952          
Assets acquired on debt settlement 36            37            
Deferred tax assets (note 12) 187          282          
Bank owned life insurance 41            40            
Margin dealing accounts 265          247          
Staff loans 39            39            
Advances and prepayments 148          200          
Investments in associates 32            33            
IT projects work-in-progress 129          109          
Others 386          251          

        3,442         3,210 

2024 2023

As at 1 January              57              52 
Add: New/terminated leases - net              12              16 
Less: Amortisation            (10)            (12)
Others (including foreign exchange movements)              (3)                1 

As at 31 December              56              57 

The negative fair value of derivatives amounting to US$ 786 million (2023: US$ 779 million) is included in other
liabilities (note 13).  Details of derivatives are given in note 22.

Below are the carrying amounts of the Group's right-of-use assets and movements during the year:

2024

Right-of-use assets

Allowances for ECL against other financial assets subject to credit risk amounts to US$ 8 million (2023: US$ 9
million).

2023 
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12

12.1 Taxation charge and liability

2024 2023
Consolidated statement of financial position
Current tax liability              40 44            
Deferred tax liability - net *              29 102          

Taxation - net              69            146 

Consolidated statement of profit or loss
Current tax on foreign operations              65 91            
Deferred tax on foreign operations                7 (17)           

             72              74 

Consolidated statement of cash flows
Taxes paid during the year              60 70            

             60              70 

Analysis of tax charge
At Bahrain (income tax rate of nil) -                            -   
On profits of subsidiaries operating in other jurisdictions              72 72            
Charge arising from tax treatment of hedging currency movements              -   2              

             72              74 

12.2 Pillar Two Rules

- The Qualified Domestic Minimum Top-up Tax (QDMTT)
- The Income Inclusion Rule (IIR) 
- The Under Taxed Payments/Profits Rule (UTPR)

In the Bank's Brazilian subsidiary, the effective tax rate on normalised earnings was 1% (2023: 12%) as against the
actual tax rate of  45% (2023: 45%). Adjusted for deferred tax, the effective tax rate was 4% (2023: 1%). 

In view of the operations of the Group being subject to various tax jurisdictions and regulations, it is not practical
to provide a reconciliation between the accounting and taxable profits.

TAXATION ON FOREIGN OPERATIONS

* Deferred tax asset amounting to US$ 195 million has been offset against the deferred tax liability of US$ 224
million as it met offsetting conditions as at 31 December 2024. Refer deferred tax asset in note 11.

Income tax expense reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss

The effective tax rates on the profit of subsidiaries in MENA was 35% (2023: 36%) and United Kingdom was 21%
(2023: 18%) as against the actual tax rates of 23% to 48% (2023: 19% to 35%) in MENA and 25% (2023: 25%) in
United Kingdom. 

The Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD)/G20 Inclusive Framework on Base
Erosion and Profit Shifting (BEPS) addresses the tax challenges arising from the digitalisation of the global
economy. The Global Anti-Base Erosion Model Rules (Pillar Two model rules) apply to multinational enterprises
(MNEs) with annual revenue in excess of EUR 750 million per their consolidated financial statements.  

The Pillar Two model rules introduce four new taxing mechanisms under which MNEs would pay a minimum level
of tax (the Minimum Tax):

The Subject to Tax Rule (STR) is a tax treaty-based rule that generally proposes a Minimum Tax on certain cross-
border intercompany transactions that otherwise are not subject to a minimum level of tax.
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12

12.2 Pillar Two Rules (continued)

-

-

12.3 Domestic Minimum Tax Top-up (DMTT) Rules 

The new taxing mechanisms can impose a minimum tax on the income arising in each jurisdiction in which an
MNE operates. The IIR, UTPR and QDMTT do so by imposing a top-up tax in a jurisdiction whenever the
effective tax rate (ETR), determined on a jurisdictional basis under the Pillar Two rules, is below a 15% minimum
rate.

On 23 May 2023, the IASB issued International Tax Reform—Pillar Two Model Rules – Amendments to IAS 12
(the Amendments). The Amendments clarify that IAS 12 applies to income taxes arising from tax law enacted or
substantively enacted to implement the Pillar Two model rules published by the OECD, including tax law that
implements a QDMTT. The Group has adopted these amendments, which introduce:  

TAXATION ON FOREIGN OPERATIONS (continued)

A mandatory temporary exception to the accounting for deferred taxes arising from the jurisdictional
implementation of the Pillar Two model rules; and
Disclosure requirements for affected entities to help users of the financial statements better understand an
entity’s exposure to Pillar Two income taxes arising from that legislation.

The Pillar Two model rules were adopted in Bahrain at the end of 2024 and are applicable starting from 1 January
2025. According to these rules, the Group is considered an MNE to which the Pillar Two rules shall be applied. At
the same time, Pillar Two legislation has been enacted or substantively enacted in several other jurisdictions in
which the Group operates effective for the financial year beginning 1 January 2024.  

The Group has performed an assessment of its potential exposure to Pillar Two income taxes based on the 2023
country-by-country reporting and 2024 financial information for the constituent entities in the Group. The Pillar
Two effective tax rates in most of the jurisdictions in which the Group operates is above 15% and the Group is not
expecting any material amount of additional taxes in year 2024 due to Pillar Two in any of the jurisdictions where
it operates.

The Group continues to follow Pillar Two legislative developments, as further countries enact the Pillar Two
model rules, to evaluate the potential future impact on its consolidated results of operations, financial position and
cash flows.

Internal assessment performed by the Bank indicates that DMTT and BEPS Pillar 2 would not result in any
material increase in taxes on profit in Bahrain if the law were applicable in 2024. The Group is currently preparing
for compliance with the DMTT law in Bahrain by updating the systems, processes, documentation and data. The
actual tax charge for 2025 will depend on multiple factors including profit before tax in Bahrain, substance based
income exemption (SBIE) rules and other deductions allowed under the DMTT regulations which will be
quantified during the course of the year.  

The Kingdom of Bahrain issued Decree Law No. (11) of 2024 (‘Bahrain DMTT law’) on 1 September 2024
introducing a Domestic Minimum Top-up Tax (“DMTT”). This law is applicable to Multi National Enterprises
(MNEs) with consolidated annual revenues equal to or exceeding Euro 750 million during 2 of the previous 4
years. MNEs in scope of the law will be subject to a tax of 15% on their profits generated in the Kingdom of
Bahrain for fiscal years commencing on or after 1 January 2025.

The Bank and its subsidiaries will be subject to the above law. The Group’s subsidiaries may also be subject to a
top-up tax in 2025, under similar regulations enacted in other countries, in relation to its operations in respective
jurisdictions as explained in note 12.2.

Since the newly enacted regulations are only effective from fiscal years commencing on or after 1 January 2025,
there is no current tax impact for the year ended 31 December 2024.

The Group has applied a temporary mandatory relief from deferred tax accounting for the impacts of the top-up tax
and accounts for it as a current tax when it is incurred.

____________________________________________________________________________________________
44

 75



Arab Banking Corporation (B.S.C.)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2024

13 OTHER LIABILITIES
2024 2023

Interest payable 1,071        1,074        
Lease liabilities 59             61             
Negative fair value of derivatives - net (note 22) 786           779           
Employee related payables 141           120           
Margin deposits including cash collateral 35             31             
Deferred income 18             21             
ECL allowances for credit commitments and contingent items (note 23) 29             32             
Accrued charges and other payables 644           606           

         2,783          2,724 

2024 2023

              61               55 
Add: New/terminated leases - net               10               16 

                4                 3 
            (10)             (14)

Others (including foreign exchange movements)               (6) 1               

              59               61 

14

Total obligations outstanding at 31 December 2024

Currency Rate of interest Parent bank Subsidiaries Total
Aggregate maturities %

2025* EUR SOFR +1.35%                 -   175             175             
2027* US$ SOFR +2%               470                 -   470             
2028* US$ SOFR +2%               470                 -   470             

US$ 5.532%                 -   25               25               
TND 10.8-11.4%                 -   3                 3                 

Perpetual** BRL Selic *1.5                 -   238             238             

              940               441            1,381 

2025-2027

All figures in US$ Million

As at 1 January

Lease liabilities
Below are the carrying amounts of the Group's lease liabilities and movements :

The negative fair value of derivatives amounting to US$ 786 million (2023: US$ 779 million) are net of positive
fairvalue of derivatives amounting to US$ 73 million (2023: US$ Nil) as these met the offsetting conditions.

**Perpetual
This instrument issued by a subsidiary qualifies as Additional Tier 1 ("AT1") capital for the purpose of capital
adequacy calculation as disclosed in note 34. 

The positive fair value of derivatives amounting to US$ 1,225 million (2023: US$ 952 million) is included in other
assets (note 11).  Details of derivatives are given in note 22.

Add: Interest expense
Less: Repayments

As at 31 December

BORROWINGS

In the ordinary course of business, the Bank and certain subsidiaries raise term financing through various capital
markets at commercial rates.

2025-2029

*These borrowings are from ultimate parent as disclosed in note 29.
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14

Total obligations outstanding at 31 December 2023

Currency Rate of interest Parent bank Subsidiaries Total
Aggregate maturities %

2024 US$ SOFR +1.35%                 -                   55 55               
2024* EUR EURIBOR +1.15%               175 175             
2027* US$ SOFR +2%               470                 -   470             
2028* US$ SOFR +2%               470                 -   470             

US$ 2.67%                 -                   30 30               
TND 8.2-11.50%                 -   5                 5                 

Perpetual** BRL Selic *1.2                 -   98               98               

              940               363            1,303 

15 EQUITY

a) Share capital
2024 2023

4,500        4,500        

3,110        3,110        

b) Treasury shares

c) Statutory reserve

d)     General reserve

e)
2024 2023

At 1 January 13             (22)            
Net movement in fair value during the year 15             35             

At 31 December 28             13             

2024-2027

Cumulative changes in fair value

**Perpetual

        (2023: 3,110 million shares of US$ 1 each)

Authorised – 4,500 million shares of US$ 1 each 
        (2023: 4,500 million shares of US$ 1 each)

Issued, subscribed and fully paid – 3,110 million shares of  US$ 1 each

*These borrowings are from ultimate parent as disclosed in note 29.

2024-2029

This instrument issued by a subsidiary qualifies as Additional Tier 1 ("AT1") capital for the purpose of capital
adequacy calculation as disclosed in note 34. 

As required by the Articles of Association of the Bank and the Bahrain Commercial Companies Law, 10% of the
profit for the year is transferred to the statutory reserve. Such annual transfers will cease when the reserve totals
50% of the paid up share capital. The reserve is not available for distribution except in such circumstances as
stipulated in the Bahrain Commercial Companies Law and following the approval of the CBB. 

The general reserve underlines the shareholders’ commitment to enhance the strong equity base of the Bank. There
are no restrictions on the distribution of this reserve.

The Group owns 15,515,000 treasury shares (2023: 15,515,000 shares) which were acquired for a cash
consideration of US$ 6 million (2023: US$ 6 million).

BORROWINGS (continued)
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16 ADDITIONAL / PERPETUAL TIER-1 CAPITAL

17 INTEREST AND SIMILAR INCOME
2024 2023

Loans and advances 1,784      1,773        
Securities and investments 931         696           
Placements with banks and other financial institutions 524         494           
Others 19           89             

      3,258 3,052        

18 INTEREST AND SIMILAR EXPENSE
2024 2023

Deposits from banks 736         596           
Deposits from customers 1,511      1,399        
Borrowings 96           99             
Certificates of deposit and others 13           23             

      2,356 2,117        

19 OTHER OPERATING INCOME
2024 2023

Fee and commission income* 229         197           
Fee and commission expense (6)           (7)              
Fee and commission income - net 223         190           
Bureau processing income 41           48             
Net gain from trading book (including foreign currencies transaction) 53           33             
Gain on disposal of non-trading debt investments - net 36           14             
Merchant acquiring income 18           14             
Others - net 66           45             

437         344           

20 OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES
2024 2023

Office systems and supplies 75           72             
Professional fees and licenses 54           58             
Communications 26           25             
Business development 14           20             
Others 76           71             

         245             246 

All figures in US$ Million

*Included in the fee and commission income is US$ 15 million (2023: US$ 13 million) of fee income relating to
funds under management.

The Group issued Basel 3 compliant additional / perpetual Tier 1 Capital securities amounting to US$ 390 million
during the year ended 31 December 2022. These securities are perpetual, subordinated and unsecured and carry an
interest of 4.75% per annum payable semi-annually. The holders of these securities do not have a right to claim the
interest and such an event of non-payment will not be considered an event of default. Further, the corresponding
interest paid to investors is accounted for as an appropriation of profits.
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21

21.1

Principal Country of
activities incorporation

` 2024 2023
% %

ABC International Bank Plc Banking United Kingdom          100.0           100.0 
ABC SA Banking France          100.0           100.0 
ABC Islamic Bank (E.C.) Banking Bahrain          100.0           100.0 
Arab Banking Corporation (ABC) - Jordan Banking Jordan            87.0             87.0 
Banco ABC Brasil S.A. Banking Brazil            63.7             63.6 
ABC Algeria Banking Algeria            88.9             88.9 
Arab Banking Corporation - Egypt [S.A.E.] Banking Egypt            99.6             99.6 
ABC Tunisie Banking Tunisia          100.0           100.0 
Arab Financial Services Company B.S.C. (c) Credit card Bahrain            98.0             90.4 

and Fintech services

21.2

21.3

2024 2023

Proportion of equity interest held by non-controlling interests (%) 36.3% 36.4%
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests 25           27            

2024 2023

Interest and similar income 1,141      1,146       
Interest and similar expense (841)        (838)         
Other operating income 147         134          
Operating expenses (200)        (199)         
Credit loss expense (67)          (78)           

Profit before tax           180 165          
Taxation (8)            (1)             

Profit for the year           172 164          

Profit attributable to non-controlling interests 62           60            

Total comprehensive (loss) income (108)        240          

Total comprehensive (loss) income attributable to non-controlling interests           (39) 87            

All figures in US$ Million

Summarised statement of profit or loss:

The summarised financial information of this subsidiary is provided below. 

Banco ABC Brasil S.A. 

Material partly-owned subsidiaries
Financial information of a subsidiary that has material non-controlling interests is provided below:

Significant restrictions
The Group does not have any significant restrictions on its ability to access or use its assets and settle its liabilities
other than those resulting from supervisory frameworks within which banking subsidiaries operate. The supervisory
frameworks require banking subsidiaries to keep certain levels of regulatory capital and liquid assets, limit their
exposure to other parts of the Group and comply with other ratios. In certain jurisdictions, distribution of reserves is
subject to prior supervisory approval.

Interest of Arab Banking 
Corporation (B.S.C.)

GROUP INFORMATION

Information about subsidiaries
The principal subsidiaries, all of which have 31 December as their year-end, are as follows:
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21

21.3
2024 2023

Total assets 10,623    11,341     
Total liabilities (9,576)     (10,125)    

Total equity        1,047 1,216       

Equity attributable to non-controlling interests 380         443          

Summarised cash flow information:
Operating activities 27           8              
Investing activities (123)        81            
Financing activities 76           (25)           

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents           (20) 64            

22 DERIVATIVES AND HEDGING

Positive 
fair value

Negative 
fair value

Notional 
amount

Positive 
fair value

Negative 
fair value

Notional 
amount

Derivatives held for trading
Interest rate swaps 373          206         18,355               210           219         9,216 
Currency swaps 72            30           824                      32             25            980 
Forward foreign exchange contracts 95            37           11,127                 77             85         9,370 
Options* 551          466         13,537               517           415       12,991 
Futures 13            13           3,210                   17             22         5,386 

       1,104           752      47,053            853           766       37,943 

Derivatives held as hedges
Interest rate swaps           103 34                  3,642              81             13         2,308 
Currency swaps             15              -             158              17              -              133 
Forward foreign exchange contracts               3              -             167                1              -              169 

          121             34        3,967              99             13         2,610 

       1,225           786      51,020            952           779       40,553 

Risk weighted equivalents 
1,928              1,328 

In the ordinary course of business the Group enters into various types of transactions that involve derivative financial
instruments.  

The table below shows the positive and negative fair values of derivative financial instruments. The notional amount is
that of a derivative’s underlying asset, reference rate or index and is the basis upon which changes in the value of
derivatives are measured. The notional amounts indicate the volume of transactions outstanding at year end and are
not indicative of either market or credit risk. 

GROUP INFORMATION (continued)

2024

Derivatives are carried at fair value using valuation techniques based on observable market inputs.

* Negative fair value of options is presented net of positive fair value of options amounting to US$ 73 million eligible
for offsetting.

Material partly-owned subsidiaries (continued)

Summarised statement of financial position:

(credit and market risk)

2023
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22 DERIVATIVES AND HEDGING (continued)

Derivative related credit risk

As part of its asset and liability management the Group uses derivatives for hedging purposes in order to reduce its
exposure to currency and interest rate risks. This is achieved by hedging specific financial instruments, forecasted
transactions as well as strategic hedging against overall statement of financial position exposures. For interest rate risk
this is carried out by monitoring the duration of assets and liabilities using simulations to estimate the level of interest
rate risk and entering into interest rate swaps and futures to hedge a proportion of the interest rate exposure, where
appropriate. Since strategic hedging does not qualify for special hedge accounting related derivatives are accounted for
as trading instruments. 

The Group uses forward foreign exchange contracts, currency options, currency swaps to hedge against specifically
identified currency risks. In addition, the Group uses interest rate swaps and interest rate futures to hedge against the
interest rate risk arising from specifically identified loans and securities bearing fixed interest rates. In all such cases
the hedging relationship and objective, including details of the hedged item and hedging instrument, are formally
documented and the transactions are accounted for as hedges.

Most of the Group’s derivative trading activities relate to sales, positioning and arbitrage. Sales activities involve
offering products to customers. Positioning involves managing market risk positions with the expectation of profiting
from favourable movements in prices, rates or indices. Arbitrage involves identifying and profiting from price
differentials between markets or products. Also included under this heading are any derivatives which do not meet
IFRS 9 hedging requirements.

The Group has adopted a comprehensive system for the measurement and management of risk. Part of the risk
management process involves managing the Group’s exposure to fluctuations in foreign exchange rates (currency risk)
and interest rates through asset and liability management activities. It is the Group’s policy to reduce its exposure to
currency and interest rate risks to acceptable levels as determined by the Board of Directors. The Board has
established levels of currency risk by setting limits on currency position exposures. Positions are monitored on an
ongoing basis and hedging strategies used to ensure positions are maintained within established limits. The Board has
established levels of interest rate risk by setting limits on the interest rate gaps for stipulated periods. Interest rate gaps
are reviewed on an ongoing basis and hedging strategies used to reduce the interest rate gaps to within the limits
established by the Board of Directors.

Credit risk in respect of derivative financial instruments arises from the potential for a counterparty to default on its
contractual obligations and is limited to the positive fair value of instruments that are favourable to the Group. The
majority of the Group’s derivative contracts are entered into with other financial institutions and there is no significant
concentration of credit risk in respect of contracts with positive fair value with any individual counterparty at the date
of the consolidated statement of financial position.

Derivatives held or issued for hedging purposes

Derivatives held or issued for trading purposes

For the year ended 31 December 2024, net impact from ineffectiveness from hedges is US$ nil (2023: US$ nil)
comprising net loss of US$ 2 million (2023: net loss of US$ 30 million) on hedging instruments offsetting the total
gain on hedged items attributable to the hedged risk amounted to US$ 2 million (2023: gain of US$ 30 million).

Derivatives held as hedges include fair value hedges which are predominantly used to hedge fair value changes arising
from interest rate fluctuations in debt instruments at FVOCI and/or amortised cost.

The Group uses deposits which are accounted for as hedges of net investment in foreign operations. As at 31
December 2024, the Group had deposits amounting to US$ 723 million (2023: US$ 718 million) which were
designated as net investment hedges.
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22 DERIVATIVES AND HEDGING (continued)

Interest rate risk on fixed rate debt type instruments (fair value hedge)

(i)

(ii)
(iii)

Net investment in foreign operation (net investment hedge)

Within 1
month

1 - 3
months

3 - 6
months

6 - 12 
months

 1 - 5 
years

5-10 
years

Over 10 
years Total

Notional
2024        4,903          4,488             5,070          12,203          18,314              5,052               990           51,020 
2023        5,815          5,806             1,994            9,261          14,462              3,110               105           40,553 

Hedge ineffectiveness 

counterparty credit risk which impacts the fair value of uncollateralised interest rate swaps but not the hedged
items.

The following table sets out the maturity profile of the trading and hedging instruments used in the Group’s trading and
non-dynamic hedging strategies:

Only the interest rate risk element is hedged and therefore other risks, such as credit risk, are managed but not hedged
by the Group. The interest rate risk component is determined as the change in fair value of the long-term variable /
fixed rate loans and securities arising solely from changes in the benchmark rate of interest. Such changes are usually
the largest component of the overall change in fair value. The Group primarily designates the benchmark rate as the
hedged risk and, accordingly, enters into interest rate swaps whereby the fixed legs represent the economic risks of the
hedged items. This strategy is designated as a fair value hedge and its effectiveness is assessed by critical terms
matching and measured by comparing changes in the fair value of the loans / secuities attributable to changes in the
benchmark rate of interest with changes in the fair value of the interest rate swaps.

The Group has an investment in a foreign operation which is consolidated in its financial statements. The foreign
exchange rate exposure arising from this investment is hedged through the use of deposits. These deposits are
designated as net investment hedges to hedge the equity of the subsidiaries. The Group establishes the hedging ratio by
matching the deposits with the net assets of the foreign operation.

Hedge effectiveness is determined at the inception of the hedge relationship, and through periodic prospective
effectiveness assessments to ensure that an economic relationship exists between the hedged item and hedging
instrument. For hedges of exposures to fluctuations in foreign exchange rates, the Group enters into hedge
relationships where the critical terms of the hedging instrument match exactly with the terms of the hedged item. The
Group therefore performs a qualitative assessment of effectiveness. If changes in circumstances affect the terms of the
hedged item such that the critical terms no longer match exactly with the critical terms of the hedging instrument, the
Group uses quantitative hedge effectiveness testing using the dollar offset method to assess effectiveness.

The Group establishes the hedging ratio by matching the notional of the derivatives with the principal of the portfolio
being hedged. Possible sources of ineffectiveness are as follows:

differences between the expected and actual volume of prepayments, as the Group hedges to the expected
repayment date taking into account expected prepayments based on past experience;
hedging derivatives with a non-zero fair value at the date of initial designation as a hedging instrument; and

In hedges of foreign currency exposures, ineffectiveness may arise if the timing of the cash flows changes from what
was originally estimated, or if there are changes in the credit risk of the Bank or the derivative counterparty.

The Group applies hedge accounting in two separate hedging strategies, as follows:

The Group holds a portfolio of long-term variable and fixed rate loans / securities / deposits and therefore is exposed
to changes in fair value due to movements in market interest rates. The Group manages this interest rate risk exposure
by entering into pay fixed / receive floating interest rate swaps.
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22 DERIVATIVES AND HEDGING (continued)

Net investment in foreign operation (net investment hedge) (continued)

Hedge ineffectiveness  (continued)

23

2024 2023

Short-term self-liquidating trade and transaction-related contingent items 4,135      4,536       
Direct credit substitutes and guarantees 2,861      3,102       
Undrawn loans and other commitments 3,073      2,738       

10,069    10,376     

Credit exposure after applying credit conversion factor 4,300      4,332       

Risk weighted equivalents 3,591      3,696       

2024 2023

1,388      1,861       
2,707      2,881       
1,942      2,413       
3,651      3,201       

381         20            

10,069    10,376     

Exposure (after applying credit conversion factor) and ECL by stage

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Credit commitments and contingencies 4,179      83            38                   4,300 

ECL allowances 8             11            10                        29 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Credit commitments and contingencies 4,212      100          20           4,332       

ECL allowances               8              13             11 32            

2024

Over 5 years
1 - 5 years

At the reporting date, the principal outstanding and the risk weighted equivalents were as follows:

6 - 12 months

On demand
1 - 6 months

The table below shows the contractual expiry by maturity of the Group's credit commitments and contingent items:

2023

Credit commitments and contingent items include commitments to extend credit, standby letters of credit, acceptances
and guarantees, which are structured to meet the various requirements of customers.

Hedge ineffectiveness only arises to the extent the hedging instruments exceed in nominal terms the risk exposure from
the foreign operations. 

The ineffectiveness during 2024 or 2023 in relation to the interest rate swaps is however not significant to the Group.

CREDIT COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT ITEMS
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23

An analysis of changes in the ECL allowances are as follows:

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

As at 1 January 8             13            11           32            

Net measurement / additions 1             (1)             3                            3 
Recoveries / write back              -                 -                -                -   
Charge for the year - net 1             (1)             3                            3 
Amounts written-off -              -               -                           -   
Exchange adjustments and other movements (1)            (1)                         (4)              (6)

As at 31 December               8              11             10              29 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

As at 1 January 7             9              28           44            

Net measurement / additions 2             3              1                            6 
Recoveries / write back              -                 -               (3)              (3)

Charge for the year - net 2             3              (2)                           3 
Amounts written-off -              -                           (2)              (2)
Exchange adjustments and other movements             (1)                1           (13)            (13)

As at 31 December               8              13             11              32 

24 SIGNIFICANT NET FOREIGN CURRENCY EXPOSURES

Currency
US$ 

equivalent Currency
US$ 

equivalent

       5,456            882        5,255         1,083 
              5                7             (2)              (3)
     11,593            228        9,826            318 
          129            182             99            140 
     25,429            187      23,693            176 
          170              53           104              34 
            33              35             22              25 

Bahraini Dinar             39            104             15              39 
Omani Riyal               1                2               2                4 

2023

CREDIT COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT ITEMS (continued)

Euro

Algerian Dinar

Net long (short)

Brazilian Real 

Egyptian Pound
Jordanian Dinar

Tunisian Dinar

2024

Pound Sterling

2023

The Group expects that not all of the contingent liabilities or commitments will be drawn before expiry of the
commitments.

The Group is engaged in litigation in various jurisdictions. The litigation involves claims by and against the Group
which have arisen in the ordinary course of business. The Directors of the Bank, after reviewing the claims pending
against Group companies and based on the advice of relevant professional legal advisors, are satisfied that the outcome
of these claims will not have a material adverse effect on the financial position of the Group. 

Significant net foreign currency exposures, arising mainly from investments in subsidiaries, are as follows:

2024
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25 FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

25.1 31 December 2024

Financial assets measured at fair value:
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Trading securities 548                        174             116             838 
Non-trading investments 6,265                     640                 4          6,909 
Loans and advances                -               547                -               547 
Derivatives held for trading 563             541                -            1,104 
Derivatives held as hedges                -               121                -               121 

Financial liabilities measured at fair value:
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Derivatives held for trading             467 285                           -               752 
Derivatives held as hedges - net                -                 34                -                 34 

Fair values of financial instruments not carried at fair value

Carrying 
value Fair value

Financial assets
Non-trading investments at amortised cost - gross (level 1)          9,283 9,280         

Financial liabilities
Borrowings - perpetual (level 1) 238            253            

25.2 31 December 2023

Financial assets measured at fair value:
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Trading securities 924                        146 -                1,070         
Non-trading investments 4,702         777            -                5,479         
Loans and advances                -   793            -                793            
Derivatives held for trading 458            395            -                853            
Derivatives held as hedges                -   99              -                99              

All figures in US$ Million

The following table provides the fair value measurement hierarchy of the Group’s financial assets and financial
liabilities.

Quantitative disclosure of fair value measurement hierarchy for assets as at 31 December 2023:

Quantitative disclosure of fair value measurement hierarchy for liabilities as at 31 December 2024:

Except for the following, the fair value of financial instruments which are not carried at fair value are not
materially different from their carrying value.

Quantitative disclosure of fair value measurement hierarchy for assets as at 31 December 2023:
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25 FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

25.2 31 December 2023 (continued)

Financial liabilities measured at fair value:
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Derivatives held for trading 361            405            - 766            
Derivatives held as hedges                -   13              -                13              

Fair values of financial instruments not carried at fair value

Carrying 
value Fair value

Financial assets
Non-trading investments at amortised cost - gross (level 1)          5,978 5,982         

Financial liabilities
Borrowings - perpetual (level 1)               98 104            

Financial instruments in level 1

Financial instruments in level 2

Financial instruments in level 3

Transfers between level 1, level 2 and level 3

Quantitative disclosure of fair value measurement hierarchy for liabilities as at 31 December 2023:

Except for the following, the fair value of financial instruments which are not carried at fair value are not
materially different from their carrying value.

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is based on quoted market prices at the reporting
date. A market is regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and regularly available from an exchange, dealer,
broker, industry group, pricing service, or regulatory agency, and those prices represent actual and regularly
occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis. The quoted market price used for financial assets held by
the Group is the current bid price. These instruments are included in Level 1.

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (for example, over-the-counter
derivatives) is determined by using valuation techniques. These valuation techniques maximise the use of
observable market data where it is available and rely as little as possible on entity specific estimates. If all
significant inputs required to fair value an instrument are observable, the instrument is included in level 2.

There were no transfers between level 1, level 2 and level 3 during the year ended 31 December 2024 (31
December 2023: none).

The fair value of financial instruments that are neither traded in an active market nor have observable inputs is
determined by valuation techniques. These valuation techniques include an internal model which uses observable
market yield curves and expected loss methodology for securities. Quotes provided by fund administrators are
used for funds valuation. 
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26 RISK MANAGEMENT

26.1 Introduction

26.2 Risk management structure

The Board Audit Committee is responsible to the Board for ensuring that the Group maintains an effective system of
financial, accounting and risk management controls and for monitoring compliance with the requirements of the
regulatory authorities in various countries in which the Group operates.

Risk is inherent in the Group's activities and is managed through a process of ongoing identification, measurement and
monitoring, subject to risk limits and other controls. The Group is exposed to financial and non-financial risks
including credit risk, liquidity risk, operational risk, market risk, legal risk, strategic risk as well as other forms of risk
inherent in its financial operations, all of which are captured and detailed in the Group’s Risk Taxonomy.

The Group continues to invest to strengthen its comprehensive and robust risk management infrastructure. This
includes risk identification processes under credit, market and operational risk spectrums, risk measurement models
and rating systems as well as a strong business process to monitor and control these risks.

The Board Risk Committee (BRC) assists the Board in setting, and periodically reviewing the overall risk
strategy/appetite of the Bank which shall govern the parameters within which business is to be conducted. BRC is
supported by two management level committees – Group Risk Committee (GRC) and Group Asset Liability
Committee (GALCO). The Board Compliance Committee (BCC) assists the Board in discharging its governance and
oversight responsibilities for the compliance risk management framework of the Bank and of the Bank’s compliance
with applicable laws and regulations on a group wide basis. The Board Compliance Committee is supported by Group
Compliance Oversight Committee (GCOC).

The primary objectives of the GRC are to define, develop and monitor the Group’s overarching risk management
framework taking into account the Group’s strategy and business plans. The GRC is assisted by specialised sub-
committees to manage Credit Risk (Group Credit Committee), Operational Risk (Group Operational Risk Committee),
Model Risk (Group Risk Governance and Analytics Committee) and Operational Resilience (Group Operational
Resilience Committee). ESG risk is managed through a steering committee that reports into GRC.

The above management structure, supported by teams of risk & credit analysts, and compliance officers, provide a
coherent infrastructure to carry out credit, risk, balance sheet management and compliance responsibilities in a
seamless manner.

Each subsidiary is responsible for managing its own risks and has its own Board Risk Committee and Management
Committees with responsibilities generally analogous to the Group Committees.

The GCOC has the oversight responsibilities relating to maintaining and enforcing a strong and sustainable compliance 
culture, regulatory compliance, AML and mitigating financial crime. It is also responsible for establishing the
operating framework and the processes to support a permanent and an effective compliance function. Reputational
risk is managed by the Group Reputational Risk Committee which is a sub-committee of the GCOC.

Executive Management is responsible for implementing the Group's Risk Appetite and Policy Guidelines set by the
relevant Board Committees, including the identification and evaluation on a continuous basis of all material risks to
the business and the design and implementation of appropriate internal controls to mitigate them. This is done through
the Senior Management Committees, the Credit & Risk Group, Compliance and Balance Sheet Management Group
functions at the Head Office with oversight by the relevant Board Committees.

All figures in US$ Million

The GALCO assists the BRC in overseeing the implementation of the Group’s Asset / Liability Management
Framework which includes capital, liquidity & funding and market risk in line with the risk appetite framework.
GALCO monitors the Group’s capital, liquidity, funding and market risks, stress testing and the Group’s risk profile in
the context of economic outlook and market developments. GALCO is assisted by technical sub-committees for
Capital & Liquidity Management.
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26 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

26.3 Risk mitigation techniques

26.3.1 Risk mitigation

26.3.2 Excessive credit risk concentration

26.4 Credit risk

-
-
-
-
-
-

Review and approve Obligor Risk Ratings (ORR) and any overrides as applicable. 
Review and approve Stage 1, 2 and 3 ECL charges.
Credit portfolio reviews.

Credit risk is managed by the Group Credit Committee (“GCC”), which is the main credit risk decision-making
committee of the Group. GCC has the following roles and responsibilities:

Review and decision credit proposals in line with its delegated authorities.

Group Treasury and Financial Markets (GTFM) regularly enters hedge transactions to manage market risks within its
portfolios that are within its delegated authority, and each hedging strategy is approved by appropriate level of
committee within the Group. Also, if a hedge becomes ineffective, the Group may decide to undertake the risk (and
profit or loss volatility) rather than enter into a new hedge relationship. 

The Group uses collaterals to reduce its credit risk. The Bank manages and monitors collateral value on a regular basis
to ensure proper risk mitigation, supported by legal documentation that is enforceable and can protect the Bank’s
interest, particularly in a default scenario.

As part of the Credit review process, the Bank assesses the facility structure, primary source of repayment and the need
for any credit risk mitigation. This includes collateral or any third-party guarantees that provide additional support for
inherent and identified credit risk. 

Review of credit resources and infrastructure.
Review and recommend the Credit Policies to the BRC for approval.  

To avoid excessive concentrations of risk, the Group policies and standards include specific guidelines for managing
the concentration of credit risk, across dimensions such as geography, industry, risk ratings and group of closely
related counterparties. Where a concentration of risk is identified, action is taken to reduce or mitigate the
concentration as appropriate.

Credit risk occurs when an obligor fail to discharge its contractual obligation with the Group causing the Group to
incur a financial loss. The Group controls credit risk by setting limits on the amount of risk it is willing to accept for an
individual obligor or group of connected obligors as per the Bank’s risk appetite, credit acceptance criteria and limit
framework. The credit limit assigned to an obligor is based on its credit profile (as reflected in the risk rating), the
collateral posted in support of the facility and the facility maturity. Credit limits are approved at credit committees
within the delegated authority framework.

As a part of its overall risk management, the Group uses derivatives and other instruments to manage exposures
resulting from changes in interest rates, foreign currencies, equity risks, credit risks, and exposures arising from
forecast transactions.

Credit concentration risk is the risk posed by excessive exposures to a single type or class of exposures that share
similar characteristics. A common type of credit concentration risk is having excessive exposure to a single obligor or
single group of closely-related counterparties. Risk concentration can also occur across economic activity, geographic
areas or bank products. High levels of concentration in the event of a negative event e.g. default, changes in economic,
political or other conditions may cause the Group to suffer higher than expected losses.
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26 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

26.4 Credit risk (continued)

26.4.1 Credit risk assessment and mitigation

Exposure at default (EAD)

Obligor Risk Rating (ORR) and the Probability of Default (PD) estimation process

Credit Risk Rating Scale

Adequate
Satisfactory

Internal 
rating grades

The PDs obtained as above are then adjusted for IFRS 9 ECL calculations to incorporate forward looking information.
This is repeated for each economic scenario as appropriate.

01 to 04-
05+ to 05-
06+ to 06-
07+ to 07-

08

PD range
(%)

>= 0.00% to <0.49%
>= 0.49% to <1.52%

Rating models and process is subject to periodic validation and recalibration in order to ensure that the PD accurately
reflects current market default experience.

The Group assigns an ORR to each obligor which maps to the Group’s assessment of PD for the obligor. The ORR
scale is aligned to that of the international rating agencies (see below). An obligor’s ORR is reviewed at least annually.

The Group's internal credit rating grades along with the respective TTC PDs are as below: 

The Group uses risk rating models tailored to the various categories of counterparties that consider an obligor’s
financial standing, geographic location, its industry plus additional relevant information added through selective
qualitative inputs to derive the ORR. 

The credit grades are calibrated such that the risk of default increases exponentially as the credit quality weakens. 

The Group’s rating method comprises 20 rating levels covering Stages 1 & 2 (1 to 8) and three default classes
covering Stage 3 (9 to 11). The master scale maps the obligor risk rating (ORR) to a percentage point which indicates
a probability of default. The strongest credits are rated ‘1’. As the credit quality weakens so the ORR increases in
value. Obligors with an ORR of 4- or better are investment grade, whilst ORR of 5+ or weaker are non-investment
grade.

Internal rating grade 
description

Superior

Watchlist

>= 1.52% to <5.02%
>= 5.02% to <17.32%Marginal
>= 17.32% to  <100%

The exposure at default (EAD) represents the gross carrying amount of the financial instruments subject to the
impairment calculation. EAD for unfunded facilities is calculated by multiplying the outstanding exposure with the
credit conversion factor (CCF) ranging from 20% to 100%.

To calculate the EAD for a Stage 1 loan, the Group assesses the possible default events and the cash flows within 12
months for the calculation of the 12 months ECL. For Stage 2, Stage 3 and POCI, the EAD is considered for events
over the lifetime of the instruments.
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26 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

26.4 Credit risk (continued)

26.4.1 Credit risk assessment and mitigation (continued)

Loss given default (LGD)

Definition of default and cure 

-

-
-
-
-

-
- Other cases where the assessment of the Bank’s GCC / GCCRO / GCCO suggests customers unlikeliness to

pay.

Bankruptcy, liquidation, administration, insolvency or similar proceedings have been filed by or against the
obligor;

The above criteria have been applied to all financial instruments held by the Group and are consistent with the
definition of default used for internal credit risk management purposes. The default definition has been applied
consistently to model the PD, EAD and LGD throughout the Group’s expected loss calculations.

The 90 days past due is rebutted only if there is reasonable and supportive information demonstrating that this does not
meet the impairment definition requirements. 

The purchase or origination of a financial asset at a deep discount that reflects an incurred loss; and

Principal and/or interest and / or fees are past due for 90 days or more after the last billing date and/or
scheduled payment date, ignoring technical defaults and / or data errors. However, the Group can rebut 90
days past due assumption on a case-by-case basis, only upon prior approval from Group Chief Credit
Officer (GCCO) / Group Chief Credit and Risk Officer (GCCRO) (at Head Office level) / Chief Risk
Officer (CRO) or CRO (at Subsidiary level), as applicable;
Any account put on non-accrual status i.e. interest suspended;
A loan is classified as “Substandard”, “Doubtful” or “Loss”;
A covenant breach not waived by the Group;

The credit risk mitigation assessment is based on a standardised LGD framework. Under this framework, the Group
calculates LGD values based on the collateral type and value, obligor rating, economic scenarios, seniority of tranche,
industry and country of the borrower, etc.

The Group segments its retail lending products into smaller homogeneous portfolios, based on key characteristics that
are relevant to the estimation of future cash flows. The applied data is based on historically collected loss data and
involves a wider set of transaction characteristics (e.g., product type, wider range of collateral types) as well as
borrower characteristics.

The Group considers a contract to be in default, if the terms of that contract have not been met. If the contractual
repayments on a facility are 90 days past due the facility is moved to Stage 3 and a specific ECL allowance is
recorded. 

As a part of a qualitative assessment of whether a customer is in default, the Group also considers a variety of
instances that may indicate unlikeliness to pay. When such events occur, the Group carefully considers whether the
event should result in treating the customer as defaulted and therefore assessed as Stage 3 for ECL calculations or
whether Stage 2 is appropriate. Such events include:
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26 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

26.4 Credit risk (continued)

26.4.1 Credit risk assessment and mitigation (continued)

Definition of default and cure (continued)

Credit risk grading and PD estimation process
The following are additional considerations for each type of portfolio held by the Group:

Wholesale portfolio

-

-
-

-
-

-

Relationship managers in the first line of defence are responsible for day-to-day management of existing credit
exposures, and for periodic review of the client and associated risks.

At the request of the obligor the Bank’s first line of defense generates a paper to be considered at a business
acceptance committee to confirm the facility is in line with the Bank’s strategy and meets the Bank’s profitability
criteria. If approved at the business acceptance committee, a credit application form (CAF), is presented to the second
line of defense which confirms that the request is factually correct and in line with the Bank’s policies and standards
relating to the risk being underwritten. The credit risk units of the Group validate the ORR being proposed. The CAF
is then presented to a credit committee appropriate to the geography, product, ORR, maturity and amount requested for
approval.

At a minimum the CAF contains the following information:

Identification of the model inputs for expected credit loss (ECL) calculation namely, ORR, LGD of the
facility through consideration and analysis of: 

Supporting the GCC with reference to its roles and responsibilities.

The wholesale portfolio includes obligors across sovereigns, banks, corporates, non-bank financial institutions and
small and medium enterprises (SME) sub-sectors.  

Description of the facility request, the amount, its structure/risk mitigation, its purpose, terms and
conditions, source of repayment and a commentary outlining the risks and mitigants to the repayment of the
facility.

The Bank employs ’cooling-off’ periods when moving a cured account from Stage 3 to Stages 2 or 1 (12 months) and
from Stage 2 to Stage 1 (6 months). In cases, where the financial assets are originated or purchased at deep discount
which reflects the incurred credit loss, the financial asset is classified under POCI and is not eligible for transfers to
other stages. The Bank may choose to make exceptions to this on a case-by-case basis, upon prior approval from
GCCO / GCCRO (at Head Office level) or CRO (at Subsidiary level). The Bank will be guided by the CBB's
requirements while approving the exceptions.

• Any available relevant economic, sectorial, market, regulatory, reputational, or financial information on
the obligor from third parties.
•  Collateral assessment.

•  Historical and in case of medium or long term loans forecast financial information.

Profitability analysis.

Monitoring and maintaining oversight of the credit portfolio through client reviews, portfolio management
information (MI) and key risk indicators (KRIs); and

Independent credit review of the clients;

The centralised credit unit in the second line of defence is responsible for:
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26 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

26.4 Credit risk (continued)

26.4.1 Credit risk assessment and mitigation (continued)

Retail portfolio

Treasury portfolio 

Significant increase in credit risk

-

-

-

-
-
-

ECL measurement

-

-

-
-

-

IFRS 9 outlines a ‘three-stage’ model for impairment based on changes in credit quality since initial recognition as
summarised below:

Financial instruments in Stage 1 have their ECL measured at an amount equal to the portion of lifetime
expected credit losses that result from default events possible within the next 12 months. Instruments in
Stages 2 or 3 have their ECL measured based on expected credit losses on a lifetime basis. 

If a SICR since initial recognition is identified, the financial instrument is moved to ‘Stage 2’ but is not yet
deemed to be credit-impaired. Please refer above for a description of how the Group determines when a
SICR has occurred.

All local currency sovereign exposures funded in local currency;

The Group runs its retail lending via a series of product programs which are approved by the relevant credit
committees. The Group uses the ‘roll rate’ methodology for ongoing assessment of the ECL across the retail portfolio.
The roll rate methodology uses statistical analysis of historical data on delinquency levels to estimate the amount of
ECL that might reasonably be incurred. Management overlays are applied to ensure that the estimate of ECL is
appropriate given the prevailing economic conditions at the reporting date.

A financial instrument that is not credit-impaired on initial recognition or where the credit risk has not
significantly increased since initial recognition is classified in ‘Stage 1’ and has its credit risk continuously
monitored by the Group.

Through the annual and ad-hoc thematic review process and the regrading of the ORR and staging as
appropriate;

Further, the Group has used the low credit risk (LCR) expedient which includes all exposures meeting the following
criteria: 

Mechanical observation of past due (see below) or notch movement of the ORR from inception to date; and

Other qualitative factors such as obligors assigned to close monitoring, restructured / forbearance facilities,
etc.  

For debt securities in the non-trading portfolio, external rating agency credit grades are used unless the Group has a
different view on the ORR. These published credit ratings are continuously monitored and updated. The external
ratings are mapped to the Group’s internal ratings scale and the PD’s associated with each grade are used for the ECL
computation.

Obligors or specific facilities (or financial instruments) that have experienced an SICR since initial recognition are
moved to Stage 2. The Group monitors its portfolio to determine if an SICR event has occurred. The monitoring is
undertaken in two ways

A pervasive concept in measuring ECL in accordance with IFRS 9 is that it should consider forward-
looking information.

A backstop is applied, and the financial instrument is considered to have experienced SICR if the borrower is 30 or
more days past due on its contractual payments. 

All local currency exposures to the government of the Kingdom of Bahrain or Central Bank of Bahrain; and
All exposures with external rating A- or above.

If the financial instrument is credit-impaired, the financial instrument is then moved to ‘Stage 3’. 
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26 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

26.4 Credit risk (continued)

26.4.1 Credit risk assessment and mitigation (continued)

Measuring ECL – Explanation of inputs, assumptions and estimation techniques (continued)

Assessment and calculation of ECL in the current macroeconomic environment 

Economic variable assumptions

(i)    
(ii)    
(iii)    

Forward-looking economic information is also included in determining the 12-month and lifetime PD and LGD. Refer
to note 4 and below for an explanation of forward-looking information and its inclusion in ECL calculations.

For revolving products, the behavioral maturity of upto 2 years or contractual maturity is considered. The behavioral
maturity treatment is only applicable to committed on-balance sheet exposures, for off-balance sheet exposures
contractual maturity is used and exposure at default is predicted by applying a “credit conversion factor” to the off-
balance sheet exposures which allows for the expected drawdown of the remaining limit by the time of default. These
assumptions vary by product type.

For unsecured products, LGD’s are computed based on models which consider several factors such as country,
industry, PD, etc. which consider the recoveries made post default.

The assumptions underlying the ECL calculation – such as how the maturity profile of the PDs and how collateral
values change, etc., are monitored and reviewed on a quarterly basis. The calculation of ECL involves significant
accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions. These are set out in note 4.19 and note 4.34. There have been no
significant changes in the ECL methodology during the year. 

For secured products, this is primarily based on collateral values after applying approved haircuts depending on the
collateral type. Further, the Group has applied LGD floors with respect to the fully secured portion of the portfolio
depending on the collateral type.

Relevant equity indices, given its impact on the economy, counterparty performance and collateral
valuations.

The most significant assumptions affecting the ECL allowance are as follows:

Additional information and sensitivity analysis in respect of the inputs to the ECL model under multiple economic
scenarios is provided under economic variable assumptions below:

Oil price, given its impact on the global economy and specially the regional economies for the Bank; and

The Group’s models have been constructed and calibrated using historical trends and correlations as well as forward
looking economic scenarios. The complexity caused by the various support schemes and regulatory guidance across
the main regions in which the Group operates present modelling challenges for the time being. As a consequence, the
existing models may generate results that are either overly conservative or overly optimistic depending on the specific
portfolio / segment. As a result, post-model adjustments maybe needed. Given model changes take a significant
amount of time to develop and test and the data limitation issues noted above, the Group expects that post model
adjustments will be applied where relevant. 

An overview of the approach to estimating ECLs is set out above and in note 4.19. To ensure appropriate ECL
estimation, the Bank uses independent third party data sources (e.g Moody’s and IMF).

GDP, given the significant impact on companies’ performance and collateral valuations;

Considering the current scenario, the Group has applied management overlays on the model ECL estimates
considering the impacts of rising interest rate environment led by the Fed, and the global inflation. As with any
economic forecasts, the projections and likelihoods of the occurrence are subject to a high degree of inherent
uncertainty and therefore the actual outcomes may be significantly different to those projected.
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26 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

26.4 Credit risk (continued)

26.4.1 Credit risk assessment and mitigation (continued)

Economic variable assumptions (continued)

Assumptions used in 2024

2025 2026 2027 2028 2029

[ 1.2%, 4.6%] [ 2.7%, 10.8%] [ 4.6%, 16.5%] [ 6.1%, 22.8%] [ 7.6%, 29.0%]

[ 3.4%, 7.2%] [ 4.9%, 14.3%] [ 6.8%, 19.6%] [ 8.3%, 25.9%] [ 9.7%, 32.3%]

[ - 8.4%, -0.5%] [ - 6.9%, 4.9%] [ - 2.8%, 11.8%] [ 1.9%, 18.7%] [ 3.6%, 25.3%]

-0.15% -6.71% -6.81% -5.39% -4.57%

6.70% -2.42% -5.01% -3.73% -2.81%

-26.65% -19.72% -10.75% -8.99% -7.37%

[- 4.0%, 10.6%] [ -6.1%, 25.4%] [ -0.9%, 40.0%] [ 3.4%, 50.8%] [ 8.4%, 60.1%]

[ 2.0%, 21.2%] [ -3.7%, 29.3%] [ 0.7%, 42.4%] [ 5.0%, 52.8%] [ 10.5%, 61.8%]

[ - 41.1%, -12.0%] [ -30.8%, 6.2%] [ -17.2%, 31.1%] [ -4.6%, 42.4%] [ -0.0%, 51.2%]

Assumptions used in 2023

2024 2025 2026 2027 2028

[ 0.4%, 5.8%] [ 1.4%, 10.4%] [ 2.7%, 15.3%] [ 4.2%, 20.9%] [ 5.9%, 26.8%]

[ 2.9%, 8.0%] [ 5.0%, 13.2%] [ 6.5%, 18.2%] [ 8.0%, 24.0%] [ 10.0%, 30.0%]

[ - 9.9%, 0.63%] [ - 6.8%, 4.5%] [ - 4.0%, 10.7%] [ - 0.8%, 16.9%] [ 1.1%, 23.1%]

-2.5% -12.2% -12.5% -12.2% -11.9%

0.2% -12.1% -12.5% -12.2% -11.9%

-29.3% -25.1% -15.1% -14.8% -13.9%

[- 1.7%, 14.4%] [- 0.6%, 25.9%] [ 6.2%, 42.5%] [ 11%, 58.2%] [ 14.3%, 70.3%]

[ 4.9%, 32.9%] [ 4.8%, 43.2%] [ 9.4%, 57.3%] [ 13.3%, 66.4%] [ 16.7%, 76.3%]

[ - 33.8%, -13.2%] [ - 26.3%, -2.0%] [ -9.8%, 24.9%] [ 2.4%, 43.1%] [ 5.5%, 59.3%]

* GDP and equity index are represented as range as they cover the indices of multiple countries the Group operates in.

Key macroeconomic 
variables used

Equity index*

Downside (30%)

Base (40%)

Downside (30%)

Upside (30%)

GDP growth rate*

Base (40%)

Equity index*

As with any economic forecasts, the projections and likelihoods of occurrence are subject to a high degree of inherent
uncertainty and therefore the actual outcomes may be significantly different to those projected. The Group considers
these forecasts to represent its best estimate of the possible outcomes and has analysed the non-linearities and
asymmetries within the Group’s different geographies to establish that the chosen scenarios are appropriately
representative of the range of possible scenarios.

The above macroeconomic variables are selected based on the regression analysis between the macroeconomic
variables and the PD. These economic variables and their associated impact on the PD and LGD vary by country and
industry. Forecasts of these economic variables (for all scenarios) are provided by Moody's on a quarterly basis and
provide the best estimate view of the economy over future years.

Upside (30%)

Downside (30%)

Upside (30%)

Downside (30%)

ECL scenario and 
assigned weightage

Upside (30%)

Base (40%)

Upside (30%)

Base (40%)

Base (40%)

Base (40%)

Oil price

GDP growth rate* Upside (30%)

Key macroeconomic 
variables used

Downside (30%)

Oil price

The following table sets out the key macroeconomic variables of ECL calculation and weightages used for scenarios
showing increase /decrease in comparison to 2024 as base year (2023 as base year for assumptions used in 2023):

ECL scenario and 
assigned weightage

Downside (30%)
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26 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

26.4 Credit risk (continued)

26.4.1 Credit risk assessment and mitigation (continued)

Economic variable assumptions (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

26.4.2

2024 2023

Liquid funds 3,582           4,453          
Trading debt securities 828              1,060          
Placements with banks and other financial institutions 2,071           2,231          
Securities bought under repurchase agreements 1,288           2,191          
Non-trading debt investments 16,096         11,347        
Loans and advances 18,649         19,096        
Other credit exposures 2,968           2,633          

          45,482 43,011        

Credit commitments and contingent items (note 23) 10,069         10,376        

Total           55,551 53,387        

26.4.3

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Western Europe 4,923              40                                          37 5,000                
Arab World 12,048            184                                      105 12,337              
Asia 860                                     -                          -   860                   
North America 13,617            191                                        37 13,845              
Latin America 9,260              106                                      106 9,472                
Other 3,966                                  -                            2 3,968                

Total 44,674            521                 287                    45,482              

Where financial instruments are recorded at fair value the amounts shown above represent the current credit risk
exposure but not the maximum risk exposure that could arise in the future as a result of changes in values.

The Group's assets (before taking into account any cash collateral held or other credit enhancements) can be analysed
by the following geographical regions:

Maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account of any collateral and other credit 
enhancements

Based on the above significant assumptions and changes in each economic variable by +5% and -5% while keeping
other key variables constant will result in a change in the ECL (stage 1 and 2) in the range of decrease by 6.4% (2023:
decrease by 11.2%) to an increase by 7% (2023: increase by 7.7%.)

Gross maximum exposure

The Group's concentration of risk is managed by geographical region and by industry sector. The table below shows
the maximum exposure to credit risk for the components of the consolidated statement of financial position, including
credit commitments and contingent items. The maximum exposure is shown gross, before the effect of mitigation
through the use of master netting and collateral agreements.

Risk concentration of the maximum exposure to credit risk

2024
Assets
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26 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

26.4 Credit risk (continued)

26.4.3

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Western Europe 4,812              85                   24                      4,921                
Arab World 12,736            281                 141                    13,158              
Asia 868                                     -                          -   868                   
North America 10,704            221                                        -   10,925              
Latin America 10,418            159                 108                    10,685              
Other 2,451                                  -   3                        2,454                

Total 41,989            746                 276                    43,011              

2024 2023

Western Europe 8,065                 5,670                

Arab World 24,025               24,618              

Asia 1,137                 940                   

North America 4,353                 3,930                

Latin America 8,264                 8,325                

Other 421                    409                   

Total 46,265               43,892              

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Western Europe 2,042              59                                          14 2,115                
Arab World 3,536              47                                          37 3,620                
Asia 156                                     -                            2 158                   
North America 1,386              16                                            3 1,405                
Latin America 2,486              18                                            5 2,509                
Other 262                                     -                          -   262                   

Total 9,868              140                 61                      10,069              

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Western Europe 2,331              53                                          -   2,384                
Arab World 3,471              98                   20                      3,589                
Asia 148                                     -                          -   148                   
North America 1,280              4                                            -   1,284                
Latin America 2,816              14                                            1 2,831                
Other 111                 28                                            1 140                   

Total 10,157            197                 22                      10,376              

The Group's liabilities and equity can be analysed by the following geographical regions:

Liabilities and equity

Risk concentration of the maximum exposure to credit risk (continued)

The Group's commitments and contingencies can be analysed by the following geographical regions:

2023
Assets

Credit commitments and contingent items
2024

Credit commitments and contingent items
2023

_______________________________________________________________________________________________
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26 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

26.4 Credit risk (continued)

26.4.3

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Financial services              13,063                      6                        13               13,082 
Government              15,821                    10                        -                 15,831 
Other services                4,120                    61                        71                 4,252 
Manufacturing                2,730                    77                        16                 2,823 
Agriculture, fishing and forestry                1,331                      7                        33                 1,371 
Construction                   602                    11                        47                    660 
Utilities                1,169                    27                        -                   1,196 
Energy                1,248                      1                        -                   1,249 
Distribution                   783                    49                        -                      832 
Personal / consumer finance                1,174                    12                          6                 1,192 
Transport                   601                      7                        15                    623 
Commercial real estate financing                   719                  225                        37                    981 
Technology, media and telecommunications                   503                      1                        -                      504 
Trade                   228                      6                        44                    278 
Retailers                   247                      1                        -                      248 
Mining and quarrying                   128                    13                          5                    146 
Residential mortgage                       3                     -                          -                          3 
Infrastructure                     46                      1                        -                        47 
Contracting                   158                      6                        -                      164 

Total              44,674                  521                      287               45,482 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Financial services 15,853            16                                          -   15,869              
Government 10,903                                 9                        -   10,912              
Other services 2,771              69                   100                    2,940                
Manufacturing 2,718              86                   36                      2,840                
Agriculture, fishing and forestry 1,653              34                   13                      1,700                
Construction 501                 241                 12                      754                   
Utilities 989                                    54                        -   1,043                
Energy 986                 2                                            -   988                   
Distribution 1,063              32                                          -   1,095                
Personal / consumer finance 1,502              29                   11                      1,542                
Transport 540                 20                   16                      576                   
Commercial real estate financing 1,047              77                                          24 1,148                
Technology, media and telecommunications 533                                      1                          2 536                   
Trade 230                 53                   55                      338                   
Retailers 351                 6                                            -   357                   
Mining and quarrying 94                   12                   5                        111                   
Residential mortgage 3                                         -                          -   3                       
Infrastructure 132                                     -                          -   132                   
Contracting 120                                      5                          2 127                   

Total 41,989            746                 276                    43,011              

2023

Risk concentration of the maximum exposure to credit risk (continued)
An industry sector analysis of the Group's financial assets (after taking risk transfer into account), before taking into
account cash collateral held or other credit enhancements, is as follows:

2024
Gross maximum exposure

Gross maximum exposure

_______________________________________________________________________________________________
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26 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

26.4 Credit risk (continued)

26.4.3

2024 2023

Financial services 10,538               13,443              
Government 15,571               10,906              
Other services 4,212                 2,827                
Manufacturing 2,678                 2,792                
Agriculture, fishing and forestry 1,364                 1,692                
Construction 660                    751                   
Utilities 1,180                 1,042                
Energy 1,249                 988                   
Distribution 831                    1,095                
Personal / consumer finance 1,192                 1,542                
Transport 619                    558                   
Commercial real estate financing 899                    1,028                
Technology, media and telecommunications 503                    535                   
Trade 262                    325                   
Retailers 248                    357                   
Mining and quarrying 146                    111                   
Infrastructure 46                      125                   
Contracting 156                    125                   

Total                 42,354 40,242              

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Financial services                2,358                    21                          2                 2,381 
Government                1,115                     -                            1                 1,116 
Other services                1,311                    36                        22                 1,369 
Manufacturing                1,480                    26                        14                 1,520 
Agriculture, fishing and forestry                   174                     -                          -                      174 
Construction                   335                      4                        -                      339 
Utilities                   825                     -                            1                    826 
Energy                   342                     -                          -                      342 
Distribution                   197                    10                        -                      207 
Personal / consumer finance                     23                     -                          -                        23 
Transport                   404                      9                          1                    414 
Commercial real estate financing                      -                      16                          3                      19 
Technology, media and telecommunications                   147                     -                          -                      147 
Trade                   204                     -                            1                    205 
Retailers                     77                     -                          -                        77 
Mining and quarrying                     56                     -                          -                        56 
Infrastructure                       2                     -                          -                          2 
Contracting                   818                    18                        16                    852 

Total                9,868                  140                        61               10,069 

2024
Gross maximum exposure

An industry sector analysis of the Group's credit commitments and contingent items, before taking into account cash
collateral held or other credit enhancements, is as follows:

Risk concentration of the maximum exposure to credit risk (continued)

Net maximum exposure

An industry sector analysis of the Group's financial assets, after taking into account cash collateral held or other credit
enhancements, is as follows:
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26 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

26.4 Credit risk (continued)

26.4.3

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Financial services                3,874                    53                        -   3,927                
Government                     52                     -                            1 53                     
Other services                   829                    27                        -   856                   
Manufacturing                1,295                    41                          3 1,339                
Agriculture, fishing and forestry                   172                     -                          -   172                   
Construction                   401                      4                        -   405                   
Utilities                   823                      4                        -   827                   
Energy                   377                     -                          -   377                   
Distribution                   186                      8                        -   194                   
Personal / consumer finance                   315                     -                            1 316                   
Transport                   464                    11                        -   475                   
Commercial real estate financing                     57                     -                          -   57                     
Technology, media and telecommunications                   104                     -                            1 105                   
Trade                   113                      4                          3 120                   
Retailers                     98                     -                          -   98                     
Mining and quarrying                     61                     -                          -   61                     
Infrastructure                     57                     -                          -   57                     
Contracting                   879                    45                        13 937                   

Total 10,157            197                 22                      10,376              

  
  

  
  

  
  
  
  
  

  
  

  
  
  

  
  
  

  

2024 2023

Financial services  2,205  3,736
Government  871  53
Other services  1,342  836
Manufacturing  1,515  1,296
Agriculture, fishing and forestry  173  170
Construction  339  405
Utilities  811  825
Energy  341  366
Distribution  200  177
Personal /consumer finance  23  316
Transport  414  464
Commercial real estate financing  19  57
Technology, media and telecommunications  146  104
Trade  201  114
Retailers  77  98
Mining and quarrying  53  58
Infrastructure    2  56
Contracting  849  930

Total  9,581 10,061 

Risk concentration of the maximum exposure to credit risk (continued)

Net maximum exposure

An industry sector analysis of the Group's credit commitments and contingent items, after taking into account cash
collateral held or other credit enhancements, is as follows:

Gross maximum exposure
2023
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26 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

26.4 Credit risk (continued)

26.4.4

Past due
Past due and

High Standard but not 
grade grade* impaired impaired Total

Liquid funds                3,163                   419                     -                          -                   3,582 
Trading debt securities                   332                   496                     -                          -                      828 
Placements with banks and other 

financial institutions                1,000                1,071                     -                          -                   2,071 
Securities bought under repurchase agreements                      -                  1,288                     -                          -                   1,288 
Non-trading debt investments              12,610                3,486                     -                          -                 16,096 
Loans and advances                3,336              14,964                    63                      286               18,649 
Other credit exposures                2,539                   428                     -                            1                 2,968 

             22,980              22,152                    63                      287               45,482 

Past due
Past due and

High Standard but not 
grade grade* impaired impaired Total

Liquid funds 4,271                                182                     -                          -   4,453                
Trading debt securities                   504 556                                     -                          -   1,060                
Placements with banks and other 

financial institutions 780                 1,451                                  -                          -   2,231                
Securities bought under repurchase agreements                   545 1,646                                  -                          -   2,191                
Non-trading debt investments 8,067              3,280                                  -                          -   11,347              
Loans and advances 3,630              15,040                             151                      275 19,096              
Other credit exposures 2,193              439                                     -                            1 2,633                

19,990            22,594                             151 276                    43,011              

individually

individually

The credit quality of financial assets is managed by the Group using internal credit ratings. The table below shows the
credit quality by class of financial asset, based on the Group's credit rating system.

Neither past due nor impaired

Neither past due nor impaired

Credit quality per class of financial assets

31 December 2023

31 December 2024

* Including exposures categorised as watchlist.

_______________________________________________________________________________________________
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Arab Banking Corporation (B.S.C.)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2024

26 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

26.4 Credit risk (continued)

26.4.4 Credit quality per class of financial assets (continued)

26.4.5 Carrying amount per class of financial assets whose terms have been renegotiated as at year-end

2024 2023

Loans and advances 333           406            

26.4.6 Overview of modified or forborne loans

26.4.7 Collateral and other credit enhancements

Credit exposure loan to value ratios of real estate portfolio

26.4.8 Maximum exposure to credit risk – Financial instruments not subject to impairment

2024 2023
Trading securities
- Debt securities 828                1,060              

Trading derivatives 1,104             853                 

Hedging derivatives 121                99                   

Financial assets designated at FVTPL
- Loans and advances to customers 63                  39                   

26.5 Settlement risk

Maximum exposure to credit 
risk

All figures in US$ Million

The amount and type of collateral depends on an assessment of the credit risk of the counterparty. The types of
collateral mainly include cash, guarantees from banks, movable and immovable assets.

Management monitors the market value of collateral, requests additional collateral in accordance with the underlying
agreement, and monitors the market value of collateral obtained during its review of the adequacy of the allowance for
impairment losses.  The Group also makes use of master netting agreements with counterparties. 

Settlement risk is the risk of loss due to the failure of a counterparty to honour its obligations to deliver cash, securities
or other assets as contractually agreed. Where relevant and/or where possible, the Group mitigates this risk through a
settlement agent to ensure that a trade is settled only when both parties fulfil their settlement obligations. Settlement
approvals form a part of credit approval and limit monitoring procedure.

The real estate credit exposure of the Group amounts to US$ 2,027 million (2023: US$ 2,271 million). The average
loan to value ratios for this exposure is 49% (2023 average: 46%).

From a risk management point of view, once an asset is forborne or modified, the Group’s Remedial Loan Unit (RLU)
continues to monitor the exposure until it is completely and ultimately derecognised.

The following table contains an analysis of the maximum credit risk exposure from financial assets not subject to
impairment (i.e. FVTPL):

It is the Group's policy to maintain accurate and consistent risk ratings across the credit portfolio through a risk rating
system. This facilitates focused management of the applicable risks and the comparison of credit exposures across all
lines of business, geographic regions and products. The rating is supported by a variety of financial analytics,
combined with processed market information to provide the main inputs for the measurement of credit risk. All
internal ratings are tailored to the various categories and are derived in accordance with the Group's credit policy. The
attributable risk ratings are assessed and updated regularly. Each risk rating class has grades equivalent to Moody's,
S&P, Fitch and CI rating agencies.

_______________________________________________________________________________________________
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2024

All figures in US$ Million

26 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

26.6 Market risk

26.7 Interest rate risk in the banking book

Increase in Sensitivity Decrease in Sensitivity
basis consolidated basis consolidated
points statement of points statement of

profit or loss profit or loss

US Dollar 25                                      -   25                                       -   
Euro 25                                       1 25                                      (1)
Pound Sterling 25                                      -   25                                       -   
Brazilian Real 25                                       2 25                                      (2)
Others 25                                       1 25                                      (1)

The Group has established risk management policies and limits within which exposure to market risk is monitored and
measured by the Risk Management Department (RMD) with strategic oversight exercised by GALCO. The RMD’s
Market Risk (MR) unit is responsible for oversight of market risk policy, risk measuring/monitoring methodology and
product limits prior to GALCO approval. The unit also has the responsibility to independently measure and report
market risk against limits throughout the Group.

The Group manages market risk by classifying into two types: a) trading market risk; and b) investment market risk.
Trading market risk arises primarily from positions held in the trading books from market-making to support client
activities. This involves the management of client originated exposures in interest rates, equities, corporate and
sovereign debt, foreign exchange rates, commodities and derivatives of these asset classes, such as forwards, futures,
options and swaps. Trading market risk may also arise from positions originated by the Bank subject to the market risk
appetite and limits defined by the GALCO and BRC.

Market risk is the risk that the Group’s earnings or capital, or its ability to support business strategy, will be impacted
by the change in market rates or prices related to interest rates, equity prices, credit spreads, foreign exchange rates,
and commodity prices.

Investment market risk arises from market factors affecting securities held in high quality liquid assets (HQLA)
portfolio and liquid marketable securities which are held under its FVOCI portfolio and where the impact of the
changes in fair value due to market factors is through FVOCI.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates, with all other
variables held constant, of the Group’s consolidated statement of profit or loss.

The trading and investment market risks are independently overseen and monitored by RMD’s Market Risk team
daily. A full suite of risk limits is utilised including Value at Risk, sensitivity limits on key market parameters, notional
limits on the size of investment portfolios and stop-loss limits. Stress testing is also performed to monitor the impact
of various scenarios and significant market movements.  

The sensitivity of the consolidated statement of profit or loss is the effect of the assumed changes in interest rates on
the net interest income for one year, based on financial assets and financial liabilities held at 31 December, including
the effect of hedging instruments. The sensitivity of equity is calculated by revaluing fixed rate FVOCI financial
assets, including the effect of any associated hedges and swaps. Substantially all the FVOCI non-trading securities
held by the Group are floating rate assets. Hence, the sensitivity to changes in equity due to interest rate changes is
minimal.

2024

Interest rate risk in the banking book refers to current or prospective risk to the Group’s capital and earnings arising
from adverse movements in interest rates that affect future profitability or the fair values of financial instruments . The
Group is exposed to interest rate risk because of mismatches of interest rate re pricing of assets and liabilities. This
risk is minimized as the Group's rate sensitive assets and liabilities are mostly floating rate, where the duration risk is
lower. The Group has set risk limits for both earnings at risk (EAR) and economic value of equity (EVE) for interest
rate risk in the banking book (IRRBB). In general, the Group uses matched currency funding and translates fixed rate
instruments to floating rate to better manage the duration in the asset book.

_______________________________________________________________________________________________
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2024

All figures in US$ Million

26 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

26.7 Interest rate risk in the banking book (continued)

Increase in Sensitivity Decrease in Sensitivity
basis consolidated basis consolidated
points statement of points statement of

profit or loss profit or loss

US Dollar 25                                       1 25                                      (1)
Euro 25                                       1 25                                      (1)
Pound Sterling 25                                       1 25                                      (1)
Brazilian Real 25                                       2 25                                      (2)
Others 25                                       1 25                                      (1)

26.8 Currency risk

Change in Effect on Change in Effect on
currency profit Effect on currency profit Effect on

 rate in % before tax equity  rate in % before tax equity
Currency
Brazilian Real +/- 5%                 -   +/-34 +/- 5%                    -   +/-38
Egyptian Pound +/- 5%                 -   +/-11 +/- 5%                    -   +/-16
Jordanian Dinar +/- 5% +/-1 +/-10 +/- 5% +/-3 +/-10
Algerian Dinar +/- 5%                 -   +/-9 +/- 5%                    -   +/-9
Tunisian Dinar +/- 5%                 -   +/-2 +/- 5%                    -   +/-1
Bahrain Dinar +/- 5% +/-5                  -   +/- 5% +/-2                      -   
Saudi Riyal +/- 5% +/-10                  -   +/- 5% +/-8                      -   

26.9 Equity price risk

The table below indicates the currencies to which the Group had significant exposure at 31 December 2024 and 31
December 2023 on its monetary assets and liabilities and its forecast cash flows. The analysis calculates the effect of a
reasonably possible movement of the currency rate against the US$, with all other variables held constant on the
consolidated statement of profit or loss (due to the fair value of currency sensitive trading and non-trading monetary
assets and liabilities) and equity (due to the change in fair value of currency swaps and forward foreign exchange
contracts used as fair value hedges) and the effect of the impact of foreign currency movements on the structural
positions of the Bank in its subsidiaries. A negative amount in the table reflects a potential net reduction in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss or equity, while a positive amount reflects a potential net increase.

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equities decrease as the result of changes in the levels of equity
indices and the value of individual stocks. The non-trading equity price risk exposure arises from the Group's
securities portfolio.

2024 2023

Currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange rates. 

The Group applies temporary reliefs available under phase 1 and 2 amendments which enable its hedge accounting to
continue during the period of uncertainty, before the replacement of an existing interest rate benchmark with an ARR.
These are explained in note 4. During the year 2023 and 2024, all of the Group's exposures have transitioned to ARRs.

The IBOR reforms exposes the Group to risks including risks relating to interest rate basis, pricing, operations and
information system.  

Managing interest rate benchmark reform and associated risks

2023

_______________________________________________________________________________________________
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31 December 2024

All figures in US$ Million

26 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

26.9 Equity price risk (continued)

Effect on Effect on
consolidated consolidated

statement statement
% Change in of profit or loss/ % Change in of profit or loss/

equity price equity equity price equity

Trading equities +/- 5% +/-1 +/- 5% +/-1

Equity securities at FVOCI +/- 5% +/-1 +/- 5% +/-1

26.10 Operational risk

●

●

●

●

●

●
●
●
●
●
●
●

The GORCO:

The Group adheres to the three lines of defence model for the management of operational risk. The first line comprises
of the risk owners in the business or functions. The second line is represented by Operational Risk Management and
the Subject Matter Experts (SME) for respective risk types as indicated in the Group Risk Taxomony while Internal
Audit acts as the third line. 

Operational risk is defined as the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people and systems 
including internal frauds, or from external events.

The Group Operational Risk Committee (GORCO), as a sub-committee of Group Risk Committee (GRC) assists with
the management of Operational Risks across the Group to ensure that the Operational Risk Framework and Policy as
approved by the BRC, is implemented and monitored across the Group.

2024 2023

Change inChange in

The effect on equity (as a result of a change in the fair value of trading equity instruments and equity instruments held
at FVOCI) due to a reasonably possible change in equity indices or the net asset values, with all other variables held
constant, is as follows:

Group Risk Taxonomy

Risk Register

Defines the policy for the management of Operational Risks and recommends for approval by the GRC and
BRC.

Review and recommend the Operational Risk Appetite and Group Risk Taxonomy for approval by the GRC
and BRC.

Monitors and reviews the Operational Risk profile across various Group businesses and its subsidiaries.

Defines the various components of the Operational Risk Management Framework at the Group and oversees
the implementation of the framework across the Group.

Oversees the actions taken are in line with the Operational Risk Appetite.

The implementation of the Operational Risk Management Framework is governed by the GORCO. Respective Local
Operational Risk Committees oversee the implementation of the Operational Risk Management Framework and the
management of Operational Risk across all subsidiaries and branches of the Group. The Group Operational Risk
Management Department at Head Office is responsible for the development of the group-wide methodology, quality
control and system support.

The Group has implemented the following elements for the management of Operational Risks:

Operational Risk Appetite, as part of the Group Risk Appetite Statement;

Incident management;
Risk & Control Self-Assessments;
Issue and Action management; 
Key Risk Indicators; and

_______________________________________________________________________________________________
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All figures in US$ Million

26 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

26.10 Operational risk (continued)

Operational risk appetite

26.10.1 Operational resilience

● Cyber security and Information security
● Information Technology
● Business Continuity, Disaster Recovery and Crisis Management
● Bank’s compliance with Privacy laws (Personal Data Protection) 
● Outsourcing and Vendor Management (External dependencies)

Operational resilience is the ability of the Bank to anticipate, prevent, adapt, respond to, recover and learn from
operational disruptions while minimising customer, firm and market impact.
 

The GORC meets 4 times a year and reviews and recommends to GRC, the Bank’s business resilience for each area.

The Group Operational Resilience Committee (“GORC”) assists GRC with the oversight of the Bank’s Operational
resilience practices that is driven by the activities in the following areas:

Operational Risk incidents, issues and Key Risk Incidents are captured in a group-wide Governance, Risk and
Compliance solution. This group-wide solution is being used by Audit, Risk and Compliance.

The Group has defined Operational Risk appetite based on Cumutlative Gross and Net Operational Losses and Single
Largest Operational Loss. These metrics are monitored by the Board Risk Committee. In addition, a set of Early
Warning Indicators are used to monitor different non-financial risk types.

_______________________________________________________________________________________________
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Arab Banking Corporation (B.S.C.)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2024

27 OPERATING SEGMENTS

●

●

●
●

●

International
MENA wholesale Group ABC

subsidiaries banking treasury Brasil Other Total

Net interest income 210         205             22              299         166                          902 
Other operating income 48           108             62              152         67                            437 

Total operating income           258               313                84           451            233             1,339 

Total operating expenses (129)        (157)                         (24) (200)                  (113)              (623)

129         156             60                        251            120 716              
Credit loss expense (20)          (56)                             -   (66)                        (1) (143)             

109         100             60                        185            119 573              
Taxation expense on

foreign operations (38)          (19)                             -   (15)                        -   (72)               
Unallocated operating expenses (150)             

Profit for the year 351              

Operating assets
as at 31 December 2024 4,896      11,001        19,068       10,652    648           46,265         

Operating liabilities
as at 31 December 2024 4,196      -              26,879       9,585      962           41,622         

Other includes activities of Arab Financial Services Company B.S.C. (c) and ila Bank. 

Group treasury comprises treasury activities of Bahrain Head Office, New York and London;
ABC Brasil primarily reflects the commercial banking and treasury activities of the Brazilian subsidiary
Banco ABC Brasil S.A., focusing on the corporate and middle market segments in Brazil and its related
holding Company; and

All figures in US$ Million

For management purposes, the Group is organised into five operating segments which are based on business units
and their activities. The Group has accordingly been structured to place its activities under the distinct divisions
which are as follows:

MENA subsidiaries cover retail, corporate and treasury activities of subsidiaries in North Africa and
Levant;
International wholesale banking encompasses corporate and structured finance, trade finance, Islamic
banking services and syndications;

2024

Profit before taxation and 

    unallocated operating expenses

Net operating profit before
    credit loss expense, taxation and

   unallocated operating expenses
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Arab Banking Corporation (B.S.C.)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2024

All figures in US$ Million

27 OPERATING SEGMENTS (continued)

International
MENA wholesale Group ABC

subsidiaries banking treasury Brasil Other Total

Net interest income 221         203             46              307         158           935              
Other operating income 45           82               39              131         47             344              

Total operating income 266         285             85              438         205           1,279           

Total operating expenses (134)        (132)            (31)             (199)        (102)         (598)             

132         153             54              239         103           681              
Credit loss expense (34)          (32)                             -   (78)                        (1) (145)             

Profit before taxation and 
unallocated operating expenses 98           121             54              161         102           536              

Taxation expense on
foreign operations (50)          (14)              (2)               (8)                          -   (74)               

Unallocated operating expenses (166)             

Profit for the year 296              

Operating assets
as at 31 December 2023 5,343      8,698          18,034       11,364    453           43,892         

Operating liabilities
as at 31 December 2023 4,641                      -   23,629       10,113    705           39,088         

Geographical information

2024 Bahrain Europe Brasil Other Total

Total operating income 393             172            447         327                       1,339 

2023

Total operating income 341             167            441         330           1,279           

The Group operates in six geographic markets: Middle East and North Africa, Western Europe, Asia, North
America, Latin America and others. The following table show the external total operating income of the major
units within the Group that covers these markets, based on the country of domicile of the entity for the years ended
31 December 2024 and 2023:

There were no revenues derived from transactions with a single external customer that amounted to 10% or more
of the Group's revenue (2023: 10%).

2023

    unallocated operating expenses
    credit loss expense, taxation and
Net operating profit before
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Arab Banking Corporation (B.S.C.)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2024

All figures in US$ Million

28 REPURCHASE AND RESALE AGREEMENTS

29

Ultimate Major
parent shareholder Directors 2024 2023

         2,795              -             38       2,833 2,986         
         1,115              -              -         1,115 1,115         

Additional / perpetual tier-1 capital*             390              -              -            390 390            

         1,049              -              -         1,049 966            

2024 2023

Commission income 22           18              
Interest expense 250         257            

Compensation of the key management personnel is as follows:
2024 2023

Short term employee benefits 24           21              
Post employment benefits 3             4                

           27 25              

30

31

Proceeds from assets sold under repurchase agreements at the year-end amounted to US$ 10,086 million (2023:
US$ 6,933 million). The carrying value of securities sold under repurchase agreements at the year-end amounted
to US$ 10,295 million (2023: US$ 7,245 million).

Amounts paid for assets purchased under resale agreements at the year-end amounted to US$ 1,288 million (2023:
US$ 2,191 million), net of ECL allowance, and relate to customer product and treasury activities. The market
value of the securities purchased under resale agreements at the year-end amounted to US$ 1,480 million (2023:
US$ 2,577 million).

TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES

Deposits from customers
Borrowings

Related parties represent the ultimate parent, major shareholders, associates, directors and key management
personnel of the Group and entities controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced by such parties.
Pricing policies and terms of these transactions are approved by the Group's management.

The year-end balances in respect of related parties included in the consolidated financial statements are as follows: 

The income and expenses in respect of related parties included in the consolidated financial statements are as
follows:

Funds under management at the year-end amounted to US$ 19,586 million (2023: US$ 18,506 million). These
assets are held in a fiduciary capacity and are not included in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Short-term self-liquidating trade and
transaction-related contingent items

Deposits from customers, banks and borrowings include Islamic deposits of US$ 2,649 million (2023: US$ 3,769
million). Loans and advances, non-trading investments and placements include Islamic assets of US$ 1,161 million
(2023: US$  1,021 million), US$ 1,258 (2023: US$ 809 million) and US$ nil (2023: US$ nil).

ISLAMIC DEPOSITS AND ASSETS

FIDUCIARY ASSETS

* During the year, the Group has paid interest on additional / perpetual tier-1 capital amounting to US$ 19 million
(2023: US$ 18 million) which has been charged to the consolidated statement of changes in equity.
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Arab Banking Corporation (B.S.C.)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2024

32

33

33.1 Basic and diluted earnings per share

2024 2023

Profit attributable to the shareholders of the parent 285             235             
Net profit attributable to the shareholders of the parent after adjusting

for interest paid on additional / perpetual tier-1 capital (for basic and
diluted earnings per share) 266             217             

Weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year
(millions) for basic and diluted earnings per share 3,094          3,094          

Basic and diluted earnings per share (US$) 0.086          0.070          

33.2 Proposed dividends and transfers
2024 2023

Proposed cash dividend for 2024 of US$ 0.0275 per share
(2023: US$ 0.0225 per share) 86               70               

The proposed cash dividend is subject to regulatory approvals and approval at the Annual General Meeting.

34

All figures in US$ Million

CAPITAL ADEQUACY

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management policies are to ensure that the Group complies with
externally imposed capital requirements and that the Group maintains strong credit ratings and healthy capital
ratios in order to support its business and to maximise shareholders’ value.

ASSETS PLEDGED AS SECURITY

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to shareholders of the parent for the year
by the weighted average number of shares during the year. Diluted EPS is calculated by dividing the profit
attributable to shareholders of the parent by the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year
plus the weighted average number of shares that would be issued on conversion of all the dilutive potential shares
into shares.

At the reporting date, in addition to the items mentioned in note 28, assets amounting to US$ 443 million (2023:
US$ 363 million) have been pledged as security for borrowings and other banking operations.  

BASIC AND DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE AND PROPOSED DIVIDENDS AND 
TRANSFERS

The Group's earnings for the year (before proposed dividends) are as follows:

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic conditions
and the risk characteristics of its activities. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust
the amount of dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue capital securities. No
changes were made in the objectives, policies and processes from the previous years.
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All figures in US$ Million

34

2024 2023

[a]            3,886            4,080 
              535               464 

[b]            4,421            4,544 

              327               325 

[c]            4,748            4,869 

2024 2023

         24,899          27,632 
           1,722               836 
           1,935            1,758 

[d]          28,556          30,226 

[a/d*100] 13.6% 13.5%

[b/d*100] 15.5% 15.0%

[c/d*100] 16.6% 16.1%

12.5% 12.5%

The Group has complied with all the capital adequacy requirements as set by the CBB.

The Group’s capital base primarily comprises:

(b) Additional Tier 1 Capital: eligible portion of a perpetual financial instrument issued by the Bank's subsidiary; 

(c) Tier 2 capital: eligible non controlling interests and  expected credit losses.

(a) Tier 1 capital: share capital, treasury shares, reserves, retained earnings, non controlling interests, profit for the
year and cumulative changes in fair value;

Minimum requirement for Risk asset ratio

Risk asset ratio

Total risk weighted assets

Operational risk weighted assets

RISK WEIGHTED EXPOSURES 

Market risk weighted assets and off balance sheet items 
Credit risk weighted assets and off balance sheet items

Tier 1 ratio

CET 1 ratio

The credit risk asset ratio calculations as at 31 December 2024 are based on standardised measurement
methodology and in accordance with the CBB Basel III guidelines. During 2024, the Group changed its method of
calculation of risk weighted assets from line by line consolidation approach to aggregation approach for one of its
subsidiaries upon approval from the CBB. Hence, the capital adequacy ratio as of 31 December 2024 has been
computed on the above basis as compared to consolidation approach as of 31 December 2023. 

CET 1
AT 1

Total capital base  

CAPITAL BASE

Total Tier 1 capital

Tier 2

CAPITAL ADEQUACY (continued)
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All figures in US$ Million

35 CHANGES IN LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

1
January 

2024
Cash flow, 

net

Foreign 
exchange 

movement

31 
December 

2024

Certificates of deposit 142            102                         -                244 
Borrowings 1,303         109                       (31)           1,381 

Total liabilities from financing activities          1,445             211             (31)           1,625 

1
January 

2023
Cash flow, 

net

Foreign 
exchange 

movement

31 
December 

2023

Certificates of deposit 435                      (299)                 6 142            
Borrowings          1,297                 2                 4 1,303         

Total liabilities from financing activities 1,732                   (297)               10 1,445         

36 GOODWILL ON BUSINESS ACQUISTION

36.1 Goodwill on acquisition of BLOM Bank Egypt

2024 2023

As at 1 January 41 51
Exchange rate movement (16)            (10)             

As at 31 December 25 41

36.2 Impairment testing of Goodwill and CDI acquired

• 

• 

• 
• 
• 

Interest margins

The goodwill acquired through business combination is reviewed annually for impairment. At each reporting period,
an assessment is made for indicators of impairment. If indicators exist, an impairment test is required. The impairment
test compares the estimated recoverable amount of the Group’s CGUs that carry goodwill, as determined through a
Value-In-Use (VIU) model, with the carrying amount of net assets of each CGU. The goodwill has been allocated to
the CGU, MENA subsidiaries, which is also operating and reportable segment.

The recoverable amount of the CGU has been determined based on residual income approach. The VIU model used
projected cash flows in perpetuity through a 8-year forward period of projections, and thereafter applying a (long-
term) terminal growth rate. Significant assumptions used in the residual income model for impairment assessment are:

Discount rate of 21% (2023: 20%), which is derived using a capital asset pricing model and comparing it with
cost of capital rates produced by external sources.
Long-term profit growth rate of 3% (2023: 7%), adjusted for expected changes in benchmark interest rates and
sector growth rates over time, applied to projected periods beyond 2032.

The calculation of VIU in the CGU is most sensitive to the following assumptions:

projected growth rates used to extrapolate cash flows beyond the projection period.

interest margins;
discount rates; and

Interest margins are based on prevailing market rates at the start of the budget period. These are changed over the
budget period for anticipated market conditions.
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All figures in US$ Million

36 GOODWILL ON BUSINESS ACQUISTION (continued)

36.2 Impairment testing of Goodwill and CDI acquired

Discount rates

Other intangibles

• 

• 

37 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

There were no subsequent events through 9 February 2025, the date the consolidated financial statements were
approved by the Board of Directors which may impact the consolidated financial statements.

Acquired other intangibles are recognised at their ‘fair value’ upon initial recognition. The specific criteria which
needs to be satisfied for an intangible asset to be recognised separately from goodwill in an acquisition is that the
intangible asset must be clearly identifiable, in that it either;

The Bank identified CDI’s as other intangibles which are being amortised using the straight-line method over the
useful life of the asset, which is estimated to be 10 years. If an indication of impairment arises, the recoverable
amount is estimated and an impairment loss is recognised if the recoverable amount is lower than the carrying
amount. There were no indicators of impairment identified with respect to CDI.

Discount rates reflect management’s estimate of Return on Capital Employed (‘ROCE’) required in each business.
This is the benchmark used by management to assess operating performance and to evaluate future investment
proposals. Discount rates are calculated by using a capital asset pricing model.

Assumptions are based on published industry research. At 31 December 2024, the goodwill impairment test
determined there was no impairment required to the CGU allocated to MENA subsidiaries. 

The forecast cash flows have been discounted using the discount rate mentioned above. A 1% point increase in the
discount rate or decrease in the terminal growth rate keeping other factors constant would reduce the recoverable
amount of the CGU and will result in a goodwill impairment.

Projected growth rates used to extrapolate cash flows beyond the projection period

be separable, that is, be capable of being separated or divided from the entity and sold, transferred,
licensed, rented or exchanged, either individually or together with a related contract, asset or liability; or

arise from contractual or other legal rights, regardless of whether those rights are transferable or separable
from the entity or from other rights and obligations.
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Overall Summary

Bank ABC reported a surge in 2024 annual Net Profit attributable to its shareholders of 21% YOY reaching 
US$285 million. This success was due to strong core business growth, cost discipline, and a stable funding 
base, along with interest rate tailwinds and steady cost of credit. 

The Group improved its Total Operating Income by 5% in 2024 to reach US$1,339 million. This growth was 
well diversified across our markets and business lines. Net interest income decreased by -4% year-on-year 
impacted by declining margins and FX rate tailwinds in some of our key markets. Other operating income 
grew by 27% due to increased volumes, client cross-selling and ancillary fee income. 

Achieving excellent earnings growth

In 2024, the Group built on the momentum from the previous year to earn a Net Profit of US$285 million, 
a record high in the history of the bank. This is a significant 21% growth from core business compared to 
2023, when the Group earned US$235 million in net profit. This growth in profit in 2024 resulted in earnings 
per share for the year of US$0.086, compared to US$0.070 for 2023.

The Group’s revenues reached a record level of US$1,339 million for the full year, a rise of 5% from US$1,279 
million in 2023, demonstrating our established strength in core MENA markets and ambitious growth of our 
footprint globally. We continued our investments into strategic digital initiatives and enhanced our digital 
proposition through a range of key partnerships and initiatives to build our ‘Bank of the Future.’ Our digital 
mobile-only bank, ila, and our fintech payments provider Arab Financial Services also achieved excellent 
revenue growth. Global growth was bolstered by advancing of the integration between Bank ABC Egypt and 
erstwhile BLOM Bank Egypt (BBE) acquired in 2021.

Net interest income for the year was US$902 million, a decrease of 4% compared to US$935 million in 2023. 
Non-interest income jumped by 27% to US$437 million from US$344 million the previous year. 

As well as strong revenue growth, the Group continued to enforce appropriate cost discipline without 
compromising on investments in digital transformation and other strategic initiatives. Operating expenses totalled 
US$773 million for 2024, rising modestly by 1% from US$764 million. Given revenue growth at 5%, this resulted in 
“Positive jaws” of 4%, and the cost to income ratio improved by 2% to 57.7% from 59.7% in the previous year.

Credit loss expenses for the year stood at US$143 million, compared with the previous year’s US$145 million. 
Taxation on operations was a charge of US$72 million (2023: US$74 million), resulting in the full year net 
profit attributable to the shareholders of the parent of US$285 million (2023: US$235 million).
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Sources and uses of funds

Notwithstanding the challenging conditions of the year, the Group’s overall asset portfolio quality remains 
solid, and our underwriting standards are sound. Equity attributable to the shareholders of the parent and 
perpetual instrument holders at the end of the period was US$4,207 million, a decrease of 2% from the 
US$4,300 million reported at end of 2023, primarily resulting from FX translation impacts of EGP (primarily 
during Q1) and BRL (in Q4), 2023 dividend payment offset by the 2024 Net Profit. The net impact of these 
resulted in total comprehensive income attributable to the shareholders of the parent at a negative 
US$12 million, compared to a positive US$258 million reported last year (when the currencies remained 
broadly stable).

The Group’s asset profile is predominantly made up of loans, securities, and placements. The loans and 
advances portfolio stood at US$18,649 million, 2% lower than the US$19,096 million posted at year-end 2023. 
Non-trading investments increased by US$4,749 million to US$16,117 million, while money market placements 
and liquid funds including securities bought under repurchase agreements decreased by US$1,893 million to 
US$6,995 million. 

Deposits from customers decreased by US$1,274 million to US$22,431 million. Deposits from banks, 
certificates of deposit and repos totalled US$14,958 million (2023: US$11,210 million), while borrowings 
totalled US$1,381 million (2023: US$1,303 million). 

Total assets of the Group at the end of the year stood at US$46,265 million, 5% higher than at US$43,892 
million as at year-end 2023. Average assets for the year were US$44,366 million (2023: US$39,480 million) 
and average liabilities, including non-controlling interests, were US$40,138 million (2023: US$35,320 million).

Credit commitments, contingent items and derivatives

The notional value of the Group’s consolidated off-balance sheet items stood at US$61,089 million (2023: 
US$50,929 million), comprising credit commitments and contingencies of US$10,069 million (2023: US$10,376 
million) and derivatives of US$51,020 million (2023: US$40,553 million). The credit risk-weighted asset 
equivalent of these off-balance sheet items was US$4,345 million (2023: US$4,225 million). 

The Group uses a range of derivative products for the purposes of hedging and servicing customer-related 
requirements, as well as for short-term trading purposes. The total market risk-weighted equivalent of 
the exposures under these categories at the end of 2024 was US$1,175 million (2023: US$799 million). No 
significant credit derivative trading activities were undertaken during the year.
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Geographical and maturity distribution of the balance sheet

Bank ABC Group has well diversified assets, primarily across the Arab world, the Americas and Western 
Europe. The Group’s liabilities and equity are predominantly in the Arab world (52%; vs. 56% in 2023), 
followed by Latin America (18%; vs. 19% in 2023), chiefly in our Brazilian subsidiary, Banco ABC Brasil.

Financial assets Liabilities & equity Loans & advances

(%) 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023

Arab world 27 31 52 56 33 34

Western Europe 11 11 17 13 15 13

Asia 2 2 3 2 2 1

North America 30 25 9 9 10 9

Latin America 21 25 18 19 31 35

Others 9 6 1 1 9 8

100 100 100 100 100 100

An analysis of the maturity profile of financial assets according to when they are expected to be recovered 
or settled, or when they could be realised, shows that at the end of 2024, 69% (2023: 69%) had a maturity 
of one year or less. Loans and advances maturing within one year amounted to 66% (2023: 63%). The 
proportion of liabilities maturing within one year was 48% (2023: 51%). 

Financial assets Liabilities & equity

(%) 2024 2023 2024 2023

Within 1 month 36 32 20 20

1-3 months 15 18 9 12

3-6 months 8 9 6 7

6-12 months 10 10 13 12

Over 1 year 23 23 35 31

Undated 8 8 17 18

100 100 100 100
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Distribution of credit exposure

ABC Group’s credit exposure (defined as the gross credit risk to which the Group is potentially exposed) as 
of 31 December 2024 is given below:

Funded exposure
Credit

commitments & 
contingent items

Derivatives*

(US$ millions) 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023

Customer type

Banks 5,645 6,094 1,601 2,183 207 313

Non-banks 19,798 19,131 7,337 7,211 1,014 305

Sovereign 17,276 15,409 1,132 982 4 5

42,719 40,634 10,070 10,376 1,225 623

Risk rating

1 = Exceptional 712  895 2 964 - -

2 = Excellent 13,302 10,738 216 157 25 48

3 = Superior 3,696 3,382 812 923 86 203

4 = Good 2,652 2,792 1,522 1,248 12 22

5 = Satisfactory 11,526 10,128 5,252 5,003 940 293

6 = Adequate 8,870 11,161 1,769 1,729 146 51

7 = Marginal 1,404 1,162 294 181 13 6

8 = Special Mention 270 137 145 109 3 -

9 = Substandard 160 186 46 49 - -

10 = Doubtful 53 46 6 6 - -

11 = Loss 74 7 6 7 - -

42,719 40,634 10,070 10,376 1,225 623

* Derivative exposures are computed as the cost of replacing derivative contracts represented by mark-to-
market values where they are positive, and an estimate of the potential change in market values reflecting 
the volatilities that affect them.   
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Classified exposures and impairment provisions

The total of all impaired loans as at the end of 2024 was US$699 million (2023: US$710 million). ECL 
allowances including stage 3 provisions at the end of 2024 stood at US$617 million (2023: US$648 million).

The total of all impaired securities as at the end of 2024 was US$64 million (2023: US$74 million). ECL 
allowances, including stage 3 provisions, at the end of 2024 stood at US$75 million (2023: US$88 million).

The ageing analysis of impaired loans and securities is as follows: 

Impaired loans

(US$ millions) Principal Provisions Net book value

Less than 3 months 93 33 60

3 months to 1 year 163 59 104

1 to 3 years 297 190 107

Over 3 years 146 131 15

Total 699 413 286

Impaired securities

(US$ millions) Principal Provisions Net book value

Less than 3 months - - -

3 months to 1 year - - -

1 to 3 years - - -

Over 3 years 64 64 -

Total 64 64 -

Note: Impaired loans and off-balance sheet credits are formally defined as those in default on contractual 
repayments of principal or on payment of interest in excess of 90 days. In practice, however, all credits that 
give rise to reasonable doubt as to timely collection, whether or not they are in default as so defined, are 
treated as non-performing and specific provisions made, if required. Such credits are immediately placed on 
non-accrual status and related interest income reversed. Any release of the accumulated unpaid interest 
thereafter is made only as permitted by International Financial Reporting Standards.
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Group capital structure and capital adequacy ratios

Bank ABC’s balance sheet remains strong with capital and liquidity ratios well above the regulatory 
requirements. LCR and NSFR stood at 198% and 123% respectively as at year-end 2024, while liquid assets 
to deposits ratio maintained a healthy level at 50.0%.

The Group’s capital base of US$4,748 million comprises Tier 1 capital of US$4,421 million (2023: US$4,544 
million) and Tier 2 capital of US$327 million (2023: US$325 million). 

The consolidated capital adequacy ratio (CAR) was at 31 December 2024, calculated in accordance with the 
prevailing Basel III rules, was 16.6% (2023: 16.1%), well above the 12.5% minimum set by the Central Bank of 
Bahrain. The CAR comprised predominantly Tier 1 ratio of 15.5% (2023: 15.0%), well above the 10.5% minimum 
set by the Central Bank of Bahrain.

All ABC Group subsidiaries meet the capital adequacy requirements of their respective regulatory authorities.

Resilient performance in an uncertain economic environment 

Our core and network markets faced significant uncertainty and volatility in 2024, including from geopolitical 
and macroeconomic factors. The Russo-Ukrainian Conflict and the Gaza Conflict continued and threatened 
to widen, with ebbs and surges impacting global activity through channels such as commodity prices, 
maritime traffic and insurance costs, subdued tourism and private investment flows and weaker market 
sentiment. Elevated policy interest rates led to weaker credit demand and threatened credit quality. Against 
this background, global growth is estimated to have eased to 3.2% in 2024, down from 3.3% in 2023. Growth 
in MENA is estimated at 2.1% in 2024, slightly better than the 1.9% expansion in 2023. 

Reflecting these headwinds, the EGP was devalued sharply in Egypt during the first quarter of 2024 to 
about EGP50 against the dollar from under EGP 31 previously to cope with a foreign currency scarcity 
triggered in part by lower Suez Canal revenues due to regional conflict. Elsewhere, rising fiscal deficits 
and poor market confidence led to the BRL depreciating by about a fifth during 2024, weakening to 
BRL6.2 against the US Dollar from under BRL5 at the end of 2023. Elevated policy interest rates have also 
pressured credit quality, including in the US commercial real estate market. However, with concerns about 
inflation easing and giving way to a desire to avert a pronounced, broader slowdown, major central banks 
embarked on a monetary easing cycle. 

Looking ahead to 2025

Looking forward, global growth is expected to improve to 3.3% in 2025, supported by the recent easing in 
financial conditions. However, there is significant uncertainty due to increased economic and trade related 
protectionism, which poses downside risks to the outlook. The pace of growth in MENA is expected to rise 
to 3.3% as headwinds from OPEC+ related production curbs gradually ease and relaxed financial conditions 
support non-hydrocarbon activity. 
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The year ahead will present continuing challenges and opportunities for the industry to navigate. Ongoing 
geopolitical tensions may lead to extended economic stress on the more vulnerable economies in the region. 
Conversely, an early conclusion of regional hostilities could pave the way for reconstruction and boost 
activity and confidence. In many markets, the interest rate cycle has turned as inflation abates, presenting 
repricing challenges and refinancing opportunities. Increasing protectionism could impact trade volumes and 
business activity. Multiple factors will affect the competitive environment. New technologies, such as artificial 
intelligence (AI), will continue to emerge, while new banking regulations on capital and climate change will 
come into effect.

Bank ABC is positioned to capitalise on opportunities ahead

Despite these headwinds, Bank ABC is cautiously optimistic about the outlook and the prospects for a further 
improvement in the operating environment in 2025 which will be beneficial for all stakeholders. The Group is 
confident it can capitalise on its strengths and continue to accelerate its performance. We remain focused on 
executing our Group Strategy to drive both near-term and long-term value creation for our shareholders. 

Bank ABC will remain vigilant on emerging risks, while continuing its focus on capital efficiency and balance 
sheet capacity, building on the momentum of the strong business pipeline achieved in 2024. We will reap 
the benefits of our investments in our digital capabilities and technology platforms, positioning Bank ABC 
to be at the forefront of AI and other developments in data, and digital product and service propositions to 
unleash greater efficiency, agility, and performance throughout the Group.

Group Financial Review
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(All figures stated in US dollars unless otherwise indicated)

Arab Banking Corporation B.S.C. (“Bank ABC”) follows internationally-recognised best practice principles 
and guidelines, having in place a corporate governance system that provides an effective and transparent 
control framework that is fair and accountable.

The Central Bank of Bahrain (“CBB”) licenses Bank ABC as a conventional wholesale bank. Incorporated in 
1980 as a Bahrain joint stock company, Bank ABC has an authorised capital of US$4.5 billion and a paid-up 
capital of US$3.11 billion as at 31 December 2024 (31 December 2023: US$3.11 billion).

Bank ABC communicates all relevant information to stakeholders punctually and clearly through a variety 
of channels, including a well-maintained website. In particular, it reports its profits on an annual, semi-annual 
and quarterly basis.

At least the last five years’ consolidated financial statements are available on the Bank ABC 
corporate website.

Shareholders

Bank ABC’s shares have been listed on the Bahrain Bourse since 1990. The Central Bank of Libya 
(“CBL”), one of Bank ABC’s founding shareholders, owns a majority of the shares. The CBL increased its 
shareholding to 59.37% in 2010 by participating in that year’s capital increase and acquiring the Abu Dhabi 
Investment Authority’s 17.72% shareholding. The Kuwait Investment Authority, another of Bank ABC’s 
founding shareholder, continues to own 29.69% of the shares. Each of the foregoing shareholders is either 
a governmental entity or is (directly or indirectly) owned by a governmental entity in its jurisdiction of 
establishment. International and regional investors hold the remaining shares of Bank ABC.

The following table shows the ownership structure of Bank ABC as at 31 December 2024:

Name of Shareholder Percentage Shareholding Nationality

Central Bank of Libya 59.37% Libyan

Kuwait Investment Authority 29.69% Kuwaiti

Other shareholders with less than 5% holdings 10.94% Various

Total 100%  
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The following table shows the distribution of shareholdings as at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023.

% of 
shares held

2024 2023

No. of
shares

No. of
shareholders

% of total 
outstanding

shares
No. of

shares
No. of

shareholders

% of total 
outstanding

shares

less than 1% 128,344,432 1,329 4.1 128,344,432 1,341 4.1

1% up to 
less than 5%

211,976,668 3 6.8 211,976,668 3 6.8

5% up to 
less than 10%

- - - - - -

10% up to 
less than 20%

- - - - - -

20% up to 
less than 50%

923,289,191 1 29.7 923,289,191 1 29.7

50% and above 1,846,389,709 1 59.4 1,846,389,709 1 59.4

Total 3,110,000,000 1,334 100 3,110,000,000 1,346 100

Bank ABC’s Corporate Governance Charter 

In 2010, the CBB substantially updated its corporate governance requirements (particularly the CBB 
Rulebook’s High Level Controls Module) for financial institutions, which are incorporated in Bahrain (the “CBB 
Corporate Governance Requirements”) and most recently updated via revisions to the High-Levels Control 
(HC) Module in April 2023, which came into effect from 1st October 2023. Such regulatory requirements 
largely correspond with the Corporate Governance Code of Bahrain of 2022 (the “Code”), which is issued 
by the Ministry of Industry and commerce. The Board of Directors adopted the Bank ABC Corporate 
Governance Charter in December 2010 (the “Corporate Governance Charter”), which substantially reflects 
the CBB Corporate Governance Requirements and the Code as they have evolved. Bank ABC reviews on 
a regular basis the Corporate Governance Charter and, whenever required, makes the necessary and 



appropriate amendments. The Corporate Governance Charter is published on the Bank ABC corporate 
website and deals with a number of corporate governance related matters, including:

	 the role and responsibilities of the Board and its committees;

	 the responsibilities of Directors to Bank ABC and the shareholders;

	 the appointment, training and evaluation of the Board;

	 remuneration of the Board and of Bank ABC employees;

	 Bank ABC’s management structure; 

	 communications with shareholders and the disclosure of information to relevant stakeholders; and

	 the detailed mandates of each of the committees of the Board.

Recent Corporate Governance Changes 

In 2024, and as part of Bank ABC’s commitment to aligning with the latest regulatory standards and 
corporate governance best practices, the Corporate Governance Charter has been updated following a 
comprehensive review of the revised CBB Rulebook’s High Level Controls Module. The key changes fall into 
three main categories: (i) introduction of new sections, (ii) revisions to existing provisions, and (iii) minor 
adjustments and deletions to ensure compliance with regulatory requirements. 

There were some changes to the Group Audit Charter, Group Compliance Charter, and Group Risk Committee 
Charter, mainly to align these charters with the revised CBB Rulebook’s High Level Controls Module. 

Compliance with CBB Corporate Governance Requirements and the Code 

Bank ABC was compliant with the CBB Corporate Governance Requirements and the Code as at 
31 December 2024, save that the Chairman of the Board is not an independent Director, the Corporate 
Governance Committee was comprised of less than three independent Directors (although the majority 
of Directors are independent) and the Board Audit Committee comprised of two independent Directors 
(including its Chairman) and two non-executive Directors (which requires that the Audit Committee shall 
comprise of at least three members, provided that the majority of them are independent). Despite the 
variance in the letter of the requirements, given the checks and balances in the decision making process 
and alignment with the CBB, Bank ABC is compliant with the CBB Corporate Governance Requirements.

Corporate Governance
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Responsibilities of the Board

Bank ABC has previously adopted both a corporate governance charter for the Board and charters for 
the various Board committees (the “Bank ABC Board Mandates”). The Bank ABC Board Mandates are 
displayed on the Bank ABC corporate website. The Board of Directors is responsible for the overall direction, 
supervision and control of the Bank ABC Group. In particular, the Board’s responsibilities include (but are not 
limited to):

a)	 those responsibilities assigned to the Board by the Articles of Association of Bank ABC;

b)	 establishing Bank ABC’s objectives;

c)	 Bank ABC’s overall business performance;

d)	 monitoring management performance;

e)	 the adoption and annual review of strategy;

f)	 monitoring the implementation of strategy by management;

g)	 causing financial statements to be prepared which accurately disclose Bank ABC’s financial position;

h)	 convening and preparing the agenda for shareholder meetings;

i)	 monitoring conflicts of interest and preventing abusive related-party transactions;

j)	 assuring equitable treatment of shareholders, including minority shareholders;

k)	 the adoption and review of management structure and responsibilities;

l)	 the adoption and review of the systems and controls framework; and

m)	 overseeing the design and operation of the remuneration systems of the Bank ABC Group and 
ensuring that such systems are not primarily controlled by the executive management of the Bank 
ABC Group.

The Board meets regularly to consider key aspects of the Group’s affairs, strategy and operations.

The Board exercises its responsibilities for best practice management and risk oversight mainly through the 
Board Risk Committee, which oversees the definition of risk/reward guidelines, risk appetite, risk tolerance 
standards and risk policies.

The Board is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal controls as the Board 
determines are necessary to enable the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that are free 
from any material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Appointment of Directors

The shareholders appoint the Board for a term of three years, with the current term of the Board 
commencing on 23rd March 2022 and terminating in March 2025. At the 2024 year end, there were nine 
Directors on the Board, with diverse and relevant skills, who worked well together as a team. Collectively, 
they exercised independent and objective judgement in meeting their responsibilities. Currently, eight 
Directors are male (88.89%) and one is a female (11.11%).

In accordance with Bank ABC’s Articles of Association, a shareholder or group of shareholders holding 25% 
or more of the share capital may nominate Directors proportionate to their respective shareholdings. Other 
Directors are elected.
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In accordance with the Bank ABC Board Mandates, each proposal for the election or re-election of a Director 
shall be accompanied by a recommendation of the Board, and a summary of the advice of the Remuneration 
Committee (see the description of role of the Corproate Governance Committee in this report).

The Board also has the power under Bank ABC’s Articles of Association to appoint new directors and fill any 
Board vacancies that may arise, subject to such appointments being subsequently ratified by shareholders.

When a new Director is inducted, the Chairman, or Bank ABC’s Board Secretary or Compliance Officer, 
or other individual delegated by the Chairman, reviews the Board’s role and duties with that person. In 
particular, they describe the legal and regulatory requirements of the Bank ABC Board Mandates, the Code 
and the CBB Corporate Governance Requirements. The Chairman of the Board (or other individual delegated 
by the Chairman of the Board) ensures that each new Director is provided with a comprehensive induction 
pack providing requisite materials to ensure his contribution to the Board from the beginning of his term. 

Bank ABC has a written appointment agreement with each Director. This describes the Director’s 
powers, duties, responsibilities and accountabilities, as well as other matters relating to his appointment 
including his term, the time commitment envisaged, the Board committee assignments (if any), Directors’ 
remuneration and expense reimbursement entitlement, and Directors’ access to independent professional 
advice when needed.

Biographies of the Board of Directors are included in appendix 1.

Assessment of the Board

The Bank ABC Board Mandates require that the Board evaluates its own performance each year, as well as 
the performance of each Board committee and individual Director. This evaluation includes:

a)	 assessing how the Board operates; 

b)	 evaluating the performance of each Board committee in light of its specific purposes and 
responsibilities, which shall include reviews of the self-evaluations undertaken by each 
Board committee;

c)	 reviewing each Director’s work, his attendance at Board and Board committee meetings, and his 
constructive involvement in discussions and decision making;

d)	 reviewing the Board’s current composition against its desired composition in order to maintain an 
appropriate balance of skills and experience, and to ensure planned and progressive refreshing of the 
Board; and

e)	 recommendations for new Directors to replace long-standing Directors, or those Directors 
whose contribution to Bank ABC or its Board committees (such as the Group Audit Committee) is 
not adequate.

The Board has conducted an evaluation and self-assessment of its performance, and the performance 
of each Board committee and each individual Director in relation to the financial year ended on 
31 December 2024.
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Independence of Directors

The Bank ABC Board Mandates include detailed criteria to determine whether a Director should be classified 
as independent or not. The Bank ABC independence criteria are at least as restrictive as the formal criteria 
specified in the CBB Corporate Governance Requirements.

Bank ABC had four independent, non-executive Directors and five non-independent, non-executive Directors 
as at 31 December 2024. The CBB Corporate Governance Requirements require that at least a one-third of 
Bank ABC’s Board of Directors is independent and also require that certain Board committees (including 
the Group Audit Committee, the Corproate Governance Committee, the Remuneration Committee, Group 
Compliance Committee, and Board Risk Committee) be comprised of a certain number of Directors, a certain 
proportion of independent Directors and/or that such Board committees be chaired by an independent 
Director. Save as may otherwise be disclosed in this section, Bank ABC is now fully compliant with such 
requirements. The CBB Corporate Governance Requirements also state that it is preferable for the Chairman 
of the Board to be an independent Director, whereas the Chairman of the Board is, in fact, classified as a 
non-executive, non-independent Director.

As a rule, Directors do not have any direct or indirect material interest in any contract of significance with 
Bank ABC, or any of its subsidiaries, or any material conflicts of interest. This remained the case in 2024. 

The Bank ABC Board Mandates require that any transaction that causes a Director to have a material 
conflict of interest must be unanimously approved by the Board (other than the relevant Director). Each 
Director is required to inform the entire Board of any actual, or potential, conflicts of interest in their 
activities with, or commitments to, other organisations as they arise, and to abstain from voting on these 
matters. Such disclosures shall include all material facts.

Each Director has a legal duty of loyalty to Bank ABC, and can be personally sued by Bank ABC or 
shareholders for any violation.

Compensation & interests of Directors

The remuneration structure for the Board of Directors is determined in accrodnace with directors’ 
remuneration policy (the “Remuneration Policy”) of Bank ABC. The Remuneraton Policy is adopted by the 
Annual General Meeting on 21 March 2021 in accordance with Article 28 (b) of the Articles of Association of 
Bank ABC, based on a proposal of the Board of Directors of Bank ABC. The Remuneration Policy is intended 
to remain in force until 2025.

The objective of the Remuneration Policy, amongst others, is for Bank ABC to be able to (at all times) 
to attract, retain, and motivate Directors of skills and expertise commensurate with the complexity and 
diversification of its global business and be able at the same time to provide value to such Directors in 
return of their value to Bank ABC. 

The remuneration structure for the Board of Directors is composed of a flat fee (the “Flat Fee”), which 
is easy to manage, but also competitive enough to motivate Directors’ behavior and attract and retain 
the quality needed to run Bank ABC successfully. Such Flat Fee is composed of a monthly cash retainer 
(the “Retainer1”); attendance fees payable to Directors attending different Board and Board Committee 
meetings (“Attendance Fees2”); and allowances to cover travelling, accommodation and subsistence costs 
incurred in connection with attending Board and Board Committee meetings (“Allowances”).

1This is refered to in the following table, according to the MOIC disclousre tables as “ Remunerations of the chairman and BOD”.
2This is refered to in the following table, according to the MOIC disclousre tables as “ Total allowance for attending Board and committee meetings”.
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The aggregate remuneration paid to Board members in 2024 amounted to US$2,148,303 (2023: 
US$1,897,023), which was divided between the three elements as follows:

Fixed remunerations Variable remunerations

Name

First: Independent Directors:

Dr. Khaled Kawan 156,962 18,000 - 28,772 203,734 - - - - - - - -

Dr. Ibrahim El Danfour 156,962 19,500 - 104,577 281,039 - - - - - - - -

Mr. Abdullah 
Al Humaidhi

156,962 18,000 - 73,610 248,572 - - - - - - - -

Mr. Khalil Nooruddin 174,402 19,500 - 32,491 226,394 - - - - - - - -

Second: Non-Executive Directors:

Mr. Saddek Omar 
El Kaber

204,283 9,000 - 57,667 270,950 - - - - - - - -

Mr. Mohammad 
Saleem

172,736 10,500 - 40,185 223,421 - - - - - - - -

Mr. Ashraf Mukhtar 127,895 9,000 - 51,905 188,800 - - - - - - - -

Dr. Tarik Yousef 156,962 21,000 - 126,056 304,018 - - - - - - - -

Ms. Huda Al Mousa 145,335 16,500 - 39,540 201,375 - - - - - - - -

  Third: Executive Directors: 

- - - - - - - - - - - - - -

Total 1,452,500 141,000 - 554,803 2,148,303 - - - - - - - -

* Travel and accommodation costs. 

Note: The aggregate remuneration paid to the members of the Remuneration Committee with respect 
to their membership of such committee for the year 2024 was US$20,000, which sum is included in the 
Retainer fee (2023: US$20,000). 

No Director owned or traded Bank ABC shares in 2024.
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Board Committees

The Board and its committees are supplied with full and timely information to enable them to discharge 
their responsibilities. In this respect, the Board, its committees and all Directors have access to senior 
management, external consultants and advisors, as required. The Board Secretary is responsible for 
ensuring that the Board procedures, and applicable rules and regulations, are observed.

The Board has delegated specific responsibilities to a number of Board committees. Each such committee 
has its own formal written charter, which is set out in full in the Corporate Governance Charter. The main 
Board committees are:

	 The Board Risk Committee, which is responsible for the review and approval of the Group’s Credit 
and Risk Policies, including the risk appetite statement (RAS). The Committee reviews and makes 
recommendations to the Board regarding the annual risk strategy/appetite, within which business 
strategy, objectives and targets are formulated. The Committee delegates authority to senior 
management to conduct day-to-day business within the prescribed policy and strategy parameters, 
while ensuring that processes and controls are adequate to manage the Group’s Risk Policies and 
Strategy. The Board Risk Committee meets not less than three times a year.

	 The Board Corporate Governance Committee, which assists the Board in shaping and monitoring the 
Group’s Corporate Governance policies and practices, reviewing and assessing the adequacy of these 
policies and practices, and evaluating the Group’s compliance with them. The Corporate Governance 
Committee meets not less than once a year.

	 The Group Board Audit Committee, which is responsible to the Board for the integrity and 
effectiveness of the Group’s system of financial and internal controls. This Committee also recommends 
the appointment, compensation and oversight of the external auditors, as well as the appointment of 
the Group Chief Internal Auditor. The Group Audit Committee meets not less than four times a year.

	 The Board Remuneration Committee, which is responsible for the formulation of the Group’s executive 
and staff remuneration policy, as well as senior management appointments, ensuring that Bank ABC’s 
remuneration levels remain competitive so it can attract, develop and retain the skilled staff needed to 
meet its strategic objectives. The Committee also ensures that the remuneration policy and philosophy 
of Bank ABC and the ABC Group are aligned with Bank ABC’s long-term business strategy, business 
objectives, risk appetite, values and long-term interests, while recognising the interests of relevant 
stakeholders. The Remuneration Committee meets not less than twice per year.

	 The Group Board Compliance Committee, which is responsible to the Board for monitoring compliance 
of the Group in the various countries in which the Group operates. The Committee also assists the 
Board in discharging its governance and oversight responsibilities for the Compliance risk management 
framework of Bank ABC and of Bank ABC’s compliance with applicable laws and regulations on a group 
wide basis. The Group Compliance Committee meets not less than four times a year.

	 Such as the Strategy Committtee. The Board has also delegated specific responsibilities for reviewing 
and overseeing the implementation of the strategy for Bank ABC and the Bank ABC Group to an 
ad-hoc Board Strategy Committee which shall meet as required to be effective.
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As at 31 December 2024, the current members of each of the Board committees were as set out in the 
following table:

Board Committee Member Name Member Position Classification of Director

The Board Risk 
Committee 

Mr. Abdallah Al Humaidhi Chairman Independent

Mr. Khalil Nooruddin Member Independent

Dr. Ibrahim El Danfour Member Independent 

Mr. Mohammad Saleem Member Non-Independent

Dr. Khaled Kawan Member Independent 

The Board Corporate 
Governance Committee

Dr. Khaled Kawan Chairman Independent

Mr. Abdallah Al Humaidhi Member Independent 

Dr. Tarik Yousef Member Non-Independent

The Group Board Audit 
Committee

Mr. Khalil Nooruddin Chairman Independent

Ms. Huda Al Mousa Member Non-Independent

Dr. Ibrahim Eldanfour Member Independent 

Dr. Tarik Yousef Member Non-Independent

The Board Remuneration 
Committee

Dr. Khaled Kawan Chairman Independent 

Mr. Abdallah Al Humaidhi Member Independent 

Dr. Ibrahim El Danfour Member Independent

The Group Board 
Compliance Committee 

Mr. Khalil Nooruddin Chairman Independent

Ms. Huda Al Mousa Member Non-Independent

Dr. Ibrahim El Danfour Member Independent

Dr. Tarik Yousef Member Non-Independent
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Corporate Governance

Attendance of Directors

The details of Directors’ 2024 attendance at Board and Board committee meetings are set out in the 
following table: 

Board Members Board 

The 
Board Risk 
Committee

The Board 
Corporate 
Governance 
Committee

The Group 
Board Audit 
Committee

The Board 
Remuneration 
Committee

The Group 
Board 
Compliance 
Committee

Mr. Saddek 
Omar El Kaber
Chairman

6(6)  N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

Mr. Mohammad 
Saleem
Deputy Chairman

4(6)  3(4) N/A N/A N/A N/A

Ms. Huda 
Al Mousa
Director

5(6)  N/A  N/A 6(6)  N/A 4(4)

Mr. Abdallah 
Al Humaidhi
Director

6(6)  4(4) 5(5)   N/A 2(2)  N/A

Dr. Ibrahim 
El Danfour
Director

6(6)  4(4)  N/A 6(6) 2(2)  4(4)

Dr. Tarik 
Yousef
Director

6(6)  N/A 5(5)   6(6)  N/A 4(4)

Mr. Ashraf 
Mukhtar
Director

6(6)  N/A  N/A N/A  N/A N/A

Mr. Khalil 
Nooruddin
Director

6(6)  4(4)  N/A 6(6)  N/A 4(4)

Dr. Khaled 
Kawan
Director

6(6)   4(4) 5(5)   N/A  2(2) N/A

Figures in brackets indicate the maximum number of meetings during the period of membership. “N/A” 
indicates that a Director was not a member of the relevant Board committee during 2024. 
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Meeting dates during 2024:

The Board and its committees meet as frequently as is necessary for them to discharge their respective 
responsibilities, but the Board meets no less than four times a year. The Group Audit Committee meets no 
less than four times a year, the Remuneration Committee meets no less than twice a year, the Board Risk 
Committee meets no less than three times a year, the Corporate Governance Committee meet no less than 
once a year, and the Group Complaince Committee meets no less than four times a year. 

The Board Strategy Committee meets as required to be effective. In 2024, no meeting of the Board Strategy 
Committee was held. However, the Board had a dedicated session on strategy during 2024. 

The details of the dates of the Board and Board committee meetings in 2024 are set out below:

Dates of Meetings

The Board 11 February 2024
21 May 2024
22 July 2024
04 October 2024
05 October 2024
17 November 2024
18 November 2024
19 December 2024

The Board Risk Committee 07 February 2024
06 May 2024
04 June 2024
04 November 2024

The Board Corporate Governance Committee 10 February 2024
23 June 2024
21 July 2024
25 September 2024
18 December 2024

The Group Board Audit Committee 08 February 2024
21 March 2024
06 May 2024
08 August 2024
03 November 2024
05 December 2024

The Board Remuneration Committee 10 February 2024
18 December 2024

The Group Board Compliance Committee 08 February 2024
06 May 2024
03 November 2024
05 December 2024
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INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board of Directors is responsible for establishing and reviewing the Group’s system of internal control. 
The Board receives minutes and reports from the Board Risk Committee (“BRC”), the Board Audit Committee 
and the Board Compliance Committee, identifying any significant issues relating to the adequacy of the 
Group’s risk management policies and procedures, as well as reports and recommendations from the 
Corporate Governance Committee and the Remuneration Committee for any needed decision making and 
action(s) at their end.

Management informs the Board regularly about how the Group is performing versus budget, identifying major 
business issues and examining the impact of the external business, economic and regulatory environment.

Day-to-day responsibility for internal control rests with management. The key elements of the process for 
identifying, evaluating, and managing the significant risks faced by the Group can be summarised as:

	 well-defined management structure with clear authorities and delegation of responsibilities, 
documented procedures and authority levels to ensure that all material risks are properly assessed 
and controlled

	 internal control policies that require management to identify major risks, and to monitor the 
effectiveness of internal control procedures for adequate reporting and mitigation

	 robust compliance function, exercised through Group Compliance reports to the Board Compliance 
Committee over Compliance Risks

	 Group Audit function, which reports to the Group Audit Committee on the effectiveness of key internal 
controls in relation to the major risks faced by the Group, and conducts reviews of the efficacy of 
management oversight regarding delegated responsibilities, as part of its regular risk based and 
regulatory audits of Group departments and business units

	 comprehensive planning and budgeting process that delivers detailed annual financial forecasts and 
targets for Board approval, and

	 Group Risk Management function, comprising overarching Head Office risk management committees 
and a dedicated risk management function supporting the group.

Management structure

The Group Chief Executive Officer, supported by Head Office management, is responsible for managing the 
day-to-day operations of Bank ABC. There is a clear segregation of duties in the management structure at 
Bank ABC.

Senior managers did not hold or trade any shares in Bank ABC during 2024.

The management organisation chart is included in appendix 2.

COMPLIANCE

Compliance risk is the risk of legal or regulatory sanctions, material financial loss, or loss to reputation the Bank 
may suffer as a result of its failure to comply with the statutory, regulatory and supervisory requirements 
including industry codes with which the Group must by law comply with, or which it voluntarily adheres to.

Bank ABC is committed to maintaining the highest standards of ethical and professional conduct, including 
complying with all applicable rules and regulations. The Group Chief Compliance Officer (GCCO), together 
with the Heads of Compliance and Money Laundering Reporting Officers Group-wide, support the Board and 
Senior Management in effectively managing the compliance risks faced by the Bank. 
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The Bank has a dedicated Group Board Compliance Committee (BCC). The GCCO reports directly to the BCC 
and administratively to the Group Chief Executive Officer (GCEO). 

The Group Compliance Oversight Committee (GCOC) is the Senior Management committee established by 
the BCC, that oversees compliance risk management group-wide. To support the GCOC, Compliance and 
Financial Crime Committees (CFCCs) are established in each jurisdiction group-wide, which report into their 
respective BCC, or equivalent.

As detailed in the Group’s Risk Appetite Statement, the Bank has no tolerance for regulatory breaches that 
are intentional or due to gross negligence. In addition, the Bank has no appetite for the facilitation, aiding or 
abetting of any form of criminal activity. 

It is recognized that operational risk, including Compliance Risk, is inherent in business operations, processes 
and systems and that inadvertent errors may occur. Nevertheless, the Bank is committed to conducting 
business in compliance with regulatory requirements and implementing appropriate risk management and 
risk mitigation mechanisms to ensure that a robust compliance culture is embedded within the organisation. 

The Bank continues to enhance its compliance framework by investing in systems and the Compliance 
Function capability.

EXTERNAL AUDITORS

1.	 In 2024, the Bank ABC Group paid its external auditors US$2,256,000 in audit fees on a global basis.

2.	 Non-audit services were specifically pre-approved by the Audit Committee and provided by the 
external auditors including, but not limited to, anti money laundering reviews, prudential information 
reports reviews, quarterly reviews and tax related services amount to US$938,000  on a global basis. 

3.	 Ernst & Young have expressed their willingness to continue as the auditors of the Group for the year 
ending 31 December 2025. Bank ABC’s management, based on evaluation of services provided by its 
external auditors, has recommended the appointment of Ernst & Young and a resolution proposing 
their reappointment will be presented at the annual general meeting to be held in March 2025.

POLICY ON THE EMPLOYMENT OF RELATIVES AND APPROVED PERSONS 

Bank ABC has a Board approved Policy on Employment of Relatives and Connected Persons. This Policy 
aims to ensure that Bank ABC has transparency in relation to the employment of relatives and Connected 
Persons in order to prevent actual, or perceived, conflicts of interest. 

The Policy sets out that no relatives or near relatives of any Bank ABC employee, Executive or Board 
Member may enter into employment with Bank ABC. Exceptional approvals may be granted by an 
independent panel following a full and fair selection process.
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REMUNERATION POLICIES OF BANK ABC IN COMPLIANCE WITH THE 
REQUIREMENTS OF THE CBB

Senior management and staff receive compensation based on several fixed elements, covering salary, 
allowances and benefits, as well as variable, performance-related elements.

In January 2014, the Central Bank of Bahrain (CBB) issued new rules relating to the remuneration of 
approved persons and material risk-takers and others, which were subsequently amended later during 2014 
(the “CBB Sound Remuneration Practices”), with recent amendments via CBB HC Module in April 2023. Bank 
ABC has implemented remuneration policies and procedures to cover Bank ABC, ila Bank and Bank ABC 
Islamic, which are compliant with the CBB Remuneration Rules.

Bank ABC reviewed its remuneration practices and redesigned its variable compensation scheme in order 
to be fully compliant with the CBB’s requirements. Key changes to Bank ABC’s remuneration systems and 
governance processes were made to comply with the CBB regulations and included:

i.	 Ensuring the risk framework is extensive and captured in decisions around variable pay, including 
confirming risk-adjustments to any bonus pool.

ii.	 Separating control functions from the Group bonus pool and ensuring they are measured 
independently from the businesses they oversee.

iii.	 Introducing an equity-linked vehicle in which to deliver the appropriate amount of variable 
remuneration for covered persons.

iv.	 Introducing deferral arrangements that defer the appropriate amount of variable remuneration for 
the Group Chief Executive Officer (GCEO), deputies, top five most highly-paid business line employees, 
material risk takers and approved persons.

v.	 Introducing clawback and malus policies that apply to variable remuneration.

While maintaining the same Variable Compensation Scheme (VCS) and bonus multiples tables, further 
changes to the Employees’ Performance Management System were introduced in early 2016 to encourage 
behaviours that will help fulfil the Group’s strategic goals. Variable pay now depends on a more extensive 
matrix of factors, rather than just the income generated. These added factors facilitate measuring the 
quality of the income rather than just its magnitude. In addition, other non-financial factors have also been 
added as part of the performance matrix. 

The Remuneration Committee (RemCo) reviews and approves Bank ABC’s remuneration policy structure 
on an annual basis. Where rules on compensation exist in other jurisdictions in which Bank ABC operates, 
Bank ABC’s Group policy is to take necessary steps to comply with local market regulations that are 
applicable to our foreign subsidiaries and branches. Where no rules are applicable, ABC adopts best local 
market practices.

A distinct and separate bonus pool has been created to reinforce the safeguarding role and independence 
of staff in Control Functions, and is measured by the impact and quality of their safeguarding role. These 
measures are based on department-specific objectives and targets, which are independent of company 
financial performance.
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Bank ABC conducts business within a set of overarching goals and limits that, together, define its risk 
appetite and tolerance. This is approved by the Board Risk Committee as part of the Group Risk Strategy, 
which complements the budgets and strategic plans proposed by the business. The Bank’s bonus pool is 
subject to potential adjustments based on the review of the RemCo, in the respect of the approved risk 
appetite, risk tolerance and risk policies during the fiscal year.

Variable compensation and performance management are linked. Performance expectations are clearly 
articulated for revenue-generating, support and control functions. Individual bonus payments reflect Group, 
business unit and individual performance.

Bank ABC has adopted a remuneration deferral policy in line with the CBB Sound Remuneration Practices. 
This defers a required amount of the variable remuneration for the GCEO, deputies, top five most highly-
paid business line employees, defined material risk takers and approved persons.

Bank ABC has also adopted a malus policy, which allows any form of deferred variable remuneration to be 
reduced or cancelled in specific and exceptional circumstances. Exceptional circumstances are defined as 
material events. They may include a material restatement of the Bank’s financial statements, the discovery 
of significant failures in risk management or exposure to material financial losses at Group, business unit or 
individual level. In respect of unvested awards, and depending on each specific circumstance, malus may be 
applied to either that portion of unvested awards linked to the performance year in question or the total 
outstanding set of unvested awards.

A clawback policy has been introduced to allow Bank ABC to recover part, or all, of the awards already paid 
to an employee or former employee if a material event is discovered. Clawback provisions may be enforced 
upon the discovery of an employee’s, or former employee’s, accountability or responsibility for, or direct 
implication in, material events that may bring the Bank into serious disrepute. Additionally, they may be 
enforced in the event of individual criminal or other substantial misconduct.

The design of the Bank’s reward structure aligns pay outcomes with prudent risk management and sound 
governance practices. The mix of an individual employee’s pay, allowances and variable compensation is 
dictated by the nature of the role he/she holds. Variable pay for the relevant emploees is delivered using a 
blend of cash and equity-linked instruments. It may be paid up-front in cash or deferred in accordance with 
the Bank’s deferral policy. With Board approval, the variable pay multiples may be reviewed from time to 
time to ensure competitiveness with the market.

The remuneration disclosures have been reviewed and approved by the RemCo, which has confirmed they 
are aligned to the CBB rulebook requirements.

Bank ABC takes risk seriously. Reward practices embed and reinforce the Bank’s desired risk culture, and 
risk behaviours directly impact variable pay, based on the following principles:

i.	 Financial performance is not the sole measure of performance; both quantitative and qualitative 
approaches are used to measure risk; bonus pools are adjusted for all types of risk, both tangible and 
intangible, reflecting both Group and business unit performance.

ii.	 Bonuses can be diminished (or nil) in light of excessive risk taking at Group, business or individual level.

iii.	 Bonus pools reflect the cost of capital required, and liquidity risk assumed, in the conduct of business.

In addition, Bank ABC has a process for assessing the performance of senior management against a set of 
pre-agreed audit, risk & compliance (ARC) objectives, which are cascaded down in the organisation. Their 
pay is linked to long-term profitability and sustainable value.
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Pay principles

The following ‘pay principles’ apply at Bank ABC and govern all current and future remuneration decisions. 
These principles have been approved by the RemCo.

Summary

Principle Theme

Principle 1 We pay for performance 

Principle 2 We take risk seriously 

Principle 3 We think long-term

Principle 4 Pay decisions are governed effectively

Principle 5 Clear and simple

Principle 6 Competitive, sustainable and affordable

Principle 1 | We pay for performance

Approach

	 Performance expectations are clearly articulated for revenue-generating, support and control functions.

	 Pay and performance management are linked.

	 Bank ABC rewards performance that delivers its strategy, and that delivers the behaviours, cultures 
and ways of working that underpin doing business with the Bank.

Delivery

	 Group and / or business unit underperformance can result in no bonus pool.

	 Bonuses can be diminished (or nil) in light of poor Group, business unit or individual performance.

	 Individual bonus payments reflect Group, business unit and individual performance.

	 Group and business units are expected to meet demanding but achievable performance targets.

	 Low performance ratings for any employee can result in no bonus.

	 High performing business units may pay bonuses, even if the Group underperforms.

	 Bank ABC differentiates high performance from average or low performance.

	 Bonuses can be paid for non-profitable business units in start-up or turn-around phases.

	 Bonus calculations reflect a measure of the appropriate behaviours which support doing business 
with Bank ABC.

	 Control functions are measured on the impact and quality of their safeguarding role.

	 Pay for employees engaged in control functions promotes impartiality and objectivity – it ensures that 
all employees at Bank ABC take risk seriously.

	 Bonuses can be paid to control function employees who exercise their roles effectively, even in light of 
poor Group or business unit performance.
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Principle 2 | We take risk seriously

Approach

	 Reward practices embed and reinforce Bank ABC’s desired risk culture.

	 Risk behaviours directly impact variable pay.

Delivery

	 Financial performance is not the sole measure of performance.

	 Bonuses can be diminished (or nil) in light of excessive risk taking at Group, business or individual level.

	 Bonus pools reflect the cost of capital required, and liquidity risk assumed, in the conduct of business.

	 Bonus pools are adjusted for all types of risk, both tangible and intangible, which are reflected in both 
Group and business unit performance.

	 Both quantitative and qualitative approaches are used to measure risk.

	 Pay for material risk takers is significantly weighted towards variable pay.

	 Material risk takers’ performance is rewarded using a mix of cash and equity (or an equity-linked 
vehicle) to reflect their influence on the Bank’s risk profile.

	 Risk behaviours of material risk takers have a direct impact on variable pay outcomes.

Principle 3 | We think long-term

Approach

	 Pay is linked to long-term profitability and sustainable value.

Delivery

	 Deferral mechanisms are used for approved persons / material risk takers.

	 Deferral mechanisms include an equity-linked vehicle.

	 60% of variable pay for GCEO and the most highly-paid employees is deferred for three years.

	 40% of variable pay for material risk takers and approved persons (paid over BHD100,000) is deferred 
for three years.

	 No form of guaranteed variable remuneration can be granted, except in exceptional circumstances, for 
a period of no more than one year following hire.

	 Unvested deferred bonuses can be recovered in light of discovering past failures in risk management, 
or policy breaches, that led to the award originally being granted.

	 Participation in deferral is reviewed on an annual basis, subject to meeting the minimum requirements 
under the CBB rules.
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Principle 4 | Pay decisions are governed effectively

Approach

	 Variable pay schemes are owned and monitored by the RemCo.

	 The RemCo oversees remuneration practices across the Bank.

Delivery

	 The RemCo oversees the design and delivery of variable pay across the Bank.

	 The RemCo reviews and approves the Bank’s remuneration policy on an annual basis.

	 The GCEO and senior management do not directly own or control remuneration systems.

	 The RemCo reviews and approves bonus pools and payouts across the Bank, and reviews and 
approves the pay proposals for material risk takers and approved persons.

	 Risk and Compliance provide information to the RemCo before it determines the bonus pool and 
Group performance.

	 HR controls remuneration policies, while line managers have suitable discretion to apply them.

	 HR develops compliance and monitoring practices to actively track global compliance with Group 
remuneration policy. 

Principle 5 | Clear and simple

Approach

	 Reward communications are clear, user-friendly and written in plain language.

	 The aims and objectives of the new VCS are clear and transparent.

Delivery

	 Clearly communicate what is meant by malus and clawback, and the instances in which these 
provisions could be applied.

	 Open and easy access to the variable pay policy, plan rules and relevant communications.

Principle 6 | Competitive, sustainable and affordable

Approach

	 The VCS helps to attract and retain high-calibre talent.

	 The VCS structure can be maintained over the long term, and its total cost is always affordable to

	 the Bank.

Delivery

	 Bonus pools vary year-on-year, based on Group performance, external market conditions, the internal 
climate and affordability.

	 Individual pay opportunities are driven by the external market and internal positioning.
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Application of pay principles 

Bank ABC will remunerate covered employees to attract, retain and motivate sufficient talent to safeguard 
the interests of the Bank and its shareholders, while ensuring the Bank avoids paying more than necessary. 
The remuneration systems fairly reward performance delivered within the risk appetite of the Bank, over an 
appropriate time horizon, to align with risk.

Variable remuneration is paid according to the scheme on the below categorisation:

	 Approved persons in business lines: For the GCEO and the five most highly-paid business line 
employees, variable pay in 2019 was paid as 40% upfront cash, 10% in deferred cash and 50% in a 
deferred equity-linked vehicle. For the others in the same category, the pay split was 50% upfront cash, 
10% upfront equity-linked vehicle, 40% deferred equity-linked vehicle.

	 Approved persons in control functions: The variable pay for employees in this category was paid as 
50% upfront cash, 10% upfront equity-linked vehicle, 40% deferred equity-linked vehicle.

	 Other material risk takers: The variable pay for employees in this category was paid as 50% upfront 
cash, 10% upfront equity-linked vehicle, 40% deferred equity-linked vehicle.

	 Other staff of Bahrain operations: The variable pay was paid fully in cash up front.

Remuneration arrangements are structured to promote sound risk behaviours. Their performance is 
measured against a range of financial and non-financial factors related to risk. Employees categorised as 
approved persons in control functions have their remuneration measured independently of the business 
that they oversee, so ensuring sufficient independence and authority. All variable pay is subject to malus 
and clawback. 
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Renewal of the Directors’ 
Remuneration Policy  

To	 :	 The Shareholders of Bank ABC

Date	 :	 March 2025  

Re	 :	 Renewal of the Directors’ Remuneration Policy    

1.	 Background and Context

1.1	 The Directors’ Remuneration Policy under Article 28 (b) of the Articles of Association of Bank ABC 
(the “Policy”) was adopted by the Annual General Meeting (the “AGM”) on 21 March 2021, with the 
intention of remaining in force for a period of four years, ending at the AGM of Bank ABC on 16 March 
2025. It is now time to renew the Policy for three years.  

2.	 Proposed revisions to the Policy

2.1	 The policy has served Bank ABC well over the past four years, and no major changes are proposed 
for the renewed Policy. 

2.2	However, minor adjustments have been made to reflect the updated cost of allowances during the 
year 2024, replacing the previous benchmark of 2019. This change ensures that the Policy remains 
aligned with current economic conditions.  

(a)	Cash Retainer: As per the Board resolutions in February 2024, the Board has not utilised the 
permitted 10% increase above the current levels for the Cash Retainer during the duration of the 
Policy. The Cash Retainer remains at USD 1.5 million and will continue at this level under the 
renewed Policy.  

(b)	Attendance Fees: No changes are proposed to the attendance fees as currently outlined in the 
Policy.  

(c)	 Allowances: The allowances have been increased by not more than 20% in 2024, reflecting the 
updated cost of living and other relevant factors. For benchmarking purposes, the allowances paid 
for the year ending 2024 will serve as the reference point for the renewed Policy.  

3.	 Request for Approval

	 In light of the above, the Shareholders of Bank ABC are requested to approve the renewal of the 
attached Policy. 
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1.	 Introduction 

	 In accordance with the Commercial Companies Law of Bahrain and the Bahrain Corporate Governance 
Code, this directors’ remuneration policy (the “Remuneration Policy”) of the Arab Banking Corporation’s 
(B.S.C.) (“Bank ABC”), is prepared for adoption by the Annual General Meeting (the “AGM”) in accordance 
with Article 28 (b) of the Articles of Association of Bank ABC, based on a proposal of the Board of 
Directors of Bank ABC. This Remuneration Policy is adopted by the AGM on 16 March 2025, and it is 
intended to remain in force for three years, ending by the AGM of Bank ABC in 2028.

2.	 Policy objectives and considerations

2.1	 In accordance with Bank ABC’s Corporate Governance Charter, the remuneration of Directors shall be 
in accordance with the requirements of the HC Module of the Central Bank of Bahrain, the Bahrain 
Corporate Governance Code, the Bahrain Commercial Company Law, the constitutional documents of 
the Company and such other legal and/or regulatory requirements which may from time to time be 
applicable to Bank ABC.  

2.2	The authority to establish remuneration and other terms of service for Directors is vested in the 
Remuneration Committee. The overarching purpose of the Remuneration Committee is to consider, 
agree and recommend to the Board of Directors an overall remuneration policy for Bank ABC that is 
aligned with the long-term business strategy, objectives, values and best interests of Bank ABC and 
its shareholders. 

2.3	The role and duties of Directors continue to expand beyond traditional governance expectations, in a 
more complex and dynamic environment where Directors are expected to fill an increasingly complex 
role. Bank ABC aims to develop the philosophy and process in determining Directors compensation’s 
structure to cope with such an increasing demand on Directors. The objective is for Bank ABC to be 
able to (at all times) to attract, retain, and motivate Directors of skills and expertise commensurate 
with the complexity and diversification of its global business and be able at the same time to provide 
value to such Directors in return of their value to Bank ABC. 

2.4	In line with such overarching objectives, the proposition is for the Directors to be paid a flat fee (the 
“Flat Fee”) which is easy to manage, but also competitive enough to motivate Directors’ behavior 
and attract and retain the quality needed to run Bank ABC successfully. Such Flat Fee is composed 
of a monthly cash retainer (the “Retainer”); attendance fees payable to Directors attending different 
Board and Board Committee meetings (“Attendance Fees”); and allowances to cover travelling, 
accommodation and subsistence costs incurred in connection with attending Board and Board 
Committee meetings (“Allowances”). Attendance Fees are too modest to respond to the challenge 
of fairly compensating Directors, hence, the emergence of a cash Retainer, which has been in an 
increased prominence over the past twenty years in leading markets where Bank ABC operates. 
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3.	  The Composition of the Remuneration* 

	 An aggregate Flat Fee shall be paid annually to members of the Board of Directors during the duration 
of this Remuneration Policy as follows:

Board Remuneration (US$) Maximum Opportunity

Cash Retainer 1,500,000 The Retainer may be reviewed annually by the 
Board of Directors having obtained advice from the 
Remuneration Committee. Various factors may be 
considered when determining any changes to the 
Retainer to ensure remuneration is fair, sensible 
and market competitive. Other than in exceptional 
circumstances, the Retainer will not increase by 
more than 10% above the current levels in total 
during the duration of the Remuneration Policy. 

Attendance Fees The Attendance Fee currently stands at US$1,500 
per Director per meeting of the Board or Board 
Committee.  The aggregate amount of Attendance 
Fees received by a Director depends on a number of 
factors, including the number of Board Committee 
on which he sits and how frequently those Board 
Committees have meetings. 

Allowances The amount of the Allowances paid to a Director 
depend on a number of factors, including the home 
location of the Director, the location of the Board 
and/or Board Committee meetings and the duration 
of the Board and/or Board Committee meetings. In 
2024 the aggregate Allowances paid to Directors 
was US$554,803. 

While the cost of the Allowances during 2024 was 
US$554,803 (the “2024 Allowances”) and it is 
expected that the cost will be broadly similar on 
annual basis during the duration of the Remuneration 
Policy, the Allowances for the duration of the 
Remuneration Policy will be capped at 20% above the 
2024 Allowances in total during the duration of the 
Remuneration Policy.

*	 The cash Retainer assumes that Bank ABC’s Board will continue to stand at nine members. Although the Board does not intend to increase 
its current size, however, any increase in the Board size will require the adjustment of the overall amount of the Retainer to accommodate the 
change in the size. This will also result in the costs of the Board generally increasing vis– a- vis the Attendance Fees and Allowances. It should 
be noted that over the past decade the Retainer and the Allowances have remained to a large extent static, which confirms the discipline and 
objectivity with which the Flat Fee has been managed by the Board. 
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04 05

Election of the 
members of the 
Board of Directors 
for the 15th Term 

To	 :	 The Shareholders of Bank ABC

Date	 :	 March 2025  

Re	 :	 Election of the members of the Board of Directors for the 15th Term     

1.	 On 6 January 2025, the Board of Directors of the Arab Banking Corporation (“Bank ABC”) announced the 
call for nominations for election or re-election to the Board of Directors for its 15th term for a new three-
year (2025-2028) term pursuant to Article 19(a) of the Articles of Association of the Bank.

2.	 Nominations for election or re-election to the Board of Directors in the Kingdom of Bahrain necessitate a 
prior written approval from the Central Bank of Bahrain, which requires nominees to submit Applications 
for Approved Person Status “Form 3” and include in their Applications certified copies of the relevant 
documents. Accordingly, on 18 February 2025, the prior approval was obtained from the Central Bank 
of Bahrain (for each eligible nominee) in accordance with all relevant applicable regulations. The cleared 
candidates’ names and summary of their CVs were also posted on the Bank ABC and Bahrain Bourse 
websites on 23 February 2025, simultaneously with the publication of the general meeting agenda in line 
with the date of posting the invitation for the Bank ABC’s Annual General meeting. 

3.	 Accordingly, the principal shareholders have submitted the following nominations for appointment to the 
Board of Directors for the upcoming term for a new three (3) year term: 

(A)	 The Central Bank of Libya (“CBL”) nominated:

1.	  H.E. Mr. Naji Mohamed Issa Belgasem

2.	 Mr. Mohamed Hassadi; and 

3.	 Mr. Amer Karkar.	

(B)	 Kuwait Investment Authority (“KIA”) nominated:

1.	 Mr. Abdulaziz F. Alhudaib; and 

2.	 Mr. Edrees M E Ahmad.
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(C)	 the nominations from the private sector (“Election Nominees”) for election to Bank ABC’s Board of 
Directors are:

1.	 Mr. Manaf Al Hajeri.

2.	 Mr. Khalil Nooruddin.

3.	 Dr. Ibrahim El Danfour.

4.	 Dr. Marouane Elabassi. 

5.	 Mr. Abdulfatah Ghaffar.

6.	 Dr. Ahmed Attiga.

7.	 Ms. Layla Al Qassab.

8.	 Ms. Fatima Ashoor.

9.	 Mr. Mahmood Radhi.

10.	 Dr. Jehad El-Nakla.

11.	 Mr. Ahmed Abdulghaffar.

12.	 Mr. Yusuf Hasan.

13.	 Mr. Ismail AlSarraf; and

14.	 Mr. Hussain Al Shehab.

4.	 Pursuant to HC-2.2.6 of the Central Bank of Bahrain Rulebook, each proposal by the Board of Directors 
of Bank ABC to the shareholders for election or re-election of a director must include, amongst other 
things, (a) a recommendation from the Board of Directors of Bank ABC; (b) a summary of the advice of 
Bank ABC’s Corporate Governance Committee; and (c) the Chairman of Bank ABC’s confirmation to the 
Shareholders regarding candidates proposed for re-election. The first requirement has been addressed 
in the details set forth in the announcement to the shareholders released on 6 January 2025, along with 
the subsequent information entered in the websites of both Bank ABC and Bahrain Bourse website.  
With respect to the last two requirements, Bank ABC would like to notify its shareholders of 
the following:  
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(a)	 A Summary of the Corporate Governance Committee Advice to the Board: 

(1)	 With regard to the independence of directors, each of the eligible and cleared nominees 
classified as independent director are new candidates, except for two current Board members, 
Dr. Ibrahim El Danfour and Mr. Khalil Nooruddin. Each of such independent directors meets the 
criteria set out in Section 4.1.1 (c) of Bank ABC’s Corporate Governance Charter, in particular the 
definition of Independent Director set out in Appendix A of the Corporate Governance Charter.

(2)	 The “fit and proper” requirements referred to in HC-2.2.6 and 2.2.4 of the of the CBB Rulebook 
have been met by each eligible nominee, and in particular, through the diligence carried out 
by the Corporate Governance Committee during its meeting of 8 February 2025 based on the 
information disclosed in Forms 3 by the nominees (which included more details about their 
professional qualifications, other directorship held, and particulars of other positions held by 
each one of them…etc.). Moreover, no other information was revealed to prompt us to doubt 
these conclusions and results. 

(3)	 Accordingly, it was the advice of the Corporate Governance Committee to the Board of Directors 
in its meeting held on 8 February 2025 to recommend to the shareholders the approval of the 
names of the eligible candidates to the Board of Directors for the upcoming term, whose names 
are listed in paragraph (b) below. 

(b)	 The Board of Directors Recommendation: 

	 The Board of Directors resolved to approve the advice of the Corporate Governance Committee 
at its meeting held on 9 February 2025 regarding the candidates deemed eligible for the Board of 
Directors for the upcoming term, whose names are listed below. 

	 As noted in Paragraph 3 above, five (5) members of the Board of Directors are expected to be 
appointed by the Bank’s two largest shareholders in accordance with Article 19(b) of the Bank’s 
Articles of Association.  The other members of the Board of Directors are expected to be elected 
by the private shareholders, in addition to major shareholders with carryover votes that were not 
utilized for director appointments, in accordance with Article 175 of the Commercial Companies Law

	 The size of Board of Directors is only nine members. However, the number of nominees exceeds the 
available seats, noting that four seats will be contested at the AGM out of a total of fourteen (14) 
nominations in the Election Nominees category.

(i)	 the nominations for appointment are:

1.	  H.E. Mr. Naji Mohamed Issa Belgasem (CBL).

2.	 Mr. Mohamed Hassadi (CBL).

3.	 Mr. Amer Karkar (CBL).	

4.	 Mr. Abdulaziz F. Alhudaib (KIA); and 

5.	 Mr. Edrees M E Ahmad (KIA).
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(ii)	 the nominations from the Election Nominees are:

1.	 Mr. Manaf Al Hajeri.

2.	 Mr. Khalil Nooruddin.

3.	 Dr. Ibrahim El Danfour.

4.	 Dr. Marouane Elabassi. 

5.	 Mr. Abdulfatah Ghaffar

6.	 Dr. Ahmed Attiga.

7.	 Ms. Layla Al Qassab.

8.	 Ms. Fatima Ashoor.

9.	 Mr. Mahmood Radhi.

10.	Dr. Jehad El-Nakla.

11.	 Mr. Ahmed Abdulghaffar.

12.	 Mr. Yusuf Hasan.

13.	 Mr. Ismail AlSarraf; and

14.	 Mr. Hussain Al Shehab.

(c)	 Chairman of Bank ABC’s Confirmation to the Shareholders regarding Candidates proposed 
for re-election:

	 The Chairman of the Board of Directors of Bank ABC confirms to shareholders when 
proposing re-election of a director that, following a formal performance evaluation carried out by the 
Corporate Governance Committee, Mr. Khalil Nooruddin’s and Dr. Ibrahim El Danfour’s performance 
continues to be effective, and they continue to demonstrate commitment to the role.

 Election of the members of the
 Board of Directors for the 15th Term
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Board of Directors
Biographies

Mr. Saddek Omar El Kaber
Chairman
‡ >|<

MBA and MS in Public Accounting, University of 
Hartford, Connecticut, USA.

Governor of the Central Bank of Libya, Member of 
the Board of Trustees of the Libyan Investment 
Authority, Chairman of the Libyan National AML/
CFT Committee, Chairman of the Libyan National 
Payments Council, and Chairman of Arab Banking 
Corporation – Egypt S.A.E, Previously, Mr. El 
Kaber was Chairman of ABC International Bank 
plc, U.K., and Chairman and General Manager of 
UMMA Bank, Libya. Mr. El Kaber has held past 
key positions in a number of banks and financial 
institutions including being the Deputy Chief 
Executive Officer of ABC International Bank plc, 
U.K., the Deputy Chairman of the Board of Arab 
Banking Corporation- Algeria, Country Manager 
and CEO of Arab Banking Corporation-Tunisia and 
a Director of Arab Financial Services Company 
B.S.C.(c). He joined the Board of Arab Banking 
Corporation (B.S.C.) in December 2011. He has 
more than 35 years of experience in international 
finance and banking.

Mr. Mohammad Abdulredha Saleem 
Deputy Chairman
RC ‡ >|<

Bachelor of Business Administration in Finance 
from Kuwait University.  

Mr. Saleem has gained professional experience 
from his service over 33 years at Kuwait Investment 
Authority since 1986 where he held various 
positions including the Treasury Department 
Manager from 2006 to date. He has been a 
member of Warba Bank’s Board of Directors 
since March 2016 to date. He currently holds the 
position of Vice Chairman in the Arab Banking 
Corporation. He served previously in the State 
of Kuwait as Chairman and Board Member of 
audit and investment committees. He has been a 

Chairman or a member of the board of directors in 
a number of companies such as Generations Fund 
Holding Company, Kuwait Investment Company, 
the Egyptian Kuwaiti Real Estate Development 
Company, Gulf Custody Company, Kuwait Real 
Estate Holding Company, Kuwait Flour Mill & 
Bakeries Company. He also participated in many 
theoretical and practical courses at leading banks 
and global financial institutions in areas of portfolios 
management, investment, and capital markets.

Ms. Huda Al Mousa	
Director
AC CC ‡ >|<

MBA degree in Business Management, 
Georgetown University.

Director of General Reserve Asset Department at 
the Kuwait Investment Authority (KIA), which she 
joined in 2018. Ms. Huda AlMousa also serves on 
the Board of Directors at Kuwait Credit Bank since 
2019. She previously was on the board of directors 
at Kuwait Airways (2018-2020). She also serves as 
a Committee Member in the State of Kuwait Debt 
Management Committee and various other State 
level committees, Ms. Al Mousa joined the Board of 
Bank ABC in 2021 and has more than 15 years of 
experience in banking, asset management, 
and finance.

Mr. Abdallah Al Humaidhi
Director
RC RemCo GC ‡ §

MS, American University of Beirut.

Vice Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, 
Commercial Facilities Company, Kuwait; a Director 
of the Board of First National Bank S.A.L., Lebanon. 
Mr. Al Humaidhi is also a Member of the Board and 
honourary Treasurer of the Kuwait Chamber of 
Commerce & Industry and a Director of the Board 
of ABC International Bank plc, UK and a Member of 
the Board of Directors of Investcorp and chairman 
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of the Audit and Risk Committee. Member of the 
Board of Directors of the Kuwait Red Crescent 
and Honorary Treasurer. Previously he served 
as Member of the Board and the Executive 
Committee of Kuwait Investment Authority. He 
has been a Director of Arab Banking Corporation 
B.S.C. since 2001 and has more than 40 years of 
experience in the banking and investment sectors.

Dr. Ibrahim El Danfour
Director
AC RC RemCo CC ‡ §

PhD in Accounting, Glasgow Caledonian University, 
Glasgow, The United Kingdom.

Chief Executive Officer of the Libyan African 
Investment Company (LAICO), Chairman of BSIC 
Gambian Bank, Gambia, Director of Libya for 
Investment Company, Egypt, Member of European 
Accounting Association (No. 95844), founding 
member of the Libyan Accountants Association, 
collaborator at Academic of Postgraduate Studies, 
Misurata, Libya. Previously Dr. El Danfour was 
the Chairman of Ensemble Hotel Holdings, South 
Africa, Chairman of LAICO Hotels & Resorts 
Management Company, Liechtenstein, Director 
of Waha Bank, Libya. Dr. El Danfour held various 
key positions in academia as well as the public 
and private sectors, mainly in accounting, financial 
management, corporate transformation and 
ERP systems, giving him more than 20 years of 
hands on experience in these domains, for which 
he has a number of publications and is an active 
participator in related high profile events 
and conferences.

Dr. Tarik Yousef
Director
AC GC CC ‡ >|<

PhD in Economics, Harvard University, USA.

Director of the Middle East Council on Global 
Affairs since 2022. Member of the Board of 
Directors of the Central Bank of Libya since 2012. 
Former Senior Fellow in the Global Economy & 
Development Program at the Brookings Institution 

between 2006 and 2020. Dr. Yousef worked at 
Georgetown University in Washington DC between 
1998 and 2006 as Professor of Economics in 
the Edmund Walsh School of Foreign Service 
and Sheikh Al-Sabah Chair of Arab Studies at 
the Centre for Contemporary Arab Studies. His 
policy experience includes working as Economist 
in the Middle East and African Departments of 
the International Monetary Fund, Visiting Senior 
Economist in the Office of the Chief Economist 
of the Middle East and North Africa Region of 
the World Bank between 2002 and 2005 and 
Senior Advisor for the Millennium Project at the 
UN between 2004 - 2005. Dr. Yousef joined the 
Board of Bank ABC in 2015. He has 20 years of 
experience in the finance and business fields.

Mr. Ashraf Mukhtar 
Director 
‡ >|<

MSC Master of International Accounting 
from Malaysia.

Director of banking operations department, 
previously deputy of director of banking 
operations department, worked as a member of 
inspection team at the department of banking 
and monetary supervision, appointed in a 
managing position for ALRAHILA petroleum 
company, previous member of LCs foreign 
currency payment committee and deputy head of 
documents for collection committee, has 13 years 
of banking experience. 

Mr. Khalil Nooruddin
Director
AC RC CC ‡ §  

Bachelor of Science in Systems Engineering from 
King Fahad University of Petroleum and Minerals, 
Dhahran, Kingdom of Saudi Arabia; Master of Science 
in Quantitative Methods and Finance from Leonard 
N. Stern School of Business, New York University, 
New York, U.S.A; Chartered Financial Analyst from 
CFA Institute, Charlottesville, Virginia, U.S.A.
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AC	 Member of the Audit Committee 
GC	 Member of the Corporate Governance Committee 
RemCo	 Member of the Remuneration Committee 
RC	 Member of the Risk Committee
CC	 Member of the Compliance Committee
‡	 Non-Executive 
§	 Independent 
>|<	 Non-independent
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Mr. Nooruddin is a senior banker, with over 40 
years’ experience gained through serving local 
and international financial firms both at executive 
and board levels. Currently, he is the Managing 
Partner of Capital Knowledge, a management and 
financial consulting firm. Over the past twelve 
years, Mr. Nooruddin concluded several consulting 
and restructuring assignments for financial 
institutions, working on strategy formulation 
and implementation. Prior to this, Mr. Nooruddin 
was a member of the Management Committee 
of Investcorp Bank, Bahrain; Vice President UBS 
Asset Management in London and Zurich; Vice 
President Chase Manhattan Bank in Bahrain; and 
Operations Research Analyst, Bahrain Petroleum 
Company, Bahrain. He currently serves on the 
board of RA Holdings, formed under authorization 
of a US bankruptcy court to oversee the 
liquidation of Arcapita Investment Bank, 
Bahrain. Previously he served on the boards 
of Gulf International Bank, Bank Al Khair, 
Ithmaar Investment Bank, Bahrain Islamic Bank, 
Takaful Insurance Company and Bahrain 
Financing Company.

Dr. Khaled Kawan
Director
GC RemCo ‡ § 

PhD (Doctorat D’Etat) in Banking Laws, University 
of Paris (Sorbonne), France.

Dr. Kawan has held various executive level 
positions at Bank ABC from 1991 until his 
retirement in 2022. He served as the Group Legal 
Counsel until December 2009, when he was 
appointed Deputy Group Chief Executive Officer. 
Subsequently, Dr. Kawan was elevated to Group 
Chief Executive Officer of Bank ABC in October 
2013. He currently holds a number of Board offices 
within the Bank ABC Group, including Chairman 
of the Boards of ABC International Bank plc, Arab 
Banking Corporation SA and Banco ABC Brasil. He 
has more than 30 years of banking experience.
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